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Item 1.  Financial Statements 
 
                          ASBURY AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC. 
 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                  (dollars in thousands, except for share data) 
 
 
 
 
                                                                        September 30,      December 31, 
                  ASSETS                                                    2002              2001 
                                                                                          (unaudited) 
                                                                                       
CURRENT ASSETS: 
    Cash and cash equivalents                                            $    51,640        $   60,506 
    Contracts-in-transit                                                      80,603            93,044 
    Current portion of restricted marketable securities                        1,499             1,410 
    Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $2,297 and $2,375)               94,472            81,347 
    Inventories                                                              498,445           496,054 
    Deferred income taxes                                                     11,740              - 
    Prepaid and other current assets                                          26,234            25,253 
                 Total current assets                                        764,633           757,614 
 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net                                                  273,350           256,402 
 
GOODWILL, net                                                                399,198           392,856 
 
RESTRICTED MARKETABLE SECURITIES                                               4,892             6,807 
 
OTHER ASSETS                                                                  61,800            51,334 
 
                 Total assets                                             $1,503,873        $1,465,013 
 
                LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'/MEMBERS' EQUITY 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
    Floor plan notes payable                                              $  426,754        $  451,375 
    Short-term debt                                                           10,167            10,000 
    Current maturities of long-term debt                                      43,264            35,789 
    Accounts payable                                                          40,460            33,573 
    Deferred income taxes                                                      -                 3,876 
    Accrued liabilities                                                       88,441            75,384 
           Total current liabilities                                         609,086           609,997 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT                                                               414,011           492,548 
 
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES                                                        30,370              1,370 
 
OTHER LIABILITIES                                                            19,467             13,191 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
STOCKHOLDERS'/MEMBERS' EQUITY: 
    Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized            -                    - 
    Common stock, $.01 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized, 
       34,000,000 issued and outstanding                                        340               - 
    Additional paid-in capital                                              413,607               - 
    Contributed capital                                                      -                305,363 
    Retained earnings                                                        17,146            40,888 
    Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                              (154)            1,656 
           Total stockholders'/members' equity                              430,939           347,907 
           Total liabilities and stockholders'/members' equity           $1,503,873        $1,465,013 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                          ASBURY AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC. 
 
                        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
                  (dollars in thousands, except per share data) 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                               For the Three Months Ended    For the Nine Months Ended 
                                                                      September 30,                September 30, 
                                                                   2002           2001          2002           2001 
                                                                                                
REVENUES: 
   New vehicle                                                $  729,289     $   639,890     $2,027,580    $1,829,167 
   Used vehicle                                                  320,447         285,629        910,904       836,805 
   Parts, service and collision repair                           130,310         122,414        379,669       354,625 
   Finance and insurance, net                                     34,051          28,676         89,427        76,995 
     Total revenues                                            1,214,127       1,076,609      3,407,580     3,097,592 
 
cost of sales: 
   New vehicle                                                   671,788         586,763      1,861,655     1,680,608 
   Used vehicle                                                  292,796         260,234        829,003       763,117 
   Parts, service and collision repair                            62,447          59,794        180,223       171,871 
     Total cost of sales                                       1,027,031         906,791      2,870,881     2,615,596 
GROSS PROFIT                                                     187,096         169,818        536,699       481,996 
 
OPERATING EXPENSES: 
   Selling, general and administrative                           142,595         128,182        411,144       366,443 
   Depreciation and amortization                                   5,732           7,869         17,498        22,492 
     Income from operations                                       38,769          33,767        108,057        93,061 
 
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): 
   Floor plan interest expense                                    (4,399)         (6,013)       (13,155)      (22,121) 
   Other interest expense                                        (10,104)        (10,602)       (28,838)      (34,031) 
   Interest income                                                   283             443            945         2,208 
   Net losses from unconsolidated affiliates                      -                -               (100)       (1,000) 
   Other income (expense), net                                       182             412           (155)        1,257 
     Total other expense, net                                    (14,038)        (15,760)       (41,303)      (53,687) 
     Income before income taxes, minority interest, 
       discontinued operations and extraordinary loss             24,731          18,007         66,754        39,374 
 
INCOME TAX PROVISIONS: 
   Income tax expense                                              9,843           1,437         21,183         4,184 
   Tax adjustment upon conversion from an L.L.C. to a 
      corporation                                                  -               -             11,553 
 
MINORITY INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY EARNINGS                           -                 328            -             829 
     Income before discontinued operations and extraordinary      14,888          16,242         34,018        34,361 
     loss 
 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS                                            (244)             (54)        (1,432)          930 
 
EXTRAORDINARY LOSS ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT                 -               -              -            (1,433) 
     Net income                                               $   14,644     $    16,188         32,586     $  33,858 
 
PRO FORMA TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE: 
   Pro forma income tax expense                                                                   5,299 
   Tax adjustment upon conversion from an L.L.C. to a 
      corporation                                                                               (11,553) 
     Tax effected pro forma net income                                                       $   38,840 
 
EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
   Basic                                                          $.43                            $.99 
   Diluted                                                        $.43                            $.99 
TAX EFFECTED PRO FORMA EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
   Basic                                                                                         $1.18 
   Diluted                                                                                       $1.18 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING (in thousands): 
   Basic                                                          34,000                         32,813 
   Diluted                                                        34,001                         32,834 
 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 



 
 
 
                          ASBURY AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC. 
 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                             (dollars in thousands) 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                               For the Nine Months Ended 
                                                                                                     September 30, 
                                                                                                  2002           2001 
                                                                                                          
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
    Net income                                                                                 $  32,586       $  33,858 
    Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities- 
       Depreciation and amortization                                                              17,498          22,492 
       Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of related taxes                             345             - 
       Deferred income taxes                                                                      14,754          - 
       Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt                                          -               1,433 
       Losses from unconsolidated affiliates                                                         100           1,000 
       Amortization of deferred financing fees                                                     3,212           2,654 
    Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from 
      acquisitions and divestiture of assets- 
       Contracts-in-transit                                                                       12,441          (4,242) 
       Accounts receivable, net                                                                  (25,809)        (18,170) 
       Proceeds from the sale of accounts receivable                                              12,597          13,218 
       Inventories                                                                                14,030         121,241 
       Floor plan notes payable                                                                  (30,823)       (102,607) 
       Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                   14,895           5,165 
       Other                                                                                       4,055          (2,584) 
             Net cash provided by operating activities                                            69,881          73,458 
 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
    Capital expenditures                                                                         (38,102)        (38,751) 
    Proceeds from the sale of assets                                                               1,380           2,073 
    Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations                                                  4,838           - 
    Acquisitions (net of cash acquired)                                                          (14,588)        (40,991) 
    Equity investments                                                                             -              (1,200) 
    Proceeds from restricted marketable securities                                                 1,826           1,225 
    Net issuance of finance contracts                                                               (276)         (3,183) 
    Other investing activities                                                                      (752)           - 
             Net cash used in investing activities                                               (45,674)        (80,827) 
 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
    Distributions to members                                                                     (11,680)        (17,371) 
    Repurchase of members' equity                                                                 -               (3,713) 
    Contributions from members                                                                       800             - 
    Repayments of debt                                                                          (352,362)       (339,908) 
    Proceeds from borrowings                                                                     272,629         386,994 
    Proceeds from initial public offering, net                                                    65,415          - 
    Payment of debt issuance costs                                                                (7,875)        (12,530) 
             Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities                                 (33,073)         13,472 
             Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                 (8,866)          6,103 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period                                                    60,506          47,241 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period                                                       $  51,640       $  53,344 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 
     Cash paid for- 
         Interest (net of amounts capitalized)                                                 $  32,639       $  56,659 
         Income taxes                                                                          $  15,534       $   3,250 
 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                          ASBURY AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC. 
 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                    (dollars in thousands, except share data) 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
 
Basis of Presentation: 
 
The consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2002, the consolidated 
statements of income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 
30, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, are unaudited. In the 
opinion of management, all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods were 
made. Certain items in the September 30, 2001 financial statements were 
reclassified to conform to the classification of the September 30, 2002 
financial statements. Due to seasonality and other factors, the results of 
operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results 
that will be realized for the entire year. 
 
Certain information and footnote disclosures, normally included in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
were omitted. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 
for the year ended December 31, 2001 which are included in the Company's Form 
S-4 filing for its Senior Subordinated Notes issuance. 
 
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements- 
 
In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 145, "Rescission of 
FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and 
Technical Correction." This Statement eliminates extraordinary accounting 
treatment for reporting gain or loss on debt extinguishment, and amends other 
existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections. The 
provisions of this Statement are effective for the Company with the beginning of 
fiscal year 2003. Upon adoption of this statement, the Company will reclassify 
to recurring operations, debt extinguishments reported as extraordinary items in 
prior periods ($1,433 for the nine months ended September 30, 2001). 
 
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated 
with Exit or Disposal Activities." This Statement requires recording costs 
associated with exit or disposal activities at their fair values when a 
liability has been incurred. Under previous guidance, certain exit costs were 
accrued upon management's commitment to an exit plan. The Company does not 
anticipate that the ultimate adoption of this Statement will have a material 
impact on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
2. INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING: 
 
On March 14, 2002, the Company completed an initial public offering ("IPO") of 
4,500,000 shares of its common shares at a price of $16.50 per share. The IPO 
proceeds received, net of underwriting discount and expenses, were $62.5 
million. Pursuant to the terms of the Company's $550 million Committed Credit 
Facility, 80% of the net IPO proceeds were used to repay debt under this 
facility. The remaining net proceeds will be used for working capital, future 
platform or dealership acquisitions and general corporate purposes. 
 
Upon the closing of the IPO on March 19, 2002, Asbury Automotive Group L.L.C. 
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. Membership 
interests in the limited liability company were exchanged for 29,500,000 shares 
of common stock in the new corporation on the basis of 295,000 shares of common 
stock for each 1% membership interest. 
 
3. INVENTORIES: 
 
Inventories consisted of the following: 
 
                                      September 30, 2002      December 31, 2001 
 
New vehicles                              $365,595                 $381,011 
Used vehicles                               92,628                   74,885 
Parts, accessories and other                40,222                   40,158 
                                          $498,445                 $496,054 
 
Effective March 19, 2002, the Company changed its method of valuing certain 
inventories which were on the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") cost method to the 
specific identification and the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") cost method. The 
Company believes that the specific identification and FIFO methods of inventory 



valuation provide a more meaningful presentation of its financial position since 
these methods reflect a better matching of revenue and expense and most clearly 
reflect periodic income. 
 
The effect of the change in accounting principle was to decrease net income for 
the year ended December 31, 2001 by $355. The change has been applied to prior 
years through restating the financial statements presented for 2001. The effect 
of the change was to increase members' equity as of December 31, 2001, by 
$4,356. 
 
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the 
weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings 
per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average common 
shares and common share equivalents outstanding during the period. 
 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per 
share: 
 
                                            For the Three 
                                            Months Ended        For the Nine 
                                            September 30,       Months Ended 
                                                2002         September 30, 2002 
 
Net income applicable to common shares: 
   Continuing operations                       $14,888             $34,018 
   Discontinued operations                        (244)             (1,432) 
 
                                               $14,644             $32,586 
 
Earnings per share: 
   Basic- 
      Continuing operations                      $.44               $1.04 
      Discontinued operations                    (.01)               (.05) 
                                                 $.43               $ .99 
 
   Diluted- 
      Continuing operations                      $.44               $1.04 
      Discontinued operations                    (.01)              (.05) 
                                                 $.43               $ .99 
 
 
Common shares and common share equivalents: 
 
    Weighted-average shares outstanding         34,000               32,813 
 
    Basic shares                                34,000               32,813 
    Shares issuable with respect to additional 
      common share equivalents (stock options)       1                   21 
 
    Diluted equivalent shares                   34,001               32,834 
 
5.  INCOME TAXES: 
 
Effective March 19, 2002, the Company converted to a corporation and is now 
subject to federal, state and local income taxes. In connection with the IPO and 
in accordance with SFAS No. 109 "Accounting for Income Taxes," the Company 
recorded a one-time, non-recurring charge of $11,553 for deferred taxes upon the 
exchange of the limited liability company interest in Asbury Automotive Group 
L.L.C. for the Company's stock. This charge relates to a net deferred tax 
liability associated with the difference between the financial statement and tax 
basis of the assets and liabilities of the Company at the conversion date. Prior 
to the conversion to a corporation, Asbury Automotive Group L.L.C. was comprised 
primarily of limited liability companies and partnerships (with Asbury 
Automotive Group L.L.C. as the parent), which were treated as one partnership 
for tax purposes. In addition, Asbury Automotive Group L.L.C. had nine 
subsidiaries that were already corporations and followed the provisions of SFAS 
No. 109. The tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 relates 
to income from continuing operations of the Company's preexisting corporations 
(noted above) for the nine months ended September 30, 2002, and income from 
continuing operations for the remainder of the Company's subsidiaries for the 
period from March 19, 2002 through September 30, 2002. 
 
The tax effects of these temporary differences representing deferred tax assets 
(liabilities) result principally from the following as of September 30, 2002: 
 
Reserves and accruals not deductible until paid                        $ 12,077 
Goodwill amortization                                                   (17,167) 
Depreciation                                                            (11,980) 
Other                                                                    (1,560) 
Net deferred tax liability                                             ($18,630) 
 
 
The net deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following: 
 
Deferred tax assets: 
   Current                                                             $ 16,133 
   Long term                                                                 39 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
   Current                                                               (4,393) 



   Long term                                                            (30,409) 
Net deferred tax liability                                             ($18,630) 
 
 
The following reconciles the statutory corporate federal income tax rate for the 
period from March 19, 2002 through September 30, 2002: 
 
Statutory federal income tax rate                                         35.0% 
State income tax, net of federal tax effect                                4.0 
Other, net                                                                 0.8 
Effective tax rate                                                        39.8% 
 
 
6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL: 
 
On June 30, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangibles." 
SFAS No. 142 eliminates goodwill amortization over its estimated useful life. 
However, goodwill will be subject to at least an annual assessment for 
impairment by applying a fair-value based test. Additionally, acquired 
intangible assets should be separately recognized if the benefit of the 
intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if 
the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, 
regardless of the acquirer's intent to do so. Intangible assets with definitive 
lives will need to be amortized over their useful lives. The statement requires 
that by June 30, 2002, a company must establish its fair value benchmarks in 
order to test for impairment. The Company adopted this statement effective 
January 1, 2002. Such adoption did not result in an impairment of goodwill, 
based on the fair value based test; however, changes in the facts and 
circumstances relating to the Company's goodwill and other intangible assets 
could result in an impairment of intangible assets in the future. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Intangible assets consist of the following (included in other assets on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets): 
 
                                                 As of September 30, 2002 
                                                              Accumulated 
                                                  Cost        Amortization 
 
Amortizable intangible assets- 
    Noncompete agreements                       $   5,331        ($3,294) 
    Licensing agreements                            1,750           (833) 
    Lease agreements (amortization 
      is included in rent expense)                  6,527          (3,700) 
                                                  $13,608         ($7,827) 
 
Unamortizable intangible assets- 
      Franchise rights                           $  6,500 
 
Amortization expense- 
      For the three months ended September 30, 2002              $    635 
 
      For the nine months ended September 30, 2002               $  1,674 
 
  Estimated amortization expense- For the years ended December 31: 
        2003                                                     $  1,689 
        2004                                                          849 
        2005                                                          462 
        2006                                                          443 
        2007                                                          409 
 
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the period ended September 
30, 2002 are as follows: 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2001                                  $392,856 
 
   Additions                                                        8,119 
 
   Goodwill associated with discontinued operations                (1,777) 
 
Balance as of September 30, 2002                                 $399,198 
 
Goodwill amortization expense for the three- and nine-month periods ended 
September 30, 2001 was $2,474 and $7,516, respectively. Income before income 
taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and extraordinary loss would 
have been $20,481 and $46,890 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 
2001, respectively, if goodwill was not amortized in 2001. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
7. STOCKHOLDERS'/MEMBERS' EQUITY: 
 
 
 
                                                                                                Accumulated 
                                                       Additional                                  Other 
                                             Common      Paid-in    Contributed   Retained     Comprehensive 
                                              Stock      Capital      Capital     Earnings     Income (Loss)      Total 
                                                                                              
Balance, December 31, 2001                 $    --     $    --      $ 305,363     $  40,888      $   1,656      $ 347,907 
  Contributions                                 --          --            800          --             --              800 
  Distributions                                 --          --        (11,680)         --             --          (11,680)
  Net income                                    --          --          --          32,586           --           32,586 
  Change in fair value of interest rate 
    swaps, net of $103 tax effect               --          --           --            --           (1,810)        (1,810)
  Stock and stock option compensation           --           593         --            --             --              593 
  Proceeds from initial public offering, 
    net                                           45      62,498         --            --             --           62,543 
  Reclassification of members' 
    equity due to the exchange of 
    membership interests for shares 
    of common stock                              295     350,516     (294,483)      (56,328)          --             -- 
 
 
Balance, September 30, 2002                $     340   $ 413,607     $   --       $  17,146      ($    154)     $ 430,939 
 
 
 
8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: 
 
During the second quarter of 2002, the Company cancelled its three interest rate 
swap agreements with a financial institution having a combined notional 
principal of $300 million. The swap agreements had been designated and qualified 
as cash flow hedges of the Company's forecasted variable interest rate payments. 
Upon cancellation of the swaps, the Company realized a $202 loss, net of tax 
benefit, in other comprehensive income (loss) which will be reclassified to 
earnings as interest expense, over the original term of the related 
indebtedness, through November 2003. 
 
9. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: 
 
 
 
                                           Three Months Ended          Nine Months Ended 
                                              September 30,              September 30, 
                                           2002          2001          2002          2001 
 
                                                                   
Net income                                $ 14,644    $ 16,188    $ 32,586    $ 33,858 
 
Other comprehensive income: 
   Change in fair value of interest 
     rate swaps                               --          --        (1,985)       -- 
   Income tax benefit                         --          --           127        -- 
                                              --          --        (1,858)       -- 
   Reclassification adjustment of loss 
     on interest rate swaps included in 
     net income                                 54        --            72        -- 
   Income tax benefit                          (17)       --           (24)       -- 
                                                37        --            48        -- 
Comprehensive income                      $ 14,681    $ 16,188    $ 30,776    $ 33,858 
 
 
 
10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: 
 
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 
121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets 
to be Disposed of" and the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations - 
Reporting the Effects of the Disposal of a Segment Business and Extraordinary, 
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions." SFAS No. 144 
establishes a single accounting model for assets to be disposed of by sale 
whether previously held and used or newly acquired. SFAS No. 144 retains the 
provisions of APB No. 30 for presentation of discontinued operations in the 
income statement, but broadens its application to include a component of an 
entity which has separately identifiable cash flows. During the first nine 
months of 2002, the Company divested four dealerships, one each in Oregon and 
North Carolina and two in Mississippi. Additionally, two dealerships were held 
for sale, one each in Georgia and Mississippi. As a result of adopting this 
statement, the results of these operations are accounted for as discontinued 
operations in the consolidated statements of income. A summary of statement of 
income information relating to the discontinued operations is as follows: 
 
         Statement of Income: 
 



 
                                                For the Three Months      For the Nine Months 
                                               ----------------------  ------------------------ 
                                                  Ended September 30,      Ended September 30, 
                                                  2002          2001      2002          2001 
 
                                                                           
Revenues                                          $ 11,835    $ 30,105    $ 41,264    $ 96,561 
Cost of sales                                       10,304      25,780      35,460      82,376 
Gross profit                                         1,531       4,325       5,804      14,185 
Operating expenses                                   1,868       4,116       6,813      12,287 
Income (loss) from operations                         (337)        209      (1,009)      1,898 
Other, net                                              93        (263)        (78)       (968) 
Net income (loss)                                     (244)        (54)     (1,087)        930 
Loss on disposition of discontinued o 
   perations, net of related taxes                    --          --          (345)       -- 
Discontinued operations                            $  (244)   $    (54)   $ (1,432)    $   930 
 
 
 
The following is a summary of net assets held for sale as of September 30, 2002: 
 
Assets: 
    Inventory                                            $  3,937 
    Property and equipment                                  4,334 
    Goodwill                                                2,325 
         Total assets                                      10,596 
 
Liabilities: 
    Floor plan notes payable                                3,145 
         Total liabilities                                  3,145 
Net assets                                               $  7,451 
 
 
11. LONG-TERM DEBT: 
 
On June 5, 2002, the Company issued 9% Senior Subordinated Notes in the 
aggregate principle amount of $250,000, receiving net proceeds of $242,125. The 
costs related to the issuance of the notes were capitalized and are amortized to 
interest expense over the term of the notes. The net proceeds from the notes 
issuance were utilized to repay certain indebtedness under the Company's 
Committed Credit Facility. The Company will pay interest on the notes on June 15 
and December 15 of each year. The first such payment will be made on December 
15, 2002. The notes will mature on June 15, 2012. At any time on or after June 
15, 2007, the Company may, at its option, choose to redeem all or a portion of 
the notes at the redemption prices set forth in the note indenture. On or before 
June 15, 2005, the Company may, at its option, use the net proceeds of one or 
more equity offerings to redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the notes at the redemption price set forth in this offering circular. At any 
time before June 15, 2007, the Company may, at its own option, choose to redeem 
all or a portion of the notes at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount 
plus the make-whole premium set forth in the note indenture. 
 
The notes are guaranteed by substantially all of the Company's current 
subsidiaries and will be guaranteed by all of Asbury's future domestic 
restricted subsidiaries that have outstanding indebtedness, incur or guarantee 
any other indebtedness. The notes and the subsidiary guarantees rank behind all 
of the Company's and the subsidiary guarantors' current and future indebtedness, 
other than trade payables, except any future indebtedness that expressly 
provides that it ranks equally with, or is subordinated in right of payment to, 
the notes and subsidiary guarantees. The notes rank equally with all of the 
Company's and the subsidiary guarantors' future senior subordinated 
indebtedness. The notes are effectively subordinated to all debt of the 
Company's subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Item 2.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations 
 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited 
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 1 of this 
report as well as our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
("SEC"). 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Three Months Ended September 30, 2002, Compared to Three Months Ended 
September 30, 2001 
 
Net income from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 
2002 was $14.9 million or $0.44 cents per share basic and diluted. These results 
include a loss of $2.3 million or $0.04 cents per diluted share from the 
Company's Price One pilot program. The Price One pilot program currently 
consists of four stores in Houston, Texas that sell used vehicles on facilities 
located on Wal-Mart parking lots. The evaluation of operating and financial 
success of the pilot is ongoing. In addition, the results mentioned above 
include a $1.0 million pre tax charge or $0.02 cents per diluted share charge 
for auditing services, for a reaudit of prior years as required when a company's 
predecessor auditor has ceased operations as discussed below. Excluding the 
items mentioned above, net income from continuing operations before income taxes 
and minority interest for the period was up 37.2% from the same period last year 
after adjusting for the elimination of goodwill amortization. This increase was 
mainly driven by volume increases in new vehicle retail units, higher per 
vehicle gross margins on used retail vehicles, the continued strong performance 
of both parts, service and collision repair ("fixed operations") and finance and 
insurance lines of business, as well as lower inventory carrying costs as 
interest rates continue to remain low. Tax effected net income amounts have not 
been provided for the prior period, as the Company believes that such amounts 
are not meaningful due to changes in the Company's tax status. 
 
         Revenues- 
 
 
(dollars in thousands, except for unit and per 
vehicle data)                                For the Three Months Ended  $ Increase      % 
                                                 9/30/02     9/30/01     (Decrease)   Change 
 
                                                                              
New Vehicle Data: 
   Retail revenues - same store (1)              $693,986   $632,917      61,069         10% 
   Retail revenues - acquisitions                  24,476       -- 
   Retail revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)          --        1,921 
         Total new retail revenues                718,462    634,838      83,624         13% 
 
   Fleet revenues - same store (1)                 10,096      5,052 
   Fleet revenues - acquisitions                      731       -- 
         Total new fleet revenues                  10,827      5,052 
         New vehicle revenue, as reported        $729,289   $639,890      89,399         14% 
 
   Retail units - same store (1)                   26,207     24,606       1,601          7% 
   Retail units - actual                           27,040     24,702       2,338          9% 
 
 
 
 
= 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
(dollars in thousands, except for unit and per 
vehicle data)                                       For the Three Months Ended     $ Increase       % 
                                                     9/30/02         9/30/01        (Decrease)    Change 
                                                                                             
Used Vehicle Data: 
   Retail revenues - same store (1)                $ 224,719   $  225,177              (458)             0% 
   Retail revenues - acquisitions                     18,783         -- 
   Retail revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)              --            411 
         Total used retail revenues                  243,502      225,588            17,914              8% 
 
   Wholesale revenues - same store (1)                69,282       59,903             9,379             16% 
   Wholesale revenues - acquisitions                   7,693         -- 
   Wholesale revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)           --            138 
         Total used retail revenues                   76,975       60,041            16,934             28% 
         Used vehicle revenue, as reported         $ 320,477   $  285,629            34,848             12% 
 
 
   Retail units - same store (1)                      14,674       15,491              (817)            (5%) 
   Retail units - actual                              15,923       15,527               396              3% 
 
 Parts, Service and Collision Repair: 
   Revenues - same store (1)                       $ 125,513   $  121,758             3,755              3% 
   Revenues - acquisitions                             4,797         -- 
   Revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)                     --            656 
         Parts, service and collision repair 
             revenue, as reported                 $  130,310      122,414             7,896              6% 
 
Finance and Insurance: 
   Revenues - same store (1)                      $   32,647    $  28,624             4,023             14% 
   Revenues - acquisitions                             1,404         -- 
   Revenues - 2001 divestitures                         --             52 
         Finance and insurance revenue, 
             as reported                          $   34,051    $  28,676            5,375             19% 
 
   Profit per vehicle retailed - same store (1)   $      799    $     714               85             12% 
   Profit per vehicle retailed - actual           $      793    $      713              80             11% 
 
Total Revenues: 
   Same store                                     $1,156,243   $1,073,431           82,812              8% 
   Acquisitions                                       57,884         -- 
   2001 divestitures                                    --          3,178 
         Total revenues, as reported              $1,214,127   $1,076,609          137,518             13% 
 
 
 (1)Same store amounts include the results of dealerships for the identical 
     months for each period presented in the comparison, commencing with the 
     first full month in which dealership was owned by the Company. 
 (2)The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal year 2001 are 
     included in the "as reported" numbers for 2001 for the period through the 
     date of disposal. The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal 
     year 2002 are accounted for under SFAS No. 144 as "discontinued operations" 
     and accordingly are not included in 2001 or 2002 sales or gross profit 
     amounts for "same store" or "as reported." 
 
 
Revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2002 were $1,214.1 million 
representing an increase of $137.5 million, or 13%, over the same period last 
year. Acquisitions net of 2001 divestitures accounted for $54.7 million of this 
increase, with the remainder made up by the Company's strong same store 
performance, up 8% over the prior year's quarter. New vehicle retail revenues 
remained solid, up 10% on a same store basis, as manufacturer incentives 
continued to drive demand. Used vehicle retail revenues were flat on a same 
store basis, as the relatively large volume of new vehicle incentives continued 
to attract higher-end used car buyers. Fixed operations revenues were up 3% on a 
same store basis, primarily resulting from successful customer retention and new 
service product offerings. Finance and insurance revenues were up 14%, on a same 
store basis principally due to the continued focus on menu selling, the maturing 
of the Company's preferred product provider programs and the introduction of new 
products. 
 
         Gross Profit- 
 
 
 
(dollars in thousands, except for unit and per 
vehicle data)                                        For the Three Months Ended     $ Increase       % 
                                                       9/30/02         9/30/01       (Decrease)    Change 
                                                                                      
New Vehicle Data: 
   Retail gross profit - same store (1)              $ 55,164   $  52,491        2,673            5% 
   Retail gross profit - acquisitions                   1,963         -- 
   Retail gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)           --            138 
         Total new retail gross profit                 57,127       52,629        4,498            9% 
 



   Fleet gross profit - same store (1)                    373          498 
   Fleet gross profit - acquisitions                        1         -- 
         Total new fleet gross profit                     374          498 
         New vehicle gross profit, as reported      $  57,501    $  53,127        4,374            8% 
 
   Retail units - same store (1)                       26,207       24,606        1,601            7% 
   Retail units - actual                               27,040       24,702        2,338            9% 
 
Used Vehicle Data: 
 
   Retail gross profit - same store (1)             $  27,929  $  26,316        1,613            6% 
 
   Retail gross profit - acquisitions                   1,871         -- 
   Retail gross profit - 2001 divestitures               --             52 
         Total used retail gross profit                29,800       26,368        3,432           13% 
 
   Wholesale gross profit - same store (1)             (1,756)        (955)        (801)         (84%) 
   Wholesale gross profit - acquisitions                 (363)        -- 
   Wholesale gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)        --            (18) 
         Total used wholesale gross profit             (2,119)        (973)      (1,146)        (118%) 
         Used vehicle gross profit, as reported     $  27,681    $  25,395        2,286            9% 
 
   Retail units - same store (1)                       14,674       15,491         (817)          (5%) 
   Retail units - actual                               15,923       15,527          396            3% 
 
Parts, Service and Collision Repair: 
   Gross profit - same store (1)                    $  65,179    $  62,216        2,963            5% 
   Gross profit - acquisitions                          2,684         -- 
   Gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)                  --            404 
         Parts, service and collision repair 
             gross profit, as reported              $  67,863    $  62,620        5,243            8% 
 
Total Gross Profit (3): 
   Same store                                       $ 179,536    $ 169,190       10,346            6% 
   Acquisitions                                         7,560         -- 
   2001 divestitures                                     --            628 
         Total gross profit, as reported            $ 187,096    $ 169,818       17,278           10% 
 
 
 
(1)  Same store amounts include the results of dealerships for the identical 
     months for each period presented in the comparison, commencing with the 
     first full month in which dealership was owned by the Company. 
(2)  The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal year 2001 are 
     included in the "as reported" numbers for 2001 for the period through the 
     date of disposal. The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal 
     year 2002 are accounted for under SFAS No. 144 as "discontinued operations" 
     and accordingly are not included in 2001 or 2002 sales or gross profit 
     amounts for "same store" or "as reported." 
(3)  Gross profit amounts for finance and insurance have not been included above 
     because these amounts are recorded net (sales equals gross profit). 
 
Gross profit for the three months ended September 30, 2002 was $187.1 million, 
up $17.3, or 10%, over the same quarter last year. Acquisitions accounted for 
$7.6 million of the increase, with same store gross profit accounting for the 
majority of the increase, up 6% over the same period in 2001. The same store new 
vehicle retail gross profit increase of $2.7 million, or 5%, was virtually all 
volume driven, as the average margin per car retailed remained relatively flat. 
Used vehicle retail gross profit rose $1.6 million, or 6%, on a same store 
basis, even though related unit sales were down 5%. This increase was attributed 
to a mix shift to higher margin vehicles such as certified used, sport utility 
vehicles ("SUVs") and light trucks; however, almost half of this increase was 
offset by increased wholesale losses in the third quarter of 2002 that resulted 
from pricing pressure in the industry which forced used vehicle auction prices 
down. Fixed operations gross profit dollars were up 5% on a same store basis, 
resulting from the volume increase in the customer pay (non-warranty) business, 
as well as strong wholesale parts performance, and the introduction of new 
higher margin service products. 
 
         Selling, General and Administrative Expenses - 
 
Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002, increased $14.4 million or 11% over the quarter ended 
September 30, 2001. Contributing to this increase was increased variable 
compensation related to higher gross profit, increased insurance costs and 
expenses of $1.8 million related to the Price One used car pilot program. SG&A 
expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased 20 basis points to 11.7% in the 
third quarter of 2002 compared to the same quarter in 2001. 
 
Also included in SG&A is a charge of $1.0 million related to the reaudit of the 
Company's financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. 
In August 2002 the Auditing Standards Board ("ASB") issued a draft 
interpretation of Statement of Auditing Standards No. 79, to give guidance to 
auditors when opining on companies whose previously issued financial statements 
were audited by auditors whose firm has ceased operations. In this 
interpretation, the ASB details five conditions that would cause a company's 
previously issued financial statements to be re-audited. One of those conditions 
is the reporting of discontinued operations. As a result of this interpretation, 
the recent dissolution of the Company's former auditors, Arthur Andersen L.L.P., 
and the fact that the Company adopted SFAS 144, reporting discontinued 
operations in 2002, the Company has decided to engage our current auditors, 



Deloitte & Touche L.L.P., to re-audit fiscal years 2001 and 2000. 
 
         Depreciation and Amortization- 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $2.1 million for the three 
months ended September 30, 2002 as compared to the same quarter in 2001. The 
decrease is primarily the result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, which requires 
that goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles no longer be amortized. 
 
         Other Income (Expense)- 
 
Floor plan interest expense decreased to $4.4 million for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002 from $6.0 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2001. 
This decline was primarily due to lower interest rates in 2002 versus 2001. 
Other interest expense decreased by $0.5 million from the prior year, as lower 
borrowings on the Company's committed credit facility (see credit facilities in 
the Liquidity and Capital Resources Section) offset the incremental interest 
expense of the Company's recently issued senior subordinated debt. 
 
         Income Tax Provision- 
 
The Company's effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 
2002 was 39.8%, which is based on the estimated effective tax rate for the year. 
During the three months ended September 30, 2001, the Company was structured as 
a limited liability company and only provided a tax provision in accordance with 
SFAS No. 109 on the "C" corporations that it owned directly or indirectly during 
that period. 
 
         Discontinued Operations- 
 
The $0.2 million loss from discontinued operations in the third quarter this 
year resulted primarily from the net operating losses of two dealerships, which 
the Company expects to sell in the fourth quarter. 
 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002, Compared to Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 2001 
 
Tax effected pro forma net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 
was $38.8 million or $1.18 per share basic and diluted. These pro forma results 
(i) exclude a non-recurring charge of $11.6 million related to the establishment 
of a net deferred tax liability associated with the Company's conversion to a 
corporation and (ii) include a pro forma tax charge of $5.3 million as if the 
Company was a corporation for the entire period. Tax effected pro forma net 
income for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 excluding the after tax 
losses from the Price One pilot program of $3.3 million, the re-audit of the 
Company's prior year financial statements of $0.6 million and discontinued 
operations of $1.4 million, would have been $44.1 million, or $1.30 per share 
basic and diluted. Actual net income was $32.6 million, or $0.99 per share basic 
and diluted. 
 
Income before income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations and 
extraordinary loss totaled $66.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 
2002, up 42.4% over the same period last year, after adjusting for the 
elimination of goodwill amortization. The increase can be primarily attributed 
to higher unit volumes of new vehicles, increased selling prices on new and used 
vehicles, the continued strong performance of fixed operations and finance and 
insurance and the impact of lower interest rates on floor plan financing. Tax 
effected pro forma net income and per share amounts have not been provided for 
the prior year, as the Company believes that such comparisons with the current 
year would not be meaningful due to changes in its tax status. 
 
         Revenues- 
 
 
 
(dollars in thousands, except for unit and per 
vehicle data)                                   For the Nine Months Ended   $ Increase       % 
                                                 9/30/02         9/30/01     (Decrease)    Change 
                                                                                      
New Vehicle Data: 
    Retail revenues - same store (1)             $1,878,818   $1,795,948       82,870             5% 
    Retail revenues - acquisitions                  115,792         -- 
    Retail revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)            --          8,352 
         Total new retail revenues                1,994,610    1,804,300      190,310            11% 
 
    Fleet revenues - same store (1)                  23,717       24,867 
    Fleet revenues - acquisitions                     9,253         -- 
         Total new fleet revenues                    32,970       24,867 
         New vehicle revenues, as reported       $2,027,580   $1,829,167      198,413            11% 
 
    Retail units - same store (1)                    69,935       69,208          727             1% 
    Retail units - actual                            73,951       69,614        4,337             6% 
 
Used Vehicle Data: 
    Retail revenues - same store (1)              $  633,539  $  646,967      (13,428)           (2%) 
    Retail revenues - acquisitions                   63,418         -- 
    Retail revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)            --          3,100 
         Total used retail revenues                 696,957      650,067       46,890             7% 
 
    Wholesale revenues - same store (1)             194,732      185,931        8,801             5% 
    Wholesale revenues - acquisitions                19,215         -- 



    Wholesale revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)         --            807 
         Total used retail revenues                 213,947      186,738       27,209            15% 
 
         Used vehicle revenues, as reported         910,904      836,805       74,099             9% 
 
    Retail units - same store (1)                    41,769       44,141       (2,372)           (5%) 
    Retail units - actual                            45,899       44,357        1,542             3% 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                  For the Nine Months Ended   $ Increase       % 
                                                   9/30/02         9/30/01     (Decrease)    Change 
 
                                                                                   
Parts, Service and Collision Repair: 
    Revenues - same store (1)                      $  359,422   $  352,729        6,693        2% 
    Revenues - acquisitions                            20,247         -- 
    Revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)                     --          1,896 
         Parts, service and collision repair 
             revenues, as reported                 $  379,669   $  354,625       25,044         7% 
 
Finance and Insurance: 
    Revenues - same store (1)                      $   84,907   $   76,637        8,270        11% 
    Revenues - acquisitions                             4,520         -- 
    Revenues - 2001 divestitures (2)                     --            358 
 
         Finance and insurance, as reported            89,427       76,995       12,432        16% 
 
    Profit per vehicle retailed - Same Store (1)   $      760   $      676           84        12% 
    Profit per vehicle retailed - actual           $      746   $      676           70       10% 
 
 Total Revenues: 
    Same store                                     $3,175,135   $3,083,079       92,056        3% 
    Acquisitions                                      232,445         -- 
    2001 divestitures                                    --         14,513 
          Total revenues, as reported              $3,407,580   $3,097,592      309,988       10% 
 
 
 
(1)  Same store amounts include the results of dealerships for the identical 
     months for each period presented in the comparison, commencing with the 
     first full month in which dealership was owned by the Company. 
(2)  The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal year 2001 are 
     included in the "as reported" numbers for 2001 for the period through the 
     date of disposal. The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal 
     year 2002 are accounted for under SFAS No. 144 as "discontinued operations" 
     and accordingly are not included in 2001 or 2002 sales or gross profit 
     amounts for "same store" or "as reported." 
 
Revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 increased $310.0 million, 
or 10%, over the same period last year, to $3,407.6 million. Same store revenue 
growth accounted for $92.1 million of the increase with the remainder made up 
from acquisitions, net of 2001 divestitures. New vehicle retail revenues 
continued to be strong, up 5% on a same store basis driven mainly on a by a 
shift to higher priced vehicles such as SUVs, light trucks and minivans and to a 
lesser extent the impact of manufacturer incentives on demand. Used vehicle 
retail units were down 5% on a same store basis, as the relatively large volume 
of new vehicle incentives continued to attract higher-end used car buyers; 
however, the Company was able to partially make up for the unit decrease by 
shifting its mix to higher priced certified used vehicles, light trucks and 
SUVs, resulting in only a 2% decline in same store used retail revenues period 
over period. Fixed operations revenues were up 2% on a same store basis, 
primarily resulting from successful customer retention and new service product 
offerings. Finance and insurance revenues were up 11% on a same store basis, 
principally due to the continued focus on menu selling, the maturing of the 
Company's preferred product provider programs and the introduction of new 
products. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
         Gross Profit- 
 
 
 
(dollars in thousands, except for unit and per      Year-to-Date     Year-to-Date    $ Increase 
vehicle data)                                          9/30/02         9/30/01       (Decrease)   % Change 
                                                                                           
New Vehicle Data: 
    Retail gross profit - same store (1)             $ 155,320       $ 146,341        8,979            6% 
    Retail gross profit - acquisitions                   9,611            -- 
    Retail gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)           --               528 
         Total new retail gross profit                 164,931         146,869       18,062           12% 
 
    Fleet gross profit - same store (1)                    788           1,690 
    Fleet gross profit - acquisitions                      206            -- 
         Total fleet gross profit                          994           1,690 
         New vehicle gross profit, as reported       $ 165,925       $ 148,559       17,366           12% 
 
    Retail units - same store (1)                       69,935          69,208          727            1% 
    Retail units - actual                               73,951          69,614        4,337            6% 
 
Used Vehicle Data: 
    Retail gross profit - same store (1)             $  77,733       $  75,536        2,197            3% 
    Retail gross profit - acquisitions                   6,594            -- 
    Retail gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)           --            329 
         Total used retail gross profit                 84,327          75,865        8,462           11% 
 
    Wholesale gross profit - same store (1)             (1,787)         (2,075) 
    Wholesale gross profit - acquisitions                 (639)           -- 
    Wholesale gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)        --              (102) 
         Total used retail gross profit                 (2,426)         (2,177) 
         Used vehicle gross profit, as reported      $  81,901        $  73,688        8,213           11% 
 
    Retail units - same store (1)                       41,769          44,141       (2,372)          (5%) 
    Retail units - actual                               45,899          44,357        1,542            3% 
 
Parts, Service and Collision Repair: 
    Gross profit - same store (1)                    $ 186,710       $ 181,916        4,794            3% 
    Gross profit - acquisitions                         12,736            -- 
    Gross profit - 2001 divestitures (2)                  --               838 
         Parts, service and collision repair 
             gross profit, as reported               $ 199,446       $ 182,754       16,692            9% 
 
Total Gross Profit (3): 
    Same store                                       $ 503,671       $ 480,045       23,626            5% 
    Acquisitions                                        33,028            -- 
    2001 divestitures                                     --             1,951 
         Total gross profit, as reported             $ 536,699       $ 481,996       54,703           11% 
 
 
 
(1)  Same store amounts include the results of dealerships for the identical 
     months for each period presented in the comparison, commencing with the 
     first full month in which dealership was owned by the Company. 
(2)  The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal year 2001 are 
     included in the "as reported" numbers for 2001 for the period through the 
     date of disposal. The results of operations of divestitures made in fiscal 
     year 2002 are accounted for under SFAS No. 144 as "discontinued operations" 
     and accordingly are not included in 2001 or 2002 sales or gross profit 
     amounts for "same store" or "as reported." 
(3)  Gross profit amounts for finance and insurance have not been included above 
     because these amounts are recorded net (sales equals gross profit). 
 
Gross profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 was $536.7 million, up 
$54.7, or 11%, over the same period last year. Same store gross profit growth 
accounted for $23.6 million of the increase, with the remainder made up from 
acquisitions, net of 2001 divestitures. Same store new vehicle retail gross 
profit increased $9.0 million, or 6%, for the nine months as compared to the 
same period last year. The increase was primarily driven by a shift to higher 
priced SUVs, light trucks and minivans, as same store retail units only grew 1% 
period over period. Used vehicle retail gross profit rose 3% on a same store 
basis, even though related unit sales were down 5%. This increase was attributed 
to a mix shift to higher margin vehicles such as certified used vehicles, sport 
utility vehicles and light trucks. Fixed operations gross profit dollars were up 
3% on a same store basis, resulting from the volume increase in the customer pay 
business, as well as strong wholesale parts performance, and the introduction of 
new higher margin service products. 
 
         Selling, General and Administrative Expenses - 
 
Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2002 increased $44.7 million, or 12%, over the nine months ended 
September 30, 2001. Contributing to this increase was increased variable 
compensation related to higher gross profit, increased insurance costs, expenses 
of $4.0 million related to the Price One used car pilot program and the $1.0 
million charge for the reaudit of the Company's prior year financial statements. 
As a result, SG&A expenses as a percentage of revenues increased 30 basis points 



to 12.1% for the nine months ended September 31, 2002, compared to the same 
period in 2001. 
 
         Depreciation and Amortization- 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $5.0 million for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2002, as compared to the same period in 2001. The decrease 
is primarily the result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, which requires that 
goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles no longer be amortized, offset by 
$1.3 million of incremented depreciation and amortization for the Price One 
pilot program. 
 
         Other Income (Expense)- 
 
Floor plan interest expense decreased to $13.2 million for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2002 compared with $22.1 million for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2001. This decline was primarily due to lower interest rates in 
2002 versus 2001. Other interest expense decreased by $5.2 million from the 
prior nine month period, as lower borrowings on the Company's committed credit 
facility resulting from the use of proceeds from the Company's initial public 
offering in March and the implementation of a consolidated cash management 
system in the third quarter of 2002, offset the incremental interest expense of 
the Company's recently issued senior subordinated debt. Interest income was down 
$1.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002, as compared to the 
nine-month period last year, as the result of lower interest rates during 2002. 
Net losses from unconsolidated affiliates for the nine months ended September 
30, 2001, were related to the Company's share of losses in a finance company. 
The $0.1 million loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 represents 
the write-off of the remaining investment in that finance company. Other income 
(expense) for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 reflected a charge of 
$0.6 million related to certain non-operating expenses associated with the IPO, 
while the first nine months of 2001 included a gain on an interest rate swap 
transaction of $0.4 million. 
 
         Income Tax Provision- 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2002, the Company recorded, in 
accordance with SFAS No. 109, a one-time non-recurring charge of $11.6 million 
related to the establishment of a net deferred tax liability, in connection with 
the Company's conversion from a limited liability company to a corporation. This 
liability represented the difference between the financial statement and tax 
basis of the assets and liabilities of the Company at the conversion date. The 
Company's pro forma tax rate for the first nine months of 2002, approximately 
39.8%, is based on the estimated effective tax rate for the year. During the 
nine months ended September 30, 2001, the Company was a limited liability 
company and only provided a tax provision in accordance with SFAS No. 109 on the 
"C" corporations that it owned directly or indirectly during that period. 
 
         Discontinued Operations- 
 
The $1.4 million loss from discontinued operations for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2002 reflects the combined net operating losses of dealerships 
sold or to be sold in 2002 plus the $0.3 million net loss on disposal of 
dealerships sold in 2002. 
 
         Extraordinary Loss on the Early Extinguishment of Debt - 
 
In connection with the repayment of certain term notes with the proceeds from 
borrowings under the committed credit facility, the Company incurred prepayment 
penalties and wrote-off the unamortized portion of deferred finance fees, 
aggregating $1.4 million, in the first quarter of 2001. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company requires cash to fund working capital needs, finance acquisitions of 
new dealerships and fund capital expenditures. These requirements are met 
principally from cash flow from operations, borrowings under the Committed 
Credit Facility and the Floor Plan Lines (as defined below), and mortgage notes. 
As of September 30, 2002, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $51.6 
million. 
 
         Credit Facilities- 
 
The Company has a three-year committed financing agreement (the "Committed 
Credit Facility") with total availability of $550 million. Earlier this year, 
the Company extended the maturity of the Committed Credit Facility to January 
2005. The Committed Credit Facility is primarily used to finance acquisitions. 
Borrowings under the Committed Credit Facility bear interest at variable rates 
based on LIBOR plus a specified percentage depending on the attainment of 
certain leverage ratios and the outstanding balance. As of September 30, 2002, 
approximately $481.7 million remained available to the Company for additional 
borrowings under the Committed Credit Facility. 
 
During the third quarter of 2002, the Company obtained lender consent for a Cash 
Management Sublimit of $75 million under its Committed Credit Facility. The Cash 
Management Sublimit allows the Company to repay up to $75 million of Committed 
Credit Facility outstanding, using cash that has been centrally collected by the 
Company's new cash management. The net amount repaid under the Cash Management 
Sublimit is available to be borrowed by the Company on short-term notice for 
general corporate purposes. As of September 30, 2002, the Company had $35.0 
million available for borrowings under its Cash Management Sublimit. 



 
         Floor Plan Financing- 
 
The Company has uncommitted floor plan financing lines of credit for new and 
used vehicles (the "Floor Plan Lines"). The Floor Plan Lines do not have 
specified maturities and bear interest at variable rates based on LIBOR or the 
prime rate with total availability of $750 million. As of September 30, 2002, 
the Company had $426.8 million outstanding under its floor plan financing 
agreements. 
 
         Cash Management System- 
 
The Company is in the process of implementing a consolidated cash management 
system to sweep cash from its dealership locations on a daily basis. In the 
third quarter of 2002, the Company swept $30 million of cash from its 
dealerships which was used to make repayments on the Committed Credit Facility. 
Implementation of the consolidated cash management system continues, with 
further concentration and use of cash for future debt reductions anticipated. 
 
         Cash Flow- 
 
Operating Activities: 
Cash flow from operations totaled $69.9 million for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2002, as net income plus non-cash items of $68.4 million, 
decreases in inventories and contracts-in-transit of a combined $26.5 million 
and increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other of $19.0 
million, offset an increase in net accounts receivable (driven primarily by 
increases in our wholesale parts business) of $13.2 million and a decrease in 
floor plan notes payable of $30.8 million. 
 
Cash from operations totaled $73.5 million for the nine months ended September 
30, 2001, as net income plus non-cash items of $61.4 million, decreases in 
inventories and contracts-in transit of a combined $117.0 million and increases 
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other of $2.6 million offset an 
increase in net accounts receivable of $5.0 million and a decrease in floor plan 
notes payable of $102.6 million. 
 
Investing Activities: 
Net cash flow used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 
30, 2002 was $45.7 million, as spending for capital expenditures of $38.1 
million and the acquisition of three dealerships for $14.6 million were offset 
by proceeds from the dispositions of three franchises for $4.8 million and other 
investing activities. 
 
Net cash flow used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 
30, 2001 was $80.8 million, as spending for capital expenditures of $38.8 
million, the acquisition of six dealerships for $41.0 million and equity 
investment of $1.2 million were offset by proceeds from other investing 
activities. 
 
Financing Activities: 
Net cash flow used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 
30, 2002 was $33.1 million, as net proceeds from the Company's initial public 
offering and the subordinated debt refinancing of $338.0 million, were offset by 
a net reduction in borrowings of $352.4 million, distributions to members and 
payment of debt issuance costs related to the subordinated debt refinancing. 
 
Net cash flow from financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 
2001 was $13.5 million, as net proceeds from borrowings, including the 
refinancing of the Company's Committed Credit Facility of $387.0 million, were 
offset by a net reduction in borrowings of $339.9 million, distributions to 
members, payment of debt issuance costs related to Committed Credit Facility 
refinancing and the repurchase of members' interest. 
 
         Capital Expenditures- 
 
Capital spending for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 was $38.1 
million and $38.8 million, respectively. Capital spending other than from 
acquisitions is expected to be approximately $60 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2002, and will be primarily related to operational improvements and 
manufacturer-required spending to upgrade existing dealership facilities. 
 
         Acquisitions and Acquisition Financing- 
 
In the first nine months of 2002, the Company closed the acquisitions of three 
dealerships (three franchises) for an aggregate purchase price of $14.7 million, 
all funded through borrowings under the Company's Committed Credit Facility. 
Subsequent to September 30, 2002, the Company closed the acquisition of one 
dealership for $2.9 million, all of which was funded through borrowings under 
its Committed Credit Facility. 
 
In addition, the Company has signed a purchase agreement to acquire Bob Baker 
Auto Group ("Baker") of San Diego, California, a dealer group consisting of six 
dealerships and ten franchises, for $89.5 million, including anticipated 
transactions costs. The Company expects to fund the transaction through 
borrowing $73.3 million under its Committed Credit Facility, with the remaining 
portion of the purchase price to be funded using shares of its common stock, 
either through the issuance of additional shares or through shares repurchased 
on the open market as described in the Stock Repurchase section below. 
 
If the Company were to deliver the repurchased shares in conjunction with the 



Baker acquisition, those shares would be subject to the same lock-up provisions 
as the shares issued to the Company's platform principals described in the 
Company's registration statement on Form S-1, declared effective March 13, 2002 
(the "Lock-up"). Such Lock-up is in effect until March 13, 2004. 
 
The Baker acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions, including 
approval from various automobile manufacturers. The Company is in the process of 
seeking the required manufacturer consents, although there is no assurance that 
every manufacturer will consent to the Baker acquisition. If a manufacturer 
refuses to provide its consent, it could lead to an alteration in the structure 
of the Baker acquisition or prevent it from being consummated altogether. 
 
         Stock Repurchase- 
 
The Company's board of directors has authorized the repurchase of up to $15 
million of its common stock. Pursuant to the Company's senior subordinated debt 
indenture, the Company is permitted to repurchase shares under the following 
restrictions: (i) up to $15 million under a "Restricted Payments" building 
basket plus (ii) up to $2 million per fiscal year under the Company's "Stock 
Repurchase" basket. The Restricted Payments building basket equals the greater 
of $15 million, or 50% of the Company's consolidated net income beginning April 
1, 2002 (less the cumulative amount of any Restricted Payments since the bonds' 
inception). From September 30, 2002 to November 8, 2002 the Company repurchased 
234,424 shares for approximately $2.2 million. 
 
         Recent Accounting Pronouncements- 
 
In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 145, "Rescission of 
FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and 
Technical Correction." This Statement eliminates extraordinary accounting 
treatment for reporting gain or loss on debt extinguishment, and amends other 
existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections. The 
provisions of this Statement are effective for the Company with the beginning of 
fiscal year 2003. Upon adoption of this statement, the Company will reclassify 
to recurring operations debt extinguishments reported as extraordinary items in 
prior periods ($1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2001). 
 
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated 
with Exit or Disposal Activities." This Statement requires recording costs 
associated with exit or disposal activities at their fair values when a 
liability has been incurred. Under previous guidance, certain exit costs were 
accrued upon management's commitment to an exit plan. Adoption of this Statement 
is required with the beginning of fiscal year 2003. The Company does not 
anticipate that the ultimate adoption of this statement will have a material 
impact on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
 
INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates on a 
significant portion of its outstanding indebtedness. Given amounts outstanding 
at September 30, 2002, a 100 basis-point change in variable interest rates would 
result in a change of approximately $2.0 million to our annual non-floor plan 
interest expense. Based on floor plan amounts outstanding at September 30, 2002, 
a 100 basis-point change in variable interest rates would result in a $4.3 
million change to annual floor plan interest expense. 
 
INTEREST RATE SWAPS 
 
During the second quarter of 2002 and in connection with its subordinated debt 
refinancing, the Company terminated three swap agreements, having a combined 
total notional principal amount of $300 million, all maturing in November 2003. 
In connection with these terminations, the Company incurred a $0.2 million loss, 
which is being amortized to interest expense over the remainder of the original 
agreement (see Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
 
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures 
 
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
As of the date (the "Evaluation Date") within 90 days prior to the date of this 
report, the Company conducted an evaluation (under the supervision and with the 
participation of the Company's management, including the chief executive officer 
and chief financial officer), pursuant to Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") of the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls 
and procedures. Based on this evaluation, the Company's chief executive officer 
and chief financial officer concluded that as of the Evaluation Date: such 
disclosure controls and procedures were reasonably designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports it files or 
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 
 
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
Since the Evaluation Date (last evaluation by the Company's management of the 
Company's internal controls), there have not been any significant changes in the 
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect the 



internal controls. 
 
                                      . . . 
                           Forward Looking Information 
 
This report contains "forward-looking statements" as that term is defined in the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements 
include statements relating to goals, plans and pending acquisitions projections 
regarding the Company's financial position, results of operations, market 
position, product development and business strategy. These statements are based 
on management's current expectations and involve significant risks and 
uncertainties that may cause results to differ materially from those set forth 
in the statements. These risks and uncertainties include, among other things, 
market factors, the Company's relationships with vehicle manufacturers and other 
suppliers, risks associated with the Company's substantial indebtedness, risks 
related to pending and potential future acquisitions, general economic 
conditions both nationally and locally and governmental regulations and 
legislation. There can be no guarantees the Company's plans for future 
operations will be successfully implemented or that they will prove to be 
commercially successful. These and other risk factors are discussed in the 
Company's registration statements on Form S-1 declared effective on March 13, 
2002 and Form S-4 declared effective on July 22, 2002. We undertake no 
obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise. 
 
 



 
 
 
                           PART II - OTHER INFORMAITON 
 
 
 
 
Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
a.   Exhibits 
 
     10 - Stock Purchase Agreement by and Among Bob Baker Enterprises, Inc. 
     and its Affiliate Corporations, Their Shareholders and Asbury Automotive 
     Group, Inc. (August 28, 2002) 
 
     99.1 - Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
     pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Executive 
     Officer) 
 
     99.2 - Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
     pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Financial 
     Officer) 
 
b.   Reports on Form 8-K 
 
     Report filed August 29, 2002, under Item 5, related to issuance of a press 
     release announcing the Company entered into an agreement to acquire all the 
     companies which comprise the Bob Baker Auto Group of San Diego, California. 
 
     Report furnished September 13, 2002, under Item 9, related to the issuance 
     of selected financial data for the Bob Baker Auto Group of San Diego, 
     California for the last twelve months ended May 31, 2002. 
 
     Report furnished October 31, 2002, under Item 9, related to the issuance of 
     two press releases announcing earnings for the third quarter ending 
     September 30, 2002, and the Board of Directors' authorization to purchase 
     up to $15 million of the Company's outstanding common shares. 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                                   SIGNATURES 
 
 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 
 
                              Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. 
                              ------------------------------------------------- 
                              Registrant) 
 
 
 
 
Date:  November 13, 2002      /s/ Thomas F. Gilman 
                              ------------------------------------------------- 
                              Thomas F. Gilman 
                              Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
               RULE 13a-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
 
I, Kenneth B. Gilman, certify that: 
 
1.    I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Asbury Automotive 
      Group, Inc.; 
 
2.    Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue 
      statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
      make the statements made, in light of circumstances under which such 
      statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
      this quarterly report; 
 
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
      information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all 
      material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
      flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
      quarterly report; 
 
4.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
      establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
      defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we 
      have: 
 
          (a)  Designed such  disclosure  controls and procedures to ensure that 
               material  information  relating to the registrant,  including its 
               consolidated  subsidiaries,  is made known to us by others within 
               those  entities,  particularly  during  the  period in which this 
               quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
          (b)  Evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant's   disclosure 
               controls and  procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the 
               filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
          (c)  Presented  in this  quarterly  report our  conclusions  about the 
               effectiveness of the disclosure  controls and procedures based on 
               our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
      our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
      committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing 
      the equivalent function): 
 
          (a)  All  significant  deficiencies  in the  design  or  operation  of 
               internal  controls which could adversely  affect the registrant's 
               ability to record,  process,  summarize and report financial data 
               and have  identified for the  registrant's  auditors any material 
               weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
          (b)  Any fraud,  whether or not material,  that involves management or 
               other employees who have a significant  role in the  registrant's 
               internal controls; and 
 
6.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this 
      quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal 
      controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal 
      controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including 
      any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and 
      material weaknesses. 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Kenneth B. Gilman 
- ----------------------------------------------------- 
Kenneth B. Gilman1 
Chief Executive Officer 
November 13, 2002 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
               RULE 13a-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
 
I, Thomas F. Gilman, certify that: 
 
1.    I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Asbury Automotive 
      Group, Inc.; 
 
2.    Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue 
      statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
      make the statements made, in light of circumstances under which such 
      statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
      this quarterly report; 
 
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
      information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all 
      material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
      flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
      quarterly report; 
 
4.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
      establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
      defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we 
      have: 
 
          (a)  Designed such  disclosure  controls and procedures to ensure that 
               material  information  relating to the registrant,  including its 
               consolidated  subsidiaries,  is made known to us by others within 
               those  entities,  particularly  during  the  period in which this 
               quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
          (b)  Evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant's   disclosure 
               controls and  procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the 
               filing date of this quarterly report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
 
          (c)  Presented  in this  quarterly  report our  conclusions  about the 
               effectiveness of the disclosure  controls and procedures based on 
               our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 
 
5.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
      our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
      committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing 
      the equivalent function): 
 
          (a)  All  significant  deficiencies  in the  design  or  operation  of 
               internal  controls which could adversely  affect the registrant's 
               ability to record,  process,  summarize and report financial data 
               and have  identified for the  registrant's  auditors any material 
               weaknesses in internal controls; and 
 
          (b)  Any fraud,  whether or not material,  that involves management or 
               other employees who have a significant  role in the  registrant's 
               internal controls; and 
 
6.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this 
      quarterly report whether or not there were significant changes in internal 
      controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal 
      controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including 
      any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and 
      material weaknesses. 
 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Thomas F. Gilman 
Thomas F. Gilman 
Chief Financial Officer 
November 13, 2002 
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       Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Executive Officer) 
 
99.2   Certificate pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
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                                                                   Exhibit 99.1 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. (the 
"Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2002 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, 
Kenneth B. Gilman, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 
 
         (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
         (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company. 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Kenneth B. Gilman 
Kenneth B. Gilman 
Chief Executive Officer 
November 13, 2002 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                                                                   Exhibit 99.2 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. (the 
"Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2002 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, 
Thomas F. Gilman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: 
 
         (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
         (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company. 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Thomas F. Gilman 
Thomas F. Gilman 
Chief Financial Officer 
November 13, 2002 
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                                  BY AND AMONG 
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                            STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
         THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered 
into this 28th day of August 2002, by and among Asbury Automotive Group, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation ("Acquirer"), each company (other than Acquirer) listed on 
the signature pages to this Agreement (each a "Company" and collectively, the 
"Companies"), each of the Persons (other than Acquirer and the Companies) 
identified on the signature pages to this Agreement (each individually, a 
"Seller" and collectively, "Sellers"), being all of the shareholders of the 
Companies, and Sellers' Representative (as defined below). This Agreement is 
joined into by Robert H. Baker, Sherrill J. Baker, William H. Kornik, Sue A. 
Mark-Kornik, Daniel G. Giordano and Kathleen A. Giordano for the purposes set 
forth in Sections 6.9 and 11.4(b) (each a "Seller Trustee," and collectively the 
"Seller Trustees"). 
 
                                   Background 
 
         The Companies are engaged in the automobile dealership businesses and 
related operations as set forth opposite their names on Schedule 4.4 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter (collectively, and as more particularly defined in 
Section 11.12, the "Business"). Sellers own all of the issued and outstanding 
shares of capital stock of the Companies (as more particularly identified in 
Section 4.4 and the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, the "Shares"). 
 
         Acquirer desires to purchase from Sellers, and Sellers desire to sell 
to Acquirer, all of the Shares upon the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. Capitalized terms not defined in the body of this Agreement have the 
meaning set forth in Section 11.12. 
 
         The parties agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE I......... 
                           PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES 
 
Section 1.1.......Purchase and Sale of Shares. In reliance on the 
representations and warranties contained in, and subject to the terms and 
conditions of, this Agreement, Sellers shall, on the Closing Date, sell, assign, 
convey, transfer and deliver to Acquirer or such of its Affiliates that Acquirer 
designates ("Buyer"), and Buyer shall purchase and acquire from Sellers, all of 
the Shares. 
 
Section 1.2.......Purchase Price. As full consideration for the Shares and the 
restrictive covenants provided by Sellers in favor of Buyer pursuant to the 
Noncompetition Agreements referenced in Section 7.7, Buyer shall, at the 
Closing, deliver to Sellers the amount of $88 million (as further adjusted 
pursuant to this Agreement, the "Purchase Price") in cash and shares of 
Acquirer's common stock ("Acquirer Shares"), as follows: 
 
(a) Buyer shall pay, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, to an 
account ("Sellers' Account") designated by Sellers' Representative (which 
account shall be designated by Sellers' Representative in writing to Buyer at 
least four (4) business days prior to the Closing Date), an amount equal to 
$61.6 million, plus any cash payable by Buyer under Section 1.2(b), less the 
adjustments provided for in Section 2.2(a)(i) and (ii) (if any), less the 
Escrowed Cash (collectively, the "Closing Payment"). Sellers shall be solely 
responsible for distributing among themselves from the Sellers' Account their 
respective portion of the Closing Payment. 
 
(b) Buyer shall issue and deliver to each Seller stock certificate(s) 
representing such Seller's respective portion, as set forth on Exhibit B, of the 
aggregate number of Acquirer Shares (the "Stock Consideration"), less the 
portion of the Stock Consideration to be delivered into escrow as the Escrowed 
Acquirer Shares pursuant to subsection (c) below. The parties will determine the 
Stock Consideration by dividing $26,400,000 by an amount equal to the average 
closing price per share of Acquirer's common stock traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange and as quoted in the Wall Street Journal for the twenty (20) trading 
days immediately preceding execution of this Agreement and the twenty (20) 
trading days immediately following the execution of this Agreement (the 
"Acquirer Stock Price") which Acquirer Stock Price shall be appropriately 
adjusted for all adjustments made pursuant to Section 2.1. In no event will the 
Stock Consideration exceed 1,500,000 Acquirer Shares. If the Stock Consideration 
calculation results in an amount greater than 1,500,000 Acquirer Shares, Buyer 
shall deliver 1,500,000 Acquirer Shares (less the amount delivered to escrow) 
and also pay in cash, as an additional Closing Payment pursuant to subsection 
(a), the difference between: (A) the Acquirer Stock Price multiplied by 
1,500,000 and (B) $26,400,000. 
 
(c) At the Closing, Buyer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with an 
escrow agent mutually agreeable to Buyer and Sellers' Representative, to be held 
pursuant to the Pledge and Escrow Agreement attached as Exhibit A (the "Escrow 
Agreement"), the following consideration (collectively, the "Escrow Amount"): 
(i) cash of [Redacted] of any cash payable pursuant to Section 1.2(b) 
(collectively, the "Escrowed Cash"), and (ii) [Redacted] of the Stock 



Consideration (the "Escrowed Acquirer Shares"). The number of Escrowed Acquirer 
Shares will not be modified to reflect variations in the market price of the 
Acquirer Shares during the term of the Escrow Agreement. 
 
(d) As provided in the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Amount shall be applied 
toward any liability of the Sellers, as determined in accordance with this 
Agreement.  [Redacted] or any adjustment to the Purchase Price  pursuant to 
Section 2.2, as the case may be, and less the  amount set forth in any pending 
unresolved indemnification claim made in accordance with this Agreement and the 
Escrow Agreement), with the balance to be released [Redacted] (less the amount 
of any pending claims or prior indemnification made in accordance with this 
Agreement and the Escrow Agreement). The parties to this Agreement understand 
and agree to the terms of the  Escrow  Agreement which, when duly executed, 
shall be incorporated by reference as part of this Agreement. 
 
Section 1.3.......Stock Consideration. The Acquirer Shares to be issued pursuant 
to the terms of this Agreement will be registered in the name of the Sellers, 
bearing the appropriate legend referring to the fact that the Acquirer Shares 
were sold in reliance upon an exemption from registration under the Securities 
Act provided by Section 4(2) thereof and Rule 506 thereunder. 
 
Section 1.4.......Allocation of Purchase Price. The Purchase Price shall be 
allocated in accordance with Exhibit B which shall contain the allocation of the 
Purchase Price among the Companies and an allocation of Stock Consideration and 
the cash portion of the Purchase Price among the Sellers. Exhibit B will be 
delivered by the Sellers and agreed to by Buyer and Sellers on the date of 
execution of this Agreement by execution thereof. Sellers may seek to modify 
Exhibit B thereafter subject to the mutual agreement of Buyer and the execution 
of such modified Exhibit B by each of the parties hereto. 
 
ARTICLE II........ 
                          ADJUSTMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE; 
                             SELLERS' REPRESENTATIVE 
 
Section 2.1.......Adjustments Resulting from Stock Splits, Reclassification or 
other Acts of Acquirer. If, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing 
Date, the outstanding shares of Acquirer's common stock shall have been changed 
into a different number of shares or a different class by reason of any 
reclassification, recapitalization, split-up, stock split, combination, exchange 
of shares or similar readjustment involving a transaction in which existing 
outstanding Acquirer Shares are converted into a different number or kind of 
shares of capital stock, or a stock dividend thereon shall be declared with a 
record date prior to the Closing Date, the number of Acquirer Shares to be 
issued and delivered as part of the Stock Consideration in exchange for the 
Shares shall be appropriately adjusted; provided, however, that no adjustment to 
the Stock Consideration will be made with respect to an issuance of Acquirer 
Shares to a third party by Acquirer in connection with an acquisition, capital 
raising, or other transaction during the period indicated. 
 
Section 2.2.......Adjustment of Purchase Price Based on Net Book Value and 
Working Capital. 
 
               (a) Prior to the Closing Date,  the Sellers'  Representative  and 
               the  Buyer  shall,  in good  faith,  based  upon the most  recent 
               financial  information  available,   agree  in  writing  upon  an 
               estimate  of the  Closing  Net Book Value of the  Companies  on a 
               consolidated basis,  determined in accordance with Section 2.2(c) 
               (the  "Estimated  Net Book Value") and an estimate of the Working 
               Capital of the Companies on a consolidated  basis (the "Estimated 
               Working Capital") as of the close of business on the business day 
               immediately preceding the Closing Date. 
 
          (i)  If the  Estimated  Working  Capital is less than  Target  Working 
               Capital,  then the  Closing  Payment  shall be  decreased  by one 
               dollar for every dollar by which the Estimated Working Capital is 
               less  than  Target  Working  Capital.  The  amount  by which  the 
               Estimated Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital 
               is the "Estimated  Working  Capital  Shortfall."  "Target Working 
               Capital" [Redacted]. 
 
(ii)              If the Estimated Net Book Value is less than [Redacted] (the 
                  "Lower Threshold"), then the Closing Payment shall be 
                  decreased by one dollar for every dollar by which the sum of 
                  the Estimated Net Book Value and the Estimated Working Capital 
                  Shortfall is less than the Lower Threshold. The amount by 
                  which the Lower Threshold exceeds the sum of the Estimated Net 
                  Book Value and the Working Capital Shortfall is the "Estimated 
                  Net Book Value Shortfall." 
 
Any adjustments to the Closing Payment as contemplated by (i) and (ii) above 
shall also be deemed an adjustment to the Purchase Price. 
 
               (b) As  promptly  as  practicable,  but no later than ninety (90) 
               days after the Closing Date,  Buyer will cause to be prepared and 
               delivered to the Sellers'  Representative a closing balance sheet 
               as of the  close of  business  on the  business  day  immediately 
               preceding the Closing Date (the "Closing Balance  Sheet"),  and a 
               schedule which sets forth its  calculation of: (i) the excess (or 
               shortfall) of (1) the total tangible assets of the Companies over 
               (2) the  total  liabilities  of the  Companies  as of  such  date 
               ("Closing Net Book Value"), determined in accordance with Section 



               2.2(c),  and (ii) the Working  Capital as of such date  ("Closing 
               Working Capital").  This Closing Balance Sheet and schedule shall 
               be  accompanied  by a certificate  of Buyer showing the amount of 
               any Purchase Price  adjustment  based on the  relationship of the 
               Closing  Working Capital to the Target Working  Capital,  and the 
               Closing Net Book Value to the Lower Threshold resulting from such 
               calculations (the "Adjustment Certificate"). 
 
(c)               The Closing Balance Sheet, and the calculations of the 
                  Estimated Net Book Value, the Closing Net Book Value, the 
                  Estimated Working Capital and the Closing Working Capital 
                  (these calculations are collectively, the "Target 
                  Calculations"), shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP 
                  applied on a basis consistent with the application of such 
                  principles by the Companies in the preparation of the 
                  Financial Statements (as defined in Section 4.8) (provided 
                  that, to the extent, if any, that the Financial Statements 
                  were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, the Closing Balance 
                  Sheet and the Target Calculations shall be prepared in 
                  accordance with GAAP and not on a basis consistent with the 
                  Companies' past practices), except as set forth on the 
                  attached Schedule 2.2(c). When preparing the Closing Balance 
                  Sheet and determining the Target Calculations, the parties 
                  shall use the following methods to determine the value of the 
                  inventories of each Company. 
 
          (i)  The value of the New  Vehicles  shall  equal  the  Manufacturer's 
               invoice price for all New Vehicles in such Company's inventory as 
               of the Closing Date, reduced by any customer deposits,  holdback, 
               floor  plan  credits,  advertising  credits,  advertising  funds, 
               rebates or other  dealer  incentives  received  or to be received 
               related to such  vehicles  and, if the New Vehicles have not been 
               serviced,  the  amount  allowed  by the  Manufacturer  for dealer 
               preparation  and increased or  decreased,  as the case may be, by 
               additions (including, but not limited to, special striping, paint 
               sealant,  or the like  added by such  Company  at actual  cost or 
               deletions of the  accessories  or equipment at such Company's net 
               actual cost). 
 
          (ii) Parts and  Accessories  shall be  valued at the lower of  invoice 
               price  or  market  value,  in  either  case  net of any  credits, 
               allowances or rebates. 
 
          (iii)The value of Used  Vehicle  inventory  shall be the lower of cost 
               or market value  determined in accordance  with GAAP, with market 
               value being the wholesale value of such vehicle as established by 
               the most recent Kelley Blue Book (KBB) Guide - Western Edition or 
               the actual  selling  price of the vehicle if sold  subsequent  to 
               Closing but before the determination of Closing Net Book Value. 
 
          (iv) All other  inventories not otherwise covered by (i) - (iii) above 
               will be stated on a first-in, first-out ("FIFO") basis. 
 
          (v)  For purposes of determining the Target Calculations,  the parties 
               shall conduct an inventory of the Companies' assets at 10:00 a.m. 
               on the day before the Closing Date or another mutually acceptable 
               time.  Representatives  of Buyer and  Sellers  shall  meet at the 
               Dealerships that constitute the Business and conduct an inventory 
               of the assets that Buyer specifies. 
 
          (d) The  Adjustment  Certificate  will be conclusive  unless  Sellers' 
          Representative,  within thirty (30) days  following the receipt of the 
          Closing Date Balance Sheet and the  Adjustment  Certificate,  provides 
          Buyer with written notice that it disagrees  with Buyer's  calculation 
          of the  Closing  Net Book Value or a Target  Calculation.  If Sellers' 
          Representative timely disagrees with the Adjustment  Certificate,  the 
          parties  shall  first  attempt,  through  negotiation,  to resolve the 
          dispute  within thirty (30) days. If the parties are unable to resolve 
          such  dispute,  they shall  jointly  refer the  dispute to a certified 
          public  accounting  firm of national  standing  mutually  agreeable to 
          Buyer and  Sellers'  Representative  (the  "Independent  Accountant"), 
          which has indicated its ability to issue the report  described  herein 
          without first conducting an audit,  for a final binding  determination 
          of the final Purchase Price adjustment in accordance with the terms of 
          this Agreement.  If issues in dispute are submitted to the Independent 
          Accountant for resolution,  the Sellers'  Representative and the Buyer 
          shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Independent  Accountant, 
          such working papers and other  documents and  information  relating to 
          the  disputed  issues as the  Independent  Accountant  reasonably  may 
          request  and are  available  to that  party or its agents and shall be 
          afforded the opportunity to present to the Independent  Accountant any 
          material  relating  to the  disputed  issues and to discuss the issues 
          with the  Independent  Accountant.  The Independent  Accountant  shall 
          issue a report  resolving the dispute  within thirty (30) days,  after 
          such dispute is referred,  which report will be final and binding upon 
          the parties in the absence of clear and manifest error. This provision 
          for dispute resolution shall,  notwithstanding any other provision set 
          forth in this  Agreement,  be  specifically  enforceable  by Buyer and 
          Sellers'   Representatives.   Buyer  on  the  one  hand  and  Sellers' 
          Representative on the other shall each pay one-half of the Independent 
          Accountant's fees and expenses. 



 
               (e)  The  following   reconciliations   to  the  Closing  Payment 
               concerning  the  Target  Calculations  shall be made based on the 
               Adjustment  Certificate,  and the payments made by the respective 
               party: 
 
          (i)  If the Actual  Working  Capital  Shortfall  is  greater  than the 
               Estimated Working Capital Shortfall,  the Sellers' Representative 
               shall,  within two (2) business days after delivery of the agreed 
               upon or  binding  Adjustment  Certificate,  deliver to Buyer that 
               amount in cash. If the Actual Working  Capital  Shortfall is less 
               than the Estimated Working Capital Shortfall, Buyer shall, within 
               two (2)  business  days  after  delivery  of the  agreed  upon or 
               binding    Adjustment    Certificate,    deliver   to    Sellers' 
               Representative  that  amount  in cash.  "Actual  Working  Capital 
               Shortfall"  means the amount by which the sum of Closing  Working 
               Capital is less than the Target Working Capital. 
 
          (ii) If the  Actual  Net Book  Value  Shortfall  is  greater  than any 
               Estimated Net Book Value Shortfall,  the Sellers'  Representative 
               shall,  within two (2) business days after delivery of the agreed 
               upon or  binding  Adjustment  Certificate,  deliver to Buyer that 
               amount in cash.  If the Actual Net Book Value  Shortfall  is less 
               than any Estimated Net Book Value Shortfall,  Buyer shall, within 
               two (2)  business  days  after  delivery  of the  agreed  upon or 
               binding    Adjustment    Certificate,    deliver   to    Sellers' 
               Representative  that  amount  in cash.  "Actual  Net  Book  Value 
               Shortfall" ---------------------------------- means the amount by 
               which  the sum of the  Closing  Net  Book  Value  and the  Actual 
               Working Capital Shortfall is less than the Lower Threshold. 
 
(iii)             If Closing Net Book Value is different from the Estimated Net 
                  Book Value, then there shall be a resulting adjustment of the 
                  Purchase Price which shall be payable to the party that 
                  overpaid its portion of the Retention Bonus within 2 business 
                  days after delivery of the agreed upon or binding Adjustment 
                  Certificate. 
 
Section 2.3.......Sellers' Representative. Sellers hereby irrevocably make, 
constitute and appoint Robert H. Baker (the "Sellers' Representative") as their 
true and lawful attorney-in-fact, and representative with full power and 
authority to take any action of any type whatsoever in connection with the 
Contemplated Transactions which, in the opinion of the Sellers' Representative, 
may be of benefit to, in the best interest of or legally required of Sellers. 
Sellers each acknowledge and agree that (a) the documents executed by the 
Sellers' Representative may be of benefit to, in the best interest of, or 
legally required of, Sellers and (b) the documents executed by the Sellers' 
Representative on behalf of each Seller pursuant to the power of attorney 
granted hereby shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions 
as the Sellers' Representative may approve in his sole discretion. Sellers 
hereby irrevocably grant to the Sellers' Representative full power and authority 
to do and perform every act and thing whatsoever required, necessary and proper 
to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and powers hereby granted, as 
fully and for all intents and purposes as Sellers could do if personally 
present, with full power of substitution or revocation. Each Seller hereby 
ratifies and confirms all acts that the Sellers' Representative, or his 
substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done in Seller's name by virtue 
of this power of attorney and the rights and powers herein granted. Sellers 
acknowledge and agree that, as between Sellers and Buyer, all actions taken or 
consented to by the Sellers' Representative hereunder shall be final, 
irrevocable and binding upon each of the Sellers. In the event of the death or 
incapacity of Robert H. Baker, Sellers hereby appoint Michael V. Baker as the 
Sellers' Representative hereunder. 
 
ARTICLE III....... 
 



 
 
 
 
                           CLOSING, CLOSING DELIVERIES 
 
Section 3.1.......Time; Place. The closing of the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at the San Diego, California 
office of Luce, Forward, Hamilton & Scripps, LLP, at 10:00 a.m., local time, on 
the date ten (10) business days after all conditions in Articles VII and VIII 
have been satisfied or waived, or on such other date as may be mutually agreed 
to by the Sellers' Representative and Buyer (the "Closing Date"). The transfers 
and deliveries described in Article III shall be mutually interdependent and 
shall be regarded as occurring simultaneously and, notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Agreement, no such transfer or deliveries provided for shall 
be deemed to have occurred until all of the other transfers and deliveries 
provided for in Article III shall also have occurred. Such transfers and 
deliveries shall be deemed to have occurred and the Closing shall be deemed 
effective as of 12:01 a.m. Pacific Time on the Closing Date. 
 
Section 3.2.......Sellers' and Companies' Closing Deliveries. At the Closing, 
Sellers and the Companies shall deliver to Buyer the following: 
 
(a) Stock certificate(s) representing all of the issued and outstanding Shares, 
together with separate stock transfer powers (in form and substance acceptable 
to Buyer's counsel) duly executed by each Seller for the transfer of the Shares 
to Buyer and all applicable stock transfer stamps affixed thereto or other 
appropriate evidence of payment of any applicable stock transfer tax or similar 
governmental charges. 
 
(b) A certificate signed by a duly authorized officer of each Company, dated as 
of the Closing Date, confirming (i) that all agreements and covenants of such 
Company required to have been performed or complied with have been performed or 
complied with; and (ii) that all necessary actions, corporate or otherwise, have 
been taken by such Company to authorize the consummation of the Contemplated 
Transactions. 
 
(c) Certificates signed by each Seller, dated as of the Closing Date, 
confirming: (i) the truth and accuracy, giving effect to the exceptions set 
forth in the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, of all the representations and 
warranties of each Seller set forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents 
as of the date of this Agreement (giving effect to Sellers' Disclosure Letter, 
but without giving effect to any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters) and 
as of the Closing Date (giving effect to Sellers' Disclosure Letter and any 
Supplemental Disclosure Letters); (ii) that all agreements and covenants of each 
Company and each Seller required to be performed or complied with have been 
performed or complied with; and (iii) that all necessary actions have been taken 
by each Company and each Seller to authorize the consummation of the 
Contemplated Transactions. 
 
(d) A certified copy of each Company's Articles of Incorporation, with all 
amendments thereto, and a good standing or similar certificate for each Company, 
in each case issued by the Secretary of State of such Company's jurisdiction of 
organization. 
 
(e) A copy of each Company's Bylaws, with all amendments thereto, certified as 
being true, complete and accurate as of the Closing Date by such Company's 
Secretary. 
 
(f) Resolutions or their equivalent evidencing each Company's authority to (i) 
execute and deliver this Agreement and the Purchase Documents, and (ii) to 
consummate the Contemplated Transactions, certified by such Company's Secretary 
as being in full force and effect. 
 
(g) An incumbency certificate signed by each Company's Secretary certifying the 
accuracy of the specimen signature of each authorized representative of such 
Company executing this Agreement and the Purchase Documents. 
 
(h) The executed written resignation, in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, 
of each director and officer of each of the Companies set forth in Schedule 4.6 
of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter to become effective on the Closing Date. 
 
(i) The Employment Agreements referenced in Section 7.6 signed by each employee 
contemplated in that section. 
 
(j) The Noncompetition Agreements referenced in Section 7.7 signed by each 
Seller. 
 
(k) The tax certificates set forth in Section 7.13. 
 
(l) The Escrow Agreement signed by each Seller. 
 
(m) The Shareholder Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit C to this 
Agreement. 
 
(n) The written legal opinion of Sellers' counsel, addressed to Buyer and its 
institutional lender dated as of the Closing Date in substantially the form 
attached as Exhibit D. 
 
(o) The new leases with respect to the Leased Real Property to be entered into 



between Buyer and Sellers' Affiliates contemplated in Section 7.9 signed by the 
respective landlords thereto, and the assignment of leases or subleases signed 
by Sellers' Affiliates (along with the consent of the landlords, in form and 
substance acceptable to Buyer, to such assignment or sublease) contemplated in 
that same section. 
 
(p) Any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters. 
 
(q) Such other documents or instruments as Buyer or its counsel shall reasonably 
request for their effort in the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 3.3.......Buyer's Closing Deliveries. At the Closing, Buyer shall 
deliver or cause to be delivered to Sellers the following: 
 
(a) The Closing Payment payable in accordance with the terms of Section 1.2. 
 
(b) The Stock Consideration. 
 
(c) A certificate signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer, dated as of the 
Closing Date, confirming: (i) the truth and accuracy, giving effect to the 
exceptions set forth in Buyer's Disclosure Letter of all the representations and 
warranties of Buyer set forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents as of 
the date of this Agreement (giving effect to Buyer's Disclosure Letter, but 
without giving effect to any Buyer's Supplemental Disclosure Letter) and as of 
the Closing Date (giving effect to Buyer's Disclosure Letter and any Buyer's 
Supplemental Disclosure Letter); (ii) that all agreements and covenants of Buyer 
and Acquirer required to have been performed or complied with have been 
performed or complied with; and (iii) that all necessary corporate actions or 
other actions have been taken by Buyer, as applicable, to authorize the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
(d) A good standing or similar certificate for Buyer issued by the Buyer's 
jurisdiction of organization. 
 
(e)      The  Employment  Agreements  referenced  in Section 7.6 signed by 
Buyer or its  Affiliate (as the case may 
                                                     ----------- 
be). 
 
(f) The Noncompetition Agreements referenced in Section 7.7 signed by Buyer. 
 
(g) The Escrow Agreement signed by Buyer. 
 
(h) The written legal opinion of Buyer's counsel, addressed to Sellers, dated as 
of the Closing Date and of a form and content reasonably acceptable to Sellers' 
Representative and Sellers' counsel. 
 
(i) Such other documents or instruments as Sellers' Representative or his 
counsel shall reasonably request for their effort in the consummation of the 
Contemplated Transactions. 
 
(j) Any Buyer's Supplemental Disclosure Letters. 
 
ARTICLE IV........ 
                    REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS 
 
         As a material inducement to Buyer's execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, Sellers, 
jointly and severally, (subject to the provisions of Section 9.6) make the 
following representations and warranties to Buyer: 
 
Section 4.1.......Organization and Good Standing. Each Company is a corporation 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
jurisdiction of its organization, and has full power and authority to own its 
properties and to carry on its business as presently conducted. Each Company is 
duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in all other jurisdictions 
where the conduct of its business so requires, except where the failure to be so 
qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Each Company has complied 
with all requirements of any statute governing the use and registration of 
fictitious names in the jurisdiction in which it operates and has the legal 
right to use the name or names under which it operates. Schedule 4.1 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete list of all jurisdictions in 
which each Company is qualified to do business as a foreign corporation. 
 
Section 4.2.......Authority. Each Seller that is not a natural person is duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of organization and has full power and authority to carry out its 
obligations under this Agreement and the Purchase Documents. Each Seller that is 
a natural person has full capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and the 
Purchase Documents to which such Seller is a party, to perform his or her 
obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Contemplated 
Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Purchase 
Documents by each Company, and each Seller that is not a natural person, and the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions have been duly authorized and 
approved by all necessary corporate or other actions. This Agreement and the 
Purchase Documents have been duly executed and delivered by each Seller and each 
Company and are a legal, valid and binding obligation of each Seller and each 
Company, enforceable against each of them in accordance with their terms, except 
as such enforcement may be limited by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the 
rights and remedies of creditors, or (b) by general equitable principles. 



 
Section 4.3.......No Conflict. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.3 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter, the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement by each Company and Sellers and the consummation of the Contemplated 
Transactions do not and will not: (a) conflict with, violate or result in the 
breach of any of the terms or conditions of, or constitute a default under (i) 
any Company's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws (as each are amended to date) 
or any material contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, pledge, 
note, bond, license, permit or other instrument or obligation to which a Company 
or any Seller is a party or by which a Company or any Seller or any of their 
respective assets, the Shares, or properties are bound or affected, or (ii) any 
Applicable Law to which a Company or any Seller or any of their respective 
assets, Shares or properties are bound or subject, (b) result in the creation or 
imposition of any lien, security interest, charge, encumbrance, restriction or 
right, including rights of termination or cancellation, in or with respect to 
any Company, any Seller, or any of their respective assets, Shares or 
properties, (c) have a Material Adverse Effect, or (d) constitute an event that, 
after notice or lapse of time or both, could result in any of the foregoing. 
 
Section 4.4.......Ownership of Capital Stock. 
 
         Schedule 4.4 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter sets forth the 
authorized capital structure of each Company, including the type of shares 
authorized, the par value per share, the number of each type of shares that are 
issued and outstanding, and the number of such issued and outstanding shares 
held by each Seller and any other Person (of record or beneficially). The Shares 
constitute all of the outstanding stock, stock rights or other equity or other 
ownership interest of the Companies. All of the issued and outstanding shares 
were duly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and all are owned beneficially 
and of record by the Sellers as set forth on Schedule 4.4 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter. Sellers are, and will be on the Closing Date, the sole owners 
(of record or beneficially) of all of the issued and outstanding Shares, free 
and clear of all Taxes, Liens, encumbrances, claims or rights of other parties. 
There are no options, warrants, purchase rights or other instruments or 
agreements giving any Person the right to acquire any shares of the capital 
stock of any Company nor are there any commitments to issue or execute any such 
options, warrants, purchase rights, instruments or agreements. There are no 
agreements, understandings or other arrangements with respect to the capital 
stock of any Company that would affect Buyer's dividend, liquidation, voting or 
transfer rights with respect to any of the Companies after the Closing Date. No 
transfer of record ownership of, or beneficial interest in, any of the Shares 
will be made between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date without the 
prior written consent of Buyer and the transferee's agreement to join into and 
become bound by this Agreement. None of the Shares were issued in violation of 
any applicable federal or state securities laws or any other Applicable Laws. 
Except as set forth on Schedule 4.4 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, there are 
no voting trusts, proxies, or other agreements or understandings with respect to 
the voting of any shares of capital stock of any of the Companies. 
 
Section 4.5.......Subsidiaries; Discontinued Operations. Other than shares of 
another Company, no Company directly or indirectly owns, nor has it owned, any 
shares of capital stock or other securities of, or held any interest in, any 
other Person. Schedule 4.5 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter accurately 
describes any businesses (a) that have been dissolved, discontinued, sold, 
transferred or otherwise disposed of by any Company in the five (5) years 
immediately preceding the date of this Agreement, or (b) were businesses of any 
Company or any predecessor thereto, or in respect of which, such Company may 
have any continuing liability or obligation that may result in a Material 
Adverse Effect. 
 
Section 4.6.......Officers and Directors; Corporate Records. 
                  ----------------------------------------- 
 
         Schedule 4.6 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter is a true, correct and 
complete list of all directors and executive officers of each Company. The 
minute books and stock records of each Company are complete and accurate in all 
material respects and all signatures included therein are the signatures of the 
persons whose signatures are required. True, correct and complete copies of the 
Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of each Company, including all amendments 
thereto, and the minute books and stock books of the Company have been delivered 
to Buyer. 
 
Section 4.7.......Bank Accounts. 
 
         Schedule 4.7 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter contains an accurate and 
complete list of all bank accounts, other accounts, certificates of deposit, 
marketable securities, other investments, safe deposit boxes, lock boxes and 
safes of each Company, and the names of all officers, employees or other 
individuals who have access thereto or are authorized to make withdrawals 
therefrom or dispositions thereof. 
 
Section 4.8.......Financials; Undisclosed Liabilities. 
                  ----------------------------------- 
(a) Sellers have provided and, with respect to clause (iii), will provide Buyer 
copies of (i) audited balance sheets and statements of income, cash flow and 
changes in shareholders' equity of each Company for the fiscal years ended 1999 
and 2000, accompanied by the audit opinion of Moss Adams LLP, and the unaudited 
balance sheet and statements of income, cash flow and changes in shareholders' 
equity of each Company for the calendar year ended 2001 (such balance sheets and 
statements of income for the calendar year ended 2001, the "Year-End Balance 
Sheets" and the "Year-End Income Statements," respectively), (ii) the unaudited 



balance sheet and statement of income of each of the Companies for the 
five-month period ended May 31, 2002, and (iii) the unaudited balance sheet and 
statement of income of each of the Companies for each of the months ended after 
December 31, 2001, up until the month immediately prior to the month in which 
the Closing occurs (for those months ending after the date of this Agreement, 
Sellers shall deliver to Buyer the financial statements for each of these months 
no later than the seventh (7th) day after the end of such month), in the same 
form as delivered to the Manufacturers. The Year-End Balance Sheets and the 
Year-End Income Statements are attached as Schedule 4.8(a) of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter. 
 
(b) The financial statements referred to in Section 4.8(a) (collectively, the 
"Financial Statements") are and, with respect to financial statements to be 
provided pursuant to Section 4.8(a), will be true and complete with respect to 
each item therein, and, other than the Financial Statements referred to in 
Section 4.8(a)(iii), have been and will be prepared in accordance with GAAP 
applied on a consistent basis from period to period, except as indicated in the 
notes thereto or as set forth on Schedule 4.8(b) of the Sellers' Disclosure 
Letter and except that the unaudited financial statements are subject to normal 
year-end audit adjustments and do not contain footnotes. The Financial 
Statements fairly present the financial condition of the Company at the 
respective dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows for the 
periods then ended. Except as set forth in the Financial Statements, the notes 
thereto or as otherwise set forth in the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, there are 
no special or nonrecurring items of income or expense during the periods covered 
by the Financial Statements, and the balance sheets included in the Financial 
Statements do not reflect any write-up or revaluation increasing the book value 
of any assets. 
 
(c) No Company has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether known, 
unknown, absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise and whether due or to become 
due (including, without limitation, liabilities relating to Taxes, proceedings 
before any Governmental Authority, Environmental Laws or product liability 
claims), except (i) as set forth on Schedule 4.8(c) of the Sellers' Disclosure 
Letter, (ii) as and to the extent disclosed on, or reserved against on the face 
of the Financial Statements as of May 31, 2002 and (iii) liabilities and 
obligations that (1) were incurred after May 31, 2002, in the ordinary course of 
business consistent with past practice, and (2) are not prohibited by this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge that Buyer 
will not have a claim for indemnification under this Section 4.8(c) if there is 
discovered a liability or obligation that otherwise would be a breach of this 
subsection and that liability or obligation relates to a matter set forth in 
Section 4.12 (Legal Matters), 4.13 (Employees), 4.15(b), (d), and (f) (Real 
Property), 4.17(a) (Environmental Matters) or 4.20(a) and (i) (Tax Matters) for 
which such representation or warranty contained in that section is qualified by 
Sellers' knowledge and the discovered liability or obligation does not 
constitute a breach of that other section's representation or warranty as a 
result of that knowledge qualifier. 
 
(d) To Seller's knowledge, (i) the Working Capital as of the date hereof and as 
of the Closing Date satisfies manufacturer working capital requirements and is 
consistent with the working capital levels that generated the EBITDA for the 
Companies for the twelve-month period ended May 31, 2002, and (ii) the Target 
Net Book Value is consistent with net tangible book value levels that generated 
the EBITDA for the twelve-month period ended May 31, 2002. Further, the Working 
Capital is comprised of adequate cash to meet the manufacturer working capital 
requirements and to satisfy in full the LIFO Recapture Liabilities. 
 
Section 4.9.......Accounts Receivable. Sellers have delivered or caused to be 
delivered to Buyer a complete and accurate aging of all accounts receivable of 
each Company as of the end of each monthly period after the date of the Year-End 
Balance Sheet for 2001. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.9 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter and except for reserves and allowances for doubtful accounts, 
no account receivable of the Company reflected on the Year-End Balance Sheet as 
of December 31, 2001, and no account receivable arising after December 31, 2001, 
and reflected as unpaid on the books of the Company as of the Closing Date is 
uncollectable or subject to a counterclaim or offset, except to the extent 
reserved against thereon. Except for reserves and allowances for doubtful 
accounts, all accounts receivable reflected on the Financial Statements as of 
May 31, 2002 delivered to Buyer or on the books of a Company since the date of 
such Financial Statements have been generated in the ordinary course of business 
and reflect a bona fide obligation for the payment of goods and services 
provided by such Company. 
 
Section 4.10......Permits and Licenses. Each Company holds all the franchises, 
licenses, permits, consents, approvals, waivers and other authorizations 
(collectively, the "Permits") which are necessary for the operation of such 
Company's Dealership(s) and Business, including without limitation, all Permits 
issued by the respective Manufacturer(s) or any Governmental Authority, except 
where the failure to hold such Permits would not have a Material Adverse Effect. 
Schedule 4.10 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete list of 
all Permits held by each Company. The Companies are not in default, nor has any 
Company or any Seller received any notice of any claim of default with respect 
to any of the Permits, or any notice of any other claim or proceeding, or 
threatened proceeding, relating to any of the Permits. All of the Permits are in 
full force and effect. Except as set forth on Section 4.10 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, the Contemplated Transactions will not result in the 
cancellation or termination of any of the Permits, and no consent from, or 
notice to, any Governmental Authority (other than in connection with the HSR 
filing) is required to transfer the benefit of any of the Permits to Buyer. 
 



Section 4.11......Notices from the Manufacturers. Except as set forth in 
Schedule 4.11 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, no Company or any Seller has 
received notice (oral or written), nor has any Seller received information, from 
a Manufacturer that (a) the Manufacturer wishes to move or close a Dealership or 
otherwise change or terminate its relationship with a Company, (b) the 
Manufacturer has taken action or intends to take action with respect to the 
award of a new franchise in a competing location, (c) the Manufacturer has 
protested, or intends to protest, any action by a Company, (d) the Manufacturer 
has designated, or intends to designate, a Dealership as having any "delete 
point status" or similar status, (e) there are any deficiencies in dealership 
operations including (i) brand imaging, (ii) facility conditions, (iii) sales 
efficiency, (iv) customer satisfaction, (v) warranty work and reimbursement, or 
(vi) sales incentives, (f) there is a present or future need for facility 
improvements, upgrades or other modifications in connection with any Dealership 
or the Leased Real Property, or (g) there is a shortfall or deficiency in the 
working capital of any Dealership. 
 
Section 4.12......Legal Matters. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.12 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter, there is not, and has not been during the last five 
(5) years, any litigation or other proceeding or governmental investigation 
pending, or to Sellers' knowledge, threatened against or affecting a Company, a 
Dealership or the Business. None of the matters listed on Schedule 4.12 would 
have, or have had, if resolved adversely to any Company, any Dealership or the 
Business, a Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.12 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter, there are no lawsuits or claims by a Company 
presently pending, or which a Company intends to initiate against any Person. 
There are no judgments, orders, decrees or awards before any court, department, 
commission, board, instrumentality or arbitrator which affects any Company, any 
Dealership or the Business. 
 
Section 4.13......Employees. Schedule 4.13 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter 
contains a list of all of each Company's employees (individually an "Employee", 
collectively the "Employees") and their compensation as of the date hereof, and 
identifies those Employees who have employment contracts with such Company. No 
Employee is a member of or represented by any labor union or other collective 
bargaining representative in connection with his or her employment. During the 
five (5) years preceding the date of this representation, no Company has 
received any petition for, or written notice of any action being taken with 
respect to, any collective bargaining representation, solicitation or 
organization of any Employee or, except as set forth on Schedule 4.13 of the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter, any unfair labor practice, discrimination, sexual 
harassment or occupational and health safety standards charge, grievance, 
arbitration, claim, proceeding or jurisdictional dispute before any Governmental 
Authority (including, without limitation, the National Labor Relations Board or 
an equal employment opportunity council); nor are there any other labor 
disputes, strikes, work stoppages or slowdowns, organizing efforts or other 
similar labor activities pending or, to the Sellers' knowledge, threatened, with 
respect to a Company or any Employee in connection with his or her employment by 
a Company. The Companies have complied with all requirements of Applicable Law 
relating to their Employees, except where the failure to so comply would not 
have a Material Adverse Effect, and have paid all wages, salary and bonuses due 
to Employees through the end of the most recent pay period on or before the date 
of this Agreement and will have paid all such wages, salary and bonuses through 
the Closing Date. No Company has received any notice regarding a current claim 
against it for (i) overtime pay, wages, salary or bonus, excluding current 
payroll periods or (ii) vacation time, excluding time earned in current payroll 
periods. To the Sellers' knowledge, no executive or key Employee or group of 
Employees has any plans to terminate his, her or their employment with or by any 
Company as a result of the Contemplated Transactions. Except for the Retention 
Bonus and other payments described herein, no Employee will be entitled to any 
severance or other payment in connection with the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement or the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 4.14......Employee Benefit Plans. 
 
(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14(a) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, 
no present or former employee of any Company shall be entitled to any retirement 
pay or retirement benefits of any kind. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14(a) 
of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, no Company maintains, sponsors, contributes 
to or has any liability under any agreement, plan, practice or program, whether 
written or oral, providing for bonus payments, child or dependent care benefits, 
death benefits, accidental death and dismemberment benefits, deferred 
compensation benefits, disability or other wage continuation benefits, 
educational assistance or tuition benefits, health benefits, paid holiday 
benefits, incentive compensation payments, leave of absence rights, medical 
expense payment or reimbursement benefits, retiree medical benefits, retiree 
life insurance benefits, profit sharing, pension or other retirement benefits, 
stock option, stock appreciation rights or stock purchase benefits, severance or 
termination pay or benefits (including post-employment consulting arrangements) 
or vacation. Items of the nature described in the prior sentence, whether 
involving a Company or any entity which would be considered a single employer 
with such Company under Paragraph 4001(b)(1) of ERISA, or Paragraph 414(b), (c) 
or (m) of the Code (an "ERISA Affiliate"), are individually referred to as an 
"Employee Benefit Plan" and collectively referred to as "Employee Benefit 
Plans." Schedule 4.14(a) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter includes, but is not 
limited to, each plan involving employees of a Company and maintained or 
contributed to by a Company or an ERISA Affiliate which is an "Employee Benefit 
Plan" as such term is defined in Paragraph 3(3) of ERISA. Sellers have delivered 
to Buyer a true and complete copy of each Employee Benefit Plan (or in the case 
of any unwritten Employee Benefit Plans, complete descriptions thereof) covering 
employees of each Company or an ERISA Affiliate, including all texts, amendments 



and other agreements (whether formal or informal) adopted in connection 
therewith. Sellers have provided Buyer true and complete copies of (1) IRS Form 
5500 (including all schedules and opinions of independent auditors) for each 
Employee Benefit Plan (if any such filing was required by law) filed for each of 
the most recent four plan years, (2) the most recent summary plan description 
(or similar document) for each Employee Benefit Plan for which a summary plan 
description is required by law or was otherwise provided to plan participants or 
beneficiaries, (3) each trust agreement, insurance or annuity contract or other 
funding agreement relating to any Employee Benefit Plan, and (4) all reports and 
compliance testing results submitted within the four year period preceding the 
date of this Agreement by third party administrators, actuaries, investment 
managers, consultants, or other independent contractors with respect to any 
Employee Benefit Plan. Each Employee Benefit Plan which is intended to be 
qualified and exempt from federal income taxation under the provisions of 
Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code has been determined to be so by the 
Internal Revenue Service, and there has been no act or omission, and no 
circumstances exist, which would cause any such Employee Benefit Plan to fail to 
be qualified or cause such Employee Benefit Plan to lose its exempt status. 
Copies of the most current favorable determination letters for each such 
Employee Benefit Plan have been delivered to Buyer, and such letters take into 
account all changes in qualification requirements made by "GUST" as defined in 
Revenue Procedure 2000-27. 
 
(b) No employee or former employee of any Company or an ERISA Affiliate, and no 
beneficiary thereof, participates in or has any rights to benefits, with respect 
to employment with any Company under any agreement, plan, practice or program 
not listed on Schedule 4.14(b) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter. No person who 
is not a current or former employee (or a beneficiary or eligible dependent 
thereof) of a Company participates in or is entitled to any benefits under any 
plan listed on Schedule 4.14(b) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter. 
 
(c) No actions, suits, claims or investigations (other than routine claims for 
benefits) with respect to the Employee Benefit Plans are pending or threatened 
and no facts exist that would give rise to or result in any liability in the 
event of any such action, suit, claim or investigation. Each Employee Benefit 
Plan has been administered in accordance with its terms. The Companies and their 
ERISA Affiliates with respect to the Employee Benefit Plans are, and each of the 
Employee Benefit Plans is, in full compliance with all Applicable Laws, 
including ERISA and the Code. With respect to each of the Employee Benefit 
Plans, (1) there have been no transactions prohibited by Section 406 of ERISA 
and no "prohibited transaction" under Section 4975 of the Code; (2) there has 
been no breach of fiduciary duties under Section 404 of ERISA; (3) there has 
been no "reportable event" as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA and in 
regulations issued thereunder; (4) no Company and no ERISA Affiliate has any 
liability to the IRS; and (5) all required reports and information (including 
Form 5500, summary annual reports and summary plan descriptions) have been 
timely filed with the appropriate government agencies, and all notices and 
disclosures to participants and beneficiaries required by ERISA or the Code have 
been timely provided and were true, complete and correct in all respects. Each 
of the Companies has retained the right to unilaterally amend or terminate each 
Employee Benefit Plan upon not less than thirty days' notice to the fullest 
extent permissible by law, and any such plan, except the plan referred to in 
Section 6.3(c), can be terminated within thirty days without payment of any 
additional contribution or amount and without vesting or acceleration of any 
benefits promised by such Employee Benefit Plan. Subject to Section 6.3(c), no 
Company maintains any Employee Benefit Plan under which any benefit would become 
accelerated or vested because of the consummation of the Contemplated 
Transactions. 
 
(d) No Employee Benefit Plan provides post-employment medical, health or life 
insurance benefits for present or future retirees or present or future 
terminated employees, or their spouses or dependents except for continuation 
coverage, which is paid entirely by the individual electing such coverage and 
which is provided pursuant to the requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and 
Sections 601-608 of ERISA or a similar state law, or continued coverage under an 
insurance policy for a period not to exceed 60 days following termination of 
employment. 
 
(e) No Company now maintains or makes contributions to, or has ever been 
required to contribute to, or has, at any time in the past, maintained or made 
contributions to any multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA or 
any defined benefit plan as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA, nor incurred any 
actual or potential liability for any termination of, or complete or partial 
withdrawal from such plans. No Employee Benefit Plan is unfunded or funded 
through a "welfare benefit fund" as defined in Section 429(e) of the Code. 
 
(f) Schedule 4.14(f) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter contains a list of all 
outstanding workers' compensation claims by each of the Company's employees. 
Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14(f) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, no 
Company's workers' compensation insurance policy imposes retrospective or 
retroactive premium adjustments and no Company has received notice of an 
increase in workers' compensation premiums. 
 
Section 4.15......Real Property. 
 
(a) Set forth on Schedule 4.15(a) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter is a list of 
all real property leased (the "Leased Real Property") by each Company or a 
Seller, for use in connection with the Business. No Company owns any real 
property except as set forth on Schedule 4.15(a) (the "Owned Real Property"). 
Each Company has good and valid title to its Owned Real Property free and clear 
of all liens and encumbrances not otherwise identified on Schedule 4.15(a). 



 
(b) All leases relating to Leased Real Property are valid and in full force and 
effect, and there does not exist any default by any Company under any such 
leases. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.15(g) of Sellers' Disclosure Letter, 
no default or right of acceleration will be created by Sellers' transfer of the 
Shares to Buyer. Each Company has a good and valid leasehold interest to the 
Leased Real Property used in connection with such Company's Business, free and 
clear of all Liens, and enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of such 
premises under such leases. Each respective landlord of a Leased Real Property 
that is the subject of an Affiliate Lease is the fee simple owner of that Leased 
Real Property, and has full right and authority to lease the Leased Real 
Property to the Company that is the party to the underlying lease. To Sellers' 
knowledge, each respective landlord of a Leased Real Property that is not the 
subject of an Affiliate Lease, is the fee simple owner of that Leased Real 
Property, and has full right and authority to lease the Leased Real Property to 
the Company that is the party to the underlying lease. Sellers have delivered to 
Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of each lease for Leased Real Property 
as set forth on Schedule 4.15(b), and such leases constitute all agreements or 
commitments of the Companies relating to the lease, use or occupancy of the 
Leased Real Property by the Companies. 
 
(c) The Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property constitute all of the 
leasehold interests in real property used or held for use in connection with, 
necessary for the conduct of, or otherwise material to the Business, any Company 
or any Dealership. There is no defective condition, structural or otherwise, 
with respect to the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property. All 
improvements, buildings and systems on the Owned Real Property and the Leased 
Real Property, including without limitation, the heating, ventilating and air 
conditioning equipment and systems, plumbing system, sprinkler system, 
electrical system, fire suppression and alarm systems, the roof and roof 
membrane, and other fixtures, equipment and systems located upon the Owned Real 
Property and the Leased Real Property (collectively, the "Systems") are in good 
repair, working order and operating condition given their age (ordinary wear and 
tear excepted). The Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property (including 
all improvements, buildings, parking lots and Systems located thereon) and the 
Companies use of the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property are in 
compliance with all Applicable Laws, and no Company or Seller has received 
notice of non-compliance with respect to such Applicable Laws from any Person. 
All water, sewer, gas, electric, telephone, drainage and other utility 
equipment, facilities and services required by Applicable Law for the operation 
of the Business and located on the Owned Real Property and the Leased Rental 
Property are or have been installed and connected in accordance with Applicable 
Law and any Governmental Authority approvals, and no Company has received notice 
of the termination or impairment of any such services. The Systems are, or have 
been, installed and connected in accordance with Applicable Law and are in 
compliance with all Applicable Laws. The representations and warranties set 
forth in this Section 4.15(c) shall be qualified by, and be subject to, the 
reports described in Section 6.16. 
 
(d) To Sellers' knowledge, each Company has all easements, rights-of-way, 
permits and similar authorizations for the use of the Owned Real Property and 
the Leased Real Property occupied by such Company in the operation of the 
Business as heretofore conducted (the "Easements"). To Sellers' knowledge, no 
Company nor any other party thereto is in default of any provision of any 
Easement or any covenant, restriction or other agreement encumbering any Owned 
Real Property or Leased Real Property, and no event that, with the giving of 
notice, the passage of time or both would become a default, has occurred under 
any Easement or any covenant, restriction or other agreement encumbering such 
property, where such a default would have a Material Adverse Effect, including 
without limitation, that prompt and timely payment of all Taxes currently 
assessed or imposed upon such Owned Real Property or such Leased Real Property. 
The Leased Real Property that is subject to the Affiliate Leases is not subject 
to any Tax abatements or deferrals. The buildings and improvements on the Leased 
Real Property are located within the boundary lines of the described parcels of 
land and do not encroach on any Easement which may burden the land. The current 
use of the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property does not serve any 
adjoining property for any purpose inconsistent with a Company's use of the 
Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property. 
 
(e) No zoning or similar ordinance, restrictive covenant or other encumbrance or 
restriction (i) prevents any Companies from conducting any portion of the 
Business on the Owned Real Property or on the Leased Real Property, (ii) 
prevents any Company from its use of the Owned Real Property or the Leased Real 
Property for the conducting of the Business, or (iii) otherwise conflicts or is 
inconsistent with the terms of Leases with respect to each Owned Real Property 
and each Leased Real Property. There are no exclusive use agreements affecting 
any Company's use of any Owned Real Property or any Leased Real Property. No 
Company has received notice of any condemnation or rezoning hearings or 
proceedings pending before any governmental agency or body, or contemplated by 
any Governmental Authority or body, with respect to all or any portion of the 
Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property, and no Company or Seller has 
received written notice that any such hearings or proceedings are threatened or 
contemplated. 
 
(f) There are no contracts to which any Company is a party granting to any party 
or parties the right of use or occupancy of any portion of the Owned Real 
Property or Leased Real Property other than customary rights granted to public 
utilities, none of which materially interfere in the use of such property by the 
Companies in the conduct of the Business. There are no parties (other than a 
Company) in physical possession of any of the Owned Real Property or Leased Real 
Property and there is no encroachment of improvements located on any adjoining 



property upon the Owned Real Property or the Leased Real Property. The Leased 
Real Property abuts on and has vehicular access directly or through recorded 
perpetual easements to a public road and there is no pending or to Seller's 
knowledge threatened termination of such access. 
 
(g) The Leased Real Property listed on Schedule 4.15(g) is substantially 
unimproved real property upon which no material Dealership operations (other 
than the storage of vehicles) are conducted. 
 
Section 4.16......Personal Property. 
 
(a) Set forth on Schedule 4.16 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter is a list of 
all personal property (i) owned by each Company or a Seller and having an 
historical cost in excess of $600.00 and used in connection with the Business 
(the "Owned Personal Property"), or (ii) leased by a Company or a Seller and 
having annual lease payments in excess of $1,000 (the "Leased Personal 
Property"), for use in connection with the Business. Each Company has good and 
valid title to all Owned Personal Property used by such Company in connection 
with its Business, free and clear of all Liens. 
 
(b) All leases relating to Leased Personal Property are valid and in full force 
and effect, and there does not exist any payment or other default by any Company 
under any such leases. No default or right of acceleration will be created by 
the Contemplated Transactions. Each Company has good and valid leasehold 
interest to the Leased Personal Property free and clear of all Liens, and enjoys 
peaceful and undisturbed possession and use of such personal property under such 
leases. Sellers have delivered to Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of 
each lease for personal property to which any Company is a party. 
 
(c) The Owned Personal Property and Leased Personal Property constitute all of 
the fee and leasehold interests in personal property used or held for use in 
connection with, necessary for the conduct of, or otherwise material to any 
Company, any Dealership or the Business. All Owned Personal Property and Leased 
Personal Property are in good repair, working order and operating condition, and 
are suitable for the purposes for which they are being used. 
 
Section 4.17......Environmental Matters. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.17 of 
the Sellers' Disclosure Letter and the Phase I Environmental Assessments 
conducted by Buyer between the date of the Agreement and the Closing: 
 
(a) The Companies and, to the knowledge of each Seller, all predecessors of each 
Company, have complied with and are currently in compliance with all 
Environmental Laws (including all permits and authorizations required under 
Environmental Laws) pertaining to any of the properties and assets of any 
Company, including, without limitation, any Leased Real Property, or to any 
property presently or previously used in connection with the Business or any 
Dealership. No violation of any Environmental Law is being alleged or threatened 
or has, to the knowledge of Sellers, at any time been alleged or threatened 
relating to any of the properties and assets of any Company, the Leased Real 
Property, and to the use or ownership thereof, or to any property presently or 
previously used in connection with any Dealership or the Business. 
 
(b) The Companies and Sellers have disclosed and made available to Buyer all 
information, including, without limitation, true, correct and complete copies of 
all studies, analyses and test results in their possession, custody or control 
or otherwise known to any Company or any Seller relating to (i) the 
environmental conditions on, under or about any Leased Real Property, and (ii) 
any Hazardous Materials used, handled, treated, generated, stored, disposed of 
or transported away from any Dealership or Released by any Company or any other 
Person (including, without limitation, third parties) on, under, about or from 
any of the Leased Real Property or otherwise, in connection with any Dealership 
or the Business. A list of all studies, analyses and test results provided to 
Buyer hereunder is also set forth on Schedule 4.17 of the Sellers' Disclosure 
Letter. 
 
(c) No Company nor any property presently or previously used in connection with 
any Dealership or the Business is subject to, and the Companies and Sellers have 
not taken any action that will result in, any Lien, liability or obligation 
arising out of (i) environmental conditions on, under, or about the properties 
and assets of any Company, its assets or any real property owned or leased at 
the present time or in the past, including, without limitation, the air, soil 
and ground water conditions at such properties, or (ii) the past or present use, 
handling, treatment, generation, storage, disposal, Release or threatened 
Release of any Hazardous Materials, respectively. 
 
(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.17(d) of Sellers' Disclosure Letter, no 
Company nor any Leased Real Property is subject to any outstanding order from, 
or contractual or other obligation with, any third party in respect of which any 
Company, any Seller or Buyer may be required to incur costs arising from the 
Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials. No Company nor any Seller 
has entered into any contractual or indemnification obligation with any third 
party pursuant to which they assumed responsibility for, either directly or 
indirectly, the remediation of any condition arising from or relating to the 
Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials. 
 
Section 4.18......Intellectual Property. 
 
(a) Each Company owns or has enforceable, irrevocable, licensing rights to the 
Intellectual Property and all other confidential business information or 
technical information used in connection with the Business conducted by it, free 
and clear of all Liens. Schedule 4.18 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter lists 



all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names and domain names, together 
with all pending applications therefore used by such Company in connection with 
the Business. Other than as set forth on Schedule 4.18 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, there are no other patents, trademarks, service marks, trade 
names, doing business or domain names necessary to operate any Dealership. No 
claim is pending or threatened to the effect that the present use of the 
Intellectual Property infringes upon or conflicts with the rights of any other 
Person and there is no basis for any such claim (whether or not pending or 
threatened). 
 
(b) For purposes of this Section 4.18, "Intellectual Property" means the names, 
service marks and slogans of "Bob Baker," "BetterWay," "The Bob Baker Auto 
Group" and "Where It's So Nice To Be Nice" and all other trade names, corporate 
names, fictitious names and doing-business names and logos used or held by the 
Company or Sellers in connection with the Business, and all other intangible 
property rights or claims, including all patents, patent applications and 
foreign counterparts thereof, all trademarks, trade-names, service marks and 
service names, and registrations and applications for registration thereof, and 
foreign counterparts thereof, all copyrights, copyright applications and 
copyright registrations and foreign counterparts thereof, all inventions, 
discoveries, trade secrets, improvements, formulae, practices, processes, 
methods, technology and know-how and similar proprietary rights and related 
licenses and other agreements that are owned by any Company or any Seller for 
use in connection with the Business. It also includes all computer software, 
firmware, programs, source disks, internet domain names, internet domain name 
registrations, world wide web sites or pages, program documentation, tapes, 
manuals, forms, guides and other materials with respect thereto used or held for 
use by any Company or any Sellers in connection with the Business. 
 
Section 4.19......Contracts. Sellers have delivered to Buyer true and complete 
copies of all Contracts in effect as of the date of this Agreement, other than 
(a) outstanding orders for vehicle and parts inventory entered into in the 
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and (b) other 
contracts or commitments entered into in the ordinary course of business and 
consistent with past practices (i) having a term of less than 12 months and 
involving a total expenditure of less than $10,000, or (ii) requiring the 
performance of services having a cost of less than $10,000. A list of the 
Contracts is set forth on Schedule 4.19 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter. Each 
Company has performed the material obligations required to be performed by it to 
date and is not in default or alleged in writing to be in default under any of 
the Contracts, and there exists no event, condition or occurrence which, after 
notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute such a default. All of the 
Contracts are valid, in full force and effect and are enforceable in accordance 
with their respective terms. 
 
Section 4.20......Taxes. 
 
(a) Each of the Companies is a small business corporation as defined in Section 
1361 of the Code and has had in effect for each taxable year beginning January 
1, 2002, a valid election to be treated as an "S" corporation for federal income 
tax purposes under the Code and under the income tax laws of each state in which 
each such Company does business under which such election is permitted. No 
Governmental Authority has challenged or, to Sellers' knowledge, threatened to 
challenge the status of the Company as an "S" corporation. 
 
(b) Schedule 4.20(b) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter lists (i) all taxing 
jurisdictions in which each Company has filed Returns (or otherwise been treated 
for income tax purposes) as a corporation other than an S corporation and (ii) 
all taxing jurisdictions in which each Company is currently treated as an S 
corporation and the date from which such treatment has continuously been in 
effect. 
 
(c) All federal, state, local and foreign income and other Returns required to 
be filed have been filed for each Company and its Affiliates, and all other 
required filings in respect of Taxes have been made for each Company and its 
Affiliates, for all periods as required by applicable law. Each such Return and 
filing is true and correct, all Taxes shown thereon or otherwise due have been 
paid, and no Company or any of its Affiliates have or will have any additional 
liability for Taxes with respect to any return or other filing heretofore filed 
or which was required by law to be filed, other than as reflected as liabilities 
on the Closing Balance Sheet. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(c), none of 
the Returns or other filings that include the operations of any Company has ever 
been audited or investigated by any Governmental Authority, and no facts exist 
which would constitute grounds for the assessment of any additional Taxes by any 
Governmental Authority with respect to the taxable years covered in such returns 
and filings. No Governmental Authority has raised any issue with respect to 
Taxes that, by application of similar principles, could result in the issuance 
of a Notice of Deficiency or similar notice of intention to assess Taxes by any 
Taxing Authority. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(c) of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, no position has been taken on any Return with respect to the 
Business of any Company for a taxable year for which the statute of limitations 
for the assessment of any Tax with respect thereto has not expired that is 
contrary to any pronouncement of any Governmental Authority. All Taxes that the 
Company is required by law to withhold or collect, including without limitation, 
sales and use taxes, and amounts required to be withheld for Taxes of employees, 
have been duly withheld or collected and, to the extent required, have been paid 
over to the proper Governmental Authorities or are held in separate bank 
accounts for such purpose. True, correct and complete copies of all income and 
sales tax Returns and forms filed by or with respect to each Company for the 
past three years have been furnished to Buyer. No claim has ever been made by a 
Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction where a Company does not file Returns 



that it is or may be subject to Taxes in such jurisdiction. 
 
(d) The amount provided on the Closing Balance Sheet for all Taxes is adequate 
to cover all unpaid liabilities and obligations for all Taxes (including any 
interest or penalties with respect to such Taxes), whether or not due or 
disputed, that have accrued with respect to or are applicable to the period 
ending on and including the Closing Date or to any years and periods prior 
thereto and for which any Company may be directly or contingently liable in its 
own right or as a transferee of the assets of, or successor to, any Persons. No 
Company has incurred any Tax liabilities other than in the ordinary course of 
business for any taxable year for which the applicable statute of limitations 
has not expired. 
 
(e) No Company has ever been a "United States real property holding corporation" 
within the meaning of Section 897 of the Code. 
 
(f) No property of any Company is subject to any liens for Taxes, other than 
liens for Taxes not yet due and payable. 
 
(g) No Company has made or become obligated to make, and will not as a result of 
any event connected with the purchase of the capital stock of the Companies or 
any other Contemplated Transaction become obligated to make, any "excess 
parachute payment" as defined in Section 280G of the Code (without regard to 
subsection (b)(4) thereof) or Section 4999 of the Code, or a payment of any 
amount that would not be deductible by reason of Section 404 of the Code. 
 
(h) No agreement or other document waiving or extending, or having the effect of 
waiving or extending, the statute of limitations or the period of assessment or 
collection of any Taxes with respect to any Company and no power of attorney 
with respect to any such Taxes, has been filed or entered into with any 
Governmental Authority. The time for filing any Return with respect to any 
Company has not been extended to a date later than the date of this Agreement. 
Schedule 4.20(h) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter sets forth in detail all 
taxable periods of each Company (i) which have been audited by the relevant 
Governmental Authority or (ii) with respect to which the time period for 
assessing or collecting Taxes with respect to such taxable period have closed 
and are not subject to review by any relevant Governmental Authority. 
 
(i) No audit of any Return of any Company is being conducted or, to the Sellers' 
knowledge threatened, by a Governmental Authority. 
 
(j) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(j), no Company (i) is a party to or 
bound by or has any liability or potential liability under any Tax allocation, 
sharing, indemnity or similar agreement or arrangement, or (ii) is or has been a 
member of any group filing any Return or paying any Taxes on a consolidated, 
combined or unitary basis. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(j), no Company 
is subject to any joint venture, partnership or other arrangement or contract 
which is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. 
 
(k) The basis of all depreciable or amortizable assets, and the methods used in 
determining allowable depreciation or amortization (including cost recovery) 
deductions of each Company, are correct in all material respects (determined 
separately for each Company) and in compliance with the Code and the regulations 
thereunder. 
 
(l) None of the assets of any Company constitutes tax-exempt bond financed 
property or tax-exempt use property within the meaning of Section 168 of the 
Code, and none of the assets reflected on the Closing Balance Sheet is subject 
to a lease, safe harbor lease or other arrangement as a result of which no 
Company is treated as the owner for federal income tax purposes. 
 
(m) No Company is a party to or otherwise subject to any arrangement having the 
effect of or giving rise to the recognition of a deduction or loss in a taxable 
period ending on or before the Closing Date, and a corresponding recognition of 
taxable income or gain in a taxable period ending after the Closing Date, or any 
other arrangement that would have the effect of or give rise to the recognition 
of taxable income or gain in a taxable period ending after the Closing Date 
without the receipt or entitlement to a corresponding amount of cash. 
 
(n) No Company is required to include in income any adjustment pursuant to 
Section 481(a) of the Code for any period after the Closing Date, by reason of 
any voluntary or involuntary change in accounting method (nor has any 
Governmental Authority proposed any such adjustment or change of accounting 
method). 
 
(o) None of the assets of any of the Companies is subject to a consent pursuant 
to Section 341(f) of the Code (or any predecessor provision). 
 
Section 4.21......Inventories. The inventories of each Company, whether 
reflected in the Financial Statements or subsequently acquired are, and will be 
on the Closing Date, of a quality and quantity useable and saleable in the 
ordinary course of business, except to the extent expressly reserved against in 
the Financial Statements and on the Closing Balance Sheet. Each part and 
accessory included in the inventory of each Company is (a) returnable to the 
manufacturer of such part or accessory, (b) in returnable condition as 
determined by the standards of such manufacturer, and (c) listed in a current 
parts and accessory catalogue of such manufacturer, except to the extent 
expressly reserved against in the Financial Statements or on the Closing Balance 
Sheet. The odometer of each of the vehicles included in the inventories of each 
Company on the Closing Date represents the actual mileage that such vehicle has 
been driven unless otherwise disclosed on the odometer disclosure statement 



accompanying such vehicle. The inventory of the Companies includes, and will 
include on the Closing Date, less than twenty (20) Demos. 
 
Section 4.22......Insurance. Sellers have delivered to Buyer complete and 
correct copies of all insurance policies maintained (at present or any time 
during the past three (3) years) by or on behalf of each Company or relating to 
any Dealership, together with all riders and amendments thereto and a 
description of all insurance claims in excess of $50,000 made by or for each 
Company during the three years preceding the date of this Agreement. Set forth 
on Schedule 4.22 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter is a list of all the 
insurance policies in effect as of the date hereof. Such policies are in full 
force and effect, and all premiums due therein have been paid. Each Company has 
complied in all material respects with the terms and provisions of such policies 
applicable to it. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.22 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, no insurance policy of any Company imposes retrospective or 
retroactive premium adjustments and no Company has received notice of 
termination or an increase in casualty or claim related premiums under any of 
the policies. 
 
Section 4.23......Compliance with Laws. Each Company is conducting the Business 
in compliance with all Applicable Laws, except where the failure to do so would 
not have a Material Adverse Effect. No Company nor any Seller has received any 
written notice from any Governmental Authority alleging any failure to comply 
with any Applicable Laws. 
 
Section 4.24......Liens. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.24 of the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, each Company possesses, or will possess as of the Closing 
Date, good and marketable title to its assets, free and clear of all Liens. 
 
Section 4.25......Affiliate Transactions; Absence of Certain Business Practices. 
 
(a) Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.25(a) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, 
no Company has purchased, acquired, leased or licensed any property or services 
from, or sold, transferred, leased or licensed any property or services to, any 
of its Affiliates, any officer, director, shareholder or employee of a Company 
or any such Affiliate, any relative of a Seller or any such officer, director, 
shareholder or employee or any entity in which any of the foregoing has a 
material direct economic interest. 
 
(b) No Seller, nor any officer, employee or agent of a Seller or a Company, nor 
any other Person acting on behalf of a Seller, has, directly or indirectly, 
given or agreed to give any gift or similar benefit to any customer, supplier, 
governmental employee or other Person who is or may be in a position to help or 
hinder any Company (or assist any Company or a Seller in connection with any 
actual proposed transaction relating to any Dealership) (i) which subjected or 
might reasonably be expected to have or subject any Company or a Seller to any 
material damage or penalty in any civil, criminal or governmental litigation or 
proceeding, (ii) which if not given in the past, might have had a Material 
Adverse Effect, (iii) which if not continued in the future would have a Material 
Adverse Effect or might reasonably be expected to subject any Company or a 
Seller to suit or penalty in any private or governmental litigation or 
proceeding, (iv) for any of the purposes described in Section 162(c) of the 
Code, or (v) for the purpose of establishing or maintaining any concealed fund 
or concealed bank account. 
 
(c) Set forth on Schedule 4.25(c) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter is a list 
and identification of each contract, instrument or arrangement pursuant to which 
any Company is party to, or any of its property is subject, of a cross-default, 
cross-collateralization, cross-guarantee, or other obligation relating to 
non-Company indebtedness (collectively, "Related Party Agreements"). 
 
Section 4.26......Absence of Certain Changes. Except as set forth on Schedule 
4.26 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, since May 31, 2002, the Business has 
been operated only in the ordinary course, consistent with past practice, and 
none of the following has occurred since May 31, 2002, except as described on 
Schedule 4.26 of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter: 
 
(a) there has not occurred any change in the Business or financial condition of 
any Company or Dealership that has resulted or is reasonably likely to result in 
a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
(b) there has not been any change in any accounting policies or practices of any 
Company or act or omission inconsistent with past practice or outside of the 
ordinary course of business, which will have the effect of increasing the cash 
or the trade payables of any Company at the Closing, whether through change in 
practice with respect to the timing of payment of accounts payable, the timing 
of collection of accounts receivable, the rate of purchase of inventory or 
otherwise, or discounts offered for the early payment of outstanding accounts 
receivable; 
 
(c) except as contemplated under Section 6.6, no Company has declared or paid 
any dividend or other distribution in cash or in property on or in respect of 
any shares of its capital stock or any options or warrants to purchase such 
stock, nor has it repurchased any of the foregoing, except for tax distributions 
made in the ordinary course of business prior to the Closing; 
 
(d) no Company has sold, assigned, transferred or subjected to any Lien, or 
committed to sell, assign, transfer or subject to any Lien, any tangible or 
intangible assets having a current book value in excess of $10,000 individually 
or in excess of $50,000 in the aggregate, except for sales of inventory in the 
ordinary course of business; 



 
(e) except in the ordinary course of business, no Company has purchased or 
leased, or committed to purchase or lease, any asset for more than $10,000 
individually or in excess of $50,000 in the aggregate; 
 
(f) except in the ordinary course of business, no Company has purchased, or 
committed to purchase, any service for more than $50,000 in the aggregate and no 
Company shall pay for, commit to, or otherwise become responsible for, fees or 
expenses related to services provided or premiums paid with respect to the 
Contemplated Transactions; 
 
(g) no Company has canceled any debt owed to it or released any claims possessed 
by it other than in the ordinary course of business, except for any debts or 
claims for which adequate reserves have been established in the Year-End 
Financial Statements or in the Interim Financial Statements; 
 
(h) no Company has suffered any theft, damage, destruction or loss of or any 
tangible asset or assets having a fair market value in excess of $10,000 
individually or $50,000 in the aggregate; 
 
(i) no Company has made, granted, accrued or committed to make, grant or accrue 
any loan or bonus, or any wage, salary or compensation increase, to Sellers or 
any director, officer, non-hourly employee or consultant, or any increase in any 
amounts payable under any employee benefit plan or arrangement not already 
provided for by its terms, and except for the amendments set forth on Schedule 
4.26(i) of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, no Company has amended or terminated 
any existing employee benefit plan or arrangement or adopted any new employee 
benefit plan or arrangement; 
 
(j) no Company has made, granted, accrued or committed to make, grant or accrue 
any loan or bonus to any employee, nor has any Company made, granted, accrued or 
committed to make, grant or accrue any wage, salary or compensation increase to 
any employee; 
 
(k) no Company has made or committed to make, or has any obligation (whether 
fixed, accrued or contingent) to make, any loan or contribution to the capital 
of any Affiliate of any Company or any other Person; 
 
(l) no Company has performed or entered into any transaction with any 
Affiliates; 
 
(m) no Company has borrowed any money or become contingently liable for any 
obligation or liability of others, nor has any Company incurred any debt, 
liability or obligation of any nature to any party except for trade payables 
arising in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices; 
 
(n) no Company has made any Tax election or settled or compromised any federal, 
state, local or foreign Tax liability, or waived or extended the statute of 
limitations or period for assessment in respect of any such Taxes; and 
 
(o) no Company has amended or otherwise altered any provisions of its 
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or governing documents. 
 
Section 4.27......Consents and Approvals. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.27 
of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, and as may be required by the HSR Act and 
from the Manufacturers, no notice, consents, approvals, licenses, permits or 
waivers are required from any Person or Government Authority for any Company or 
any Sellers to execute and deliver this Agreement, the Purchase Documents and to 
consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.27 
of the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, the consummation of the Contemplated 
Transactions will not result in an impairment or termination of a Company's 
rights under any Contracts and does not require the consent of, or notice to, 
any Person. 
 
Section 4.28......No Other Assets. The assets owned or leased by each Company 
which after the Closing Date will remain assets of such Company constitute all 
of the assets, property, rights and privileges which are used by such Company in 
the operation of its Business, or are required for the operation of its Business 
as it is presently conducted. 
 
Section 4.29......No Brokers or Finders. No Company nor any Seller has incurred 
any liability to any broker, finder, or agent for any fees, commissions or 
similar compensation with respect to the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 4.30......Investment Representations Regarding the Acquirer Shares. Each 
Seller (i) understands that the offering and sale of the Acquirer Shares by the 
Buyer is intended to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act 
pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof; (ii) is an "accredited investor" (other than 
the Sellers listed on Schedule 4.30), as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of 
Regulation D under the Securities Act; (iii) is acquiring the Acquirer Shares 
for its own account (or for accounts over which it exercises investment 
authority), for investment and not with a view to the resale or distribution 
thereof in violation of any applicable securities law; (iv) understands that the 
Acquirer Shares will be issued in transactions exempt from the registration or 
qualification requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities 
laws, and that such securities may not be sold unless the disposition thereof is 
registered or qualified under the Securities Act and such other Applicable Laws 
or is exempt from such registration or qualification; and (v) has such knowledge 
and experience in business and financial matters so as to enable it to 
understand and evaluate the risks of and form an investment decision with 
respect to its investment in the Acquirer Shares. 



 
Section 4.31......Non-Accredited Investors. Each Seller listed on Schedule 4.30, 
either acting alone or with his purchaser representative as defined in Rule 
501(h) of Regulation D of the Securities Act, if any (the "Purchaser 
Representative") (i) has such knowledge and experience in business and financial 
matters so as to enable it to understand and evaluate the risks of and form an 
investment decision with respect to its investment in the Acquirer Shares and 
(ii) has received from the Acquirer the information described in Rule 
502(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation D under the Securities Act. 
 
Section 4.32......Purchaser Representative. Each Purchaser Representative has 
satisfied all the conditions described in Rule 501(h) of Regulation D under the 
Securities Act. 
 
Section 4.33......Disclosure. Neither this Agreement, the Purchase Documents and 
all Exhibits and Schedules thereto, nor any financial statements, documents or 
instruments delivered by any Company or any Seller to Buyer in connection with 
this Agreement, the Purchase Documents and the Contemplated Transactions, 
contains or will contain any untrue statement of any material fact, or omits or 
will omit to state any material fact required to be stated in order to make such 
statement, document or instrument not misleading. 
 
Section 4.34......Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The 
representations, warranties and agreements of each Company and each Seller set 
forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents are made as of the date of 
this Agreement (giving effect to Sellers' Disclosure Letter, but without giving 
effect to any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters) and shall be true, 
correct, complete and accurate on and as of the Closing Date and at all times 
between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date (giving effect to 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter and any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters). 
The representations and warranties of each Seller set forth in this Agreement 
and the Purchase Documents shall survive the Closing, subject to the limitations 
specified in Section 9.6. 
 
ARTICLE V......... 
                     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER 
 
         Acquirer and Buyer hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant 
to Sellers that: 
 
Section 5.1.......Organization and Good Standing. Acquirer is a corporation duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
jurisdiction of its organization, and has full power and authority to own its 
properties and to carry on its business as presently conducted. 
 
Section 5.2.......Due Authorization. The execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and the Purchase Documents, and the performance of the Contemplated 
Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions. This 
Agreement and the Purchase Documents have been duly executed by Acquirer and are 
a legal, valid and binding obligation of Acquirer, enforceable against Acquirer 
in accordance with their terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by (a) 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws 
relating to or affecting the rights and remedies of creditors, or (b) by general 
equitable principles. 
 
Section 5.3.......Acquirer Shares. The Acquirer Shares, when issued to Sellers 
pursuant to this Agreement, will be duly authorized, validly issued, and fully 
paid and non-assessable. 
 
Section 5.4.......Acquirer SEC Reports; Private Placement Memorandum. 
                  -------------------------------------------------- 
 
(a) As of the respective dates the SEC Reports were filed or, if any such SEC 
Reports were amended, as of the date such amendment was filed, each of the SEC 
Reports (i) complied in all material respects with all applicable requirements 
of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder and (ii) did not contain any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading. Each of (1) the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Acquirer (including any related notes and schedules) 
included (or incorporated by reference) in the SEC Reports and (2) the unaudited 
consolidated interim financial statements for Acquirer (including any related 
notes and schedules) included (or incorporated by reference) in the SEC Reports, 
fairly present, in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis (except as 
may be indicated in the notes thereto), the consolidated financial position of 
Acquirer and its subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the consolidated 
results of their operations and changes in their financial position for the 
periods then ended (subject to normal year-end adjustments in the case of any 
unaudited interim financial statements). No event has occurred since the most 
recently filed SEC Report that could reasonably be expected to have a material 
adverse effect on Acquirer and its Affiliates taken as a whole. 
 
(b) Except that the description of the transactions set forth in the private 
placement memorandum attached as Exhibit J, as modified (if at all) by the 
supplemental information statement to that memorandum that will be provided to 
Sellers prior to Closing as Schedule 5.4(b) of Buyer's Supplemental Disclosure 
Letter has been provided in summary format for convenience purposes, and is 
qualified in its entirety by the terms of this Agreement and the Purchase 
Documents, as of the respective date of that private placement memorandum, and 
as of the Closing Date for the supplemental information statement to that 



memorandum, (i) that memorandum and the supplemental information statement (if 
any) has been prepared in compliance in all material aspects with the applicable 
requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder, and (ii) the information provided in the 
private placement memorandum and the supplemental information statement (if any) 
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, 
not misleading. 
 
Section 5.5.......Notices From Governmental Authorities. Since March 13, 2002, 
Acquirer has not received written notice from the SEC or any other Governmental 
Authority that any of its accounting policies or practices are or may be the 
subject of any review, inquiry, investigation or challenge by the SEC or other 
Governmental Authority other than comments received from the staff of the SEC in 
connection with the initial public offering of Acquirer's Common Stock. 
Acquirer's independent public accounting firm has not informed Acquirer that it 
has any material questions, challenges or disagreements regarding or pertaining 
to Acquirer's or any of its subsidiaries' accounting policies or practices. Set 
forth on Schedule 5.5 of Buyer's Disclosure Letter is a list of all off-balance 
sheet special purpose entities and financing arrangements of Acquirer and its 
subsidiaries. 
 
Section 5.6.......Consents and Approvals. Schedule 5.6 of Buyer's Disclosure 
Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of all third party notices, 
consents or approvals required from any Person or Governmental Authority prior 
to the Closing for Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, manufacturers, Buyer's lenders and 
Governmental Authorities. 
 
Section 5.7.......Survival of Representations and Warranties. The 
representations, warranties and agreements of Buyer set forth in this Agreement 
and the Purchase Documents are made as of the date of this Agreement (giving 
effect to Buyer's Disclosure Letter, but without giving effect to any Buyer's 
Supplemental Disclosure Letters), and shall be true, correct, complete and 
accurate on and as of the Closing Date and at all times between the date of this 
Agreement and the Closing Date (giving effect to Buyer's Disclosure Letter and 
any Buyer's Supplemental Disclosure Letters). The representations and warranties 
of Buyer set forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents shall survive 
the Closing, subject to the limitations specified in Section 9.7. 
 
Section 5.8.......Disclosure. Neither this Agreement, the Purchase Documents and 
all Exhibits and Schedules thereto, nor any financial statements, documents or 
instruments delivered by Acquirer or any Affiliate to any Seller in connection 
with this Agreement, the Purchase Documents and the Contemplated Transactions, 
contains or will contain, any untrue statement of any material fact, or omits or 
will omit to state any material fact required to be stated in order to make such 
statement, document or instrument not misleading. 
 
ARTICLE VI........ 
                                FURTHER COVENANTS 
 
         Buyer, each Company and each Seller mutually covenants and agrees as 
follows: 
 
Section 6.1.......Information Prior to Closing. Subject to the provisions of 
Section 6.5, from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, the Companies 
will provide Buyer and its accountants, employees, partners, attorneys, 
prospective lenders, investors and other authorized representatives 
(collectively, the "Representatives") access to, and permit such Persons to 
review, their properties, books, contracts, accounts and records (including 
Returns), and shall provide such other information to Buyer and its 
Representatives as shall have been reasonably requested by them, in order that 
Buyer may have the opportunity to make such investigation as it shall desire to 
make of the affairs of each Company and each Dealership. The Companies shall 
also make their management available to Buyer and its Representatives for 
discussions. The Companies shall provide Buyer with copies of all monthly 
financial statements and other periodic reports provided to the Manufacturers at 
the same time that such statements and reports are provided to such 
Manufacturer. At all times prior to the Closing Date, the Companies and Sellers 
shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of any fact, condition, event or 
occurrence that (a) could reasonably be expected to result in the failure of any 
of the conditions contained in Article VII to be satisfied or (b) causes or 
constitutes a breach of any representation or warranty as of the date of this 
Agreement or that would cause or constitute a breach of any representation or 
warranty had the representation or warranty been made as of the time of 
occurrence or discovery of the fact, condition, event or occurrence. Should any 
such fact, condition, event or occurrence require any change in the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter furnished pursuant to this Agreement if the Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter were dated the date of the occurrence or discovery of the fact 
or condition, Sellers shall promptly deliver to Buyer Sellers' Supplemental 
Disclosure Letter specifying the change as required by Section 6.8. 
 
Section 6.2.......Operation of Business. Each Company and each Seller agrees 
that between the date of this Agreement and up to and including the Closing Date 
they shall: 
 
(a) not take or permit any action or omit to take any action which would cause 
any of the representations and warranties of a Seller contained in this 
Agreement or the Purchase Documents to become untrue; 
 



(b) conduct each Company's business in a good and diligent manner in the 
ordinary and usual course of its business; 
 
(c) not enter into any contract, agreement, commitment or other arrangement with 
any party, other than contracts in the ordinary course of a Company's business, 
and not amend, modify or terminate any of the Contracts, without the prior 
written consent of Buyer; 
 
(d) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve each Company's business 
organization intact, to keep available the service of its employees, and to 
preserve each Company's relationships with customers, suppliers and others with 
whom it deals; 
 
(e) not reveal to any party, other than Buyer or its Representatives, any of the 
business procedures and practices used or followed by any Company in the 
operation of any Dealership; 
 
(f) maintain in full force and effect all insurance currently maintained by each 
Company; 
 
(g) keep the assets of each Company, including, without limitation, the Leased 
Real Property, Owned Personal Property and Leased Personal Property, in good 
operating repair and perform all necessary repairs and maintenance thereto; 
 
(h) comply with all provisions contained in the Contracts and all Applicable 
Laws where failure to so comply could reasonably be expected to have a Material 
Adverse Effect; 
 
(i) not dispose of any assets of a Company except in the ordinary course of 
business; 
 
(j) not engage, other than acquisitions of inventory in the ordinary course of 
business, in any transaction which involves the expenditure or commitment of 
more than $25,000 without the prior written consent of Buyer; 
 
(k) promptly inform Buyer of any material adverse change in the business, 
assets, results of operations or financial condition with respect to the 
Business, any Company, or any Dealership; 
 
(l) not issue any additional shares of capital stock of any Company or any other 
security convertible into shares of capital stock of any Company, otherwise 
change or modify its capital structure, or engage in any reorganization or 
similar transaction; 
 
(m) not take, nor shall they permit any action to be taken, or agree to take or 
cause to occur any of the actions or events set forth in Section 4.26; and 
 
(n) not make any Tax election or settle or compromise any federal, state, local 
or foreign income Tax liability, or waive or extend the statute of limitations 
or period for assessment with respect to any such Taxes. 
 
Section 6.3.......Further Actions. 
 
(a) Each party agrees to (i) use all reasonable good faith efforts to take all 
actions and do all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the 
Contemplated Transactions and (ii) cooperate fully with the other parties hereto 
and their respective authorized representatives and to execute and deliver or 
cause to be executed and delivered at all reasonable times and places such 
additional instruments and documents as the other party or parties may 
reasonably request for the purposes of carrying out the purposes and intent of 
this Agreement. The parties agree that they shall coordinate their contact with 
the Manufacturers in connection with requesting that the Manufacturers approve 
the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
(b) From time to time after the Closing Date, Sellers will, at their cost and 
expense, execute and deliver such instruments and documents as Buyer may request 
in order to better sell, convey, transfer, assign to Buyer, or to better perfect 
or record Buyer's interest in or title to, or to enable Buyer to better use, any 
of the Shares or otherwise carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement. 
 
(c) The Boards of Directors of the Companies shall adopt resolutions, effective 
not later than the day before the Closing Date, terminating the Companies' 
401(k) plans all of which are listed in Schedule 6.3(c) of Seller's Disclosure 
Letter in accordance with the plan documents and Applicable Laws. Such 
resolutions shall satisfy the requirements for a distribution event described in 
Section 401(k)(10)(A)(i) of the Code, and shall be subject to Buyer's approval 
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Effective as of 
the Closing Date, participants in the plans set forth in Schedule 6.3(c) of 
Seller's Disclosure Letter shall immediately become eligible to participate in 
Acquirer's 401(k) plan(s), subject to the applicable one-year employment 
eligibility requirement under Acquirer's Plans, but giving credit for a 
participant's time of employment with a Company. 
 
Section 6.4.......Exclusivity. Until (i) the Closing, or (ii) the termination of 
this Agreement in accordance with Section 10.1, Sellers and the Companies agree 
not to directly or indirectly solicit or encourage any inquiries or proposals 
from (nor enter into any agreements with) any Person other than Buyer for the 
purchase or acquisition (whether by merger or otherwise) of any Company, its 
assets, the Shares or any Dealership or any portion of any Company, its assets, 
the Shares or any Dealership, or to enter into discussions with, or furnish any 
non-public information concerning any Company, its assets, the Shares or any 



Dealership to any such Person in connection with any such proposal. Sellers and 
the Companies shall promptly notify Buyer of any proposal or inquiry to purchase 
any Company, its assets, the Shares or any Dealership or any portion of any 
Company, its assets, the Shares or any Dealership which is received by either a 
Seller or a Company or its representatives. 
 
Section 6.5.......Confidentiality. 
 
(a) Except as contemplated in (c) below, between the date of this Agreement and 
the Closing, each Company, each Seller and Buyer will maintain in confidence and 
will cause their directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors to maintain 
in confidence (i) any written information obtained in confidence from any other 
party in connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions 
contemplated herein, (ii) the existence of the letter of interest, dated June 
28, 2002, between Buyer, the Companies and Sellers' Representative, (iii) the 
terms of the Contemplated Transactions, (iv) the existence or status of the 
negotiations, or (v) any information concerning the Contemplated Transactions; 
provided, however, the parties may communicate or disclose the foregoing (x) 
within their corporate structure and to their respective directors, officers, 
employees, agents and advisors as such may be necessary to effectuate the 
Contemplated Transactions, (y) in such a manner as may be reasonably necessary 
or appropriate to effect any filing or obtaining of any consent necessary to 
consummate the Contemplated Transactions, or (z) as is necessary for Buyer to 
secure financing for the Contemplated Transactions from any financing source 
deemed appropriate by Buyer in its sole discretion; provided, further, that the 
obligations of confidentiality set forth in this Section 6.5(a) shall not apply 
to (k) information which at the time of the disclosure is in the public domain, 
(l) information which after disclosure becomes generally available to the public 
by publication or otherwise through no fault of Buyer, (m) information which was 
available to Buyer on a non-confidential basis prior to its disclosure, (n) 
information independently developed by Buyer without the use of such 
information, (o) information which is or was made available by a Seller or a 
Company to a third party without similar restrictions, or (p) subject to Section 
6.5(b) below, information which is required by a court order, injunction, writ, 
law, rule or regulation to be disclosed. 
 
(b) Either party may furnish such information as is requested in connection with 
a subpoena, deposition, request for documents, civil investigation demand or 
similar process only after (i) promptly notifying the other party of the 
request, (ii) consulting with the other party on the advisability of taking 
steps to resist or narrow such request, and (iii) assisting the other party (at 
the other party's expense) in seeking a protective order or a then appropriate 
remedy. In the event that a protective order or other remedy is not obtained, or 
the other party waives compliance, the party may disclose only that portion of 
the information which such party's legal counsel advises that it is legally 
bound to disclose. 
 
(c) Except as otherwise required law or the rules of any securities exchange, 
any public announcement or any similar publicity with respect to this Agreement 
or the Contemplated Transactions will be issued, if at all, at such time and in 
such manner as the parties shall jointly agree. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
the parties acknowledge that Buyer and Sellers' Representative intend on making 
a joint public announcement shortly after the execution of this Agreement; 
provided, that such announcement will be in accordance with all Applicable Laws 
and jointly agreed to by Buyer and Sellers' Representative. 
 
Section 6.6.......Distributions. The Companies may distribute cash to Sellers 
before the Closing Date, but only if following the distribution the Companies 
continue to comply with the representations set forth in Section 4.8(d). Before 
the Companies make a distribution pursuant to this section, Sellers' 
Representative shall notify Buyer of the proposed distribution, and include in 
the notice his certificate confirming that after the distribution the Companies 
will continue to satisfy the representation in Section 4.8(d) as well as 
computations that confirm this compliance and any other supporting financial 
information that Buyer reasonably requests. The Companies shall not make a 
distribution until the parties resolve any disagreement with respect to the 
proposed distribution's compliance with this covenant. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Companies agree that they will cause a distribution of all of the 
partnership interests of Rekab Properties, Ltd. and Miramar Road Auto Center 
Properties owned by any Company to Sellers at least five (5) business days prior 
to the Closing. 
 
Section 6.7.......Delivery of Disclosure Letters. Sellers' Representative shall 
deliver the Sellers' Disclosure Letter, which shall be deemed a modification of 
Sellers' representations and warranties in Article IV within thirty (30) days 
from the date of this Agreement. Buyer shall deliver the Buyer's Disclosure 
Letter, which shall be deemed a modification of Buyer's representations and 
warranties in Article V within thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement. 
The party receiving the Disclosure Letter may, in its sole discretion, within 
ten (10) business days from its receipt of the Disclosure Letter, terminate this 
Agreement by notice to the party delivering such Disclosure Letter; provided, 
however, that the receiving party shall have an additional reasonable period of 
time to evaluate the offered Disclosure Letter to the extent that the receiving 
party has timely requested and is awaiting further information from the 
disclosing party with respect to an item set forth on the offered Disclosure 
Letter. During the thirty (30) day period following delivery of Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter, Buyer and Sellers' Representative will endeavor in good 
faith, and consistent with the intent set forth in Section 6.8, to agree upon 
which matter(s) disclosed in Sellers' Disclosure Letter shall be included on 
Schedule 9.1(d). If the parties are unable to agree, either Buyer or Sellers' 
Representative may terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 10.1(f) 



for a period of ten (10) days after the expiration of this thirty (30) day 
period. All other Schedules not expressly part of any party's Disclosure Letter 
shall be mutually agreed to by Buyer and Sellers' Representative at least five 
(5) business days prior to Closing. 
 
Section 6.8.......Supplements to Disclosure Letters. Sellers shall update the 
Sellers' Disclosure Letter and all schedules and exhibits thereto to include all 
information relevant to the disclosures therein which relates to events which 
have occurred after the date hereof and until the close of business on the day 
prior to the Closing Date and to amend or modify the disclosures made therein. 
Buyer shall likewise update the Buyer's Disclosure Letter and all schedules and 
exhibits thereto. Each of Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters and Buyer's 
Supplemental Disclosure Letters shall contain accurate, true, correct and 
complete information and data. During the thirty (30) day period following 
delivery of Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letter, Buyer and Sellers' 
Representative will endeavor in good faith, consistent with the intent set forth 
below, to agree upon which matter(s) disclosed in Sellers' Supplemental 
Disclosure Letter shall be included on Schedule 9.1(d). If the parties are 
unable to agree, either Buyer or Sellers' Representative may terminate this 
Agreement in accordance with Section 10.1(f) for a period of ten (10) days after 
the expiration of this thirty (30) day period; provided, however, that the 
receiving party shall have an additional reasonable period of time (not to 
exceed five (5) business days after receipt of the additionally requested 
information) to evaluate the offered Supplemental Disclosure Letter to the 
extent that the receiving party has timely requested and is awaiting further 
information from the disclosing party with respect to an item set forth on the 
offered Supplemental Disclosure Letter. It is the intent of the parties that 
Schedule 9.1(d) will list those matters (whether representing absolute or 
contingent liabilities) involving or otherwise related to the Business, any 
Company or any Dealership that have been identified on Seller's Disclosure 
Letters for which Buyer determines it will not assume responsibility as part of 
the Contemplated Transactions. It is further contemplated that the matters 
listed on Schedule 9.1(d) will not include the following: (a) trade or other 
liabilities of the Business incurred in the ordinary course of business 
(including obligations under real and personal property leases or the Contracts) 
for which an accrual on the Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP has 
been made (but liabilities and obligations in excess of such accrual will be 
part of that Schedule); provided, however, accruals shall only be required to 
the extent that such liability relates to the period prior to the Closing Date, 
(b) liabilities or obligations related to a Known Environmental Condition or 
Known Engineering Condition, and (c) liabilities or obligations with respect to 
litigation matters or other claims for which there is full and adequate 
insurance coverage (liabilities or obligations eventually not covered by such 
insurance or in excess of such insurance and deductible amounts for any such 
claims will be part of that Schedule). 
 
Section 6.9.......Releases. 
 
(a) Effective as of the Closing, except as to any accrued (for which there is an 
accrual on the financial statements consistent with GAAP) but unpaid employee 
benefits, wages or other compensation, rights to indemnification as a corporate 
officer, director or agent as provided under the charter documents of the 
Companies and California law and except as to their rights under this Agreement 
and any document or agreement delivered at the Closing and the duties and 
obligations of Buyer hereunder or thereunder, each Seller and each Seller 
Trustee, on behalf of himself, herself, itself, and his, her or its heirs, 
executors, administrators and assigns, hereby releases and forever discharges 
each of the Companies and its officers, directors, employees and shareholders 
(and each of their respective heirs, executors, administrators and assigns 
acting in such capacities) (collectively, the "Released Parties"), of and from 
any and all manner of action or actions, cause or causes of action, in law or in 
equity, suits, debts, Liens, contracts, agreements, promises, liabilities, 
claims, accounts, sums of money (except tax qualified retirement plan 
distributions), bonds, bills, demands, damages, losses, costs or expenses, 
whether direct or derivative, of any nature whatsoever, known or unknown, fixed 
or contingent, including, without limitation, any claim for indemnification or 
contribution, which each Seller and each Seller Trustee either now has or may 
hereafter have against any of the Companies or its officers, directors, 
employees and shareholders (and each of their respective successors, heirs, 
executors, administrators and assigns acting in such capacities), based on any 
actions, omissions, facts or circumstances as existed or exists on or prior to 
the date of this Agreement, from the beginning of time to the Closing Date 
(collectively, the "Released Claims"). 
 
(b) Each Seller and each Seller Trustee covenants that there has been no 
assignment or other transfer of any interest in any Released Claim which such 
Seller or Seller Trustee may have against any of the Companies. Each Seller and 
each Seller Trustee covenants and agrees that such Seller or Seller Trustee 
shall not commence, join in, or in any manner seek relief through any suit 
arising out of, based upon, or relating to any Released Claim released 
hereunder, or in any manner assert or cause or assist another to assert against 
any of the Companies, any Released Claim released hereunder. 
 
(c) Each Seller and each Seller Trustee acknowledges, represents, warrants and 
covenants that such Seller or Seller Trustee has had an adequate opportunity to 
determine all facts necessary to make a knowing release of all Released Claims 
released hereby and further represents, warrants and covenants that such Seller 
or Seller Trustee has executed this Agreement and release knowingly and without 
duress. Each Seller and each Seller Trustee further acknowledges, represents, 
warrants, and covenants that such Seller or Seller Trustee has retained such 
separate and independent legal counsel as such Seller or Seller Trustee deems 



appropriate to advise him in connection with the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, and that such Seller or Seller Trustee understands the terms and 
conditions hereof which have been reviewed with such Seller or Seller Trustee 
and explained by such legal counsel as such Seller or Seller Trustee deems 
appropriate. 
 
(d) In the event that any provision of this Section 6.9 is held invalid, 
unenforceable or void to any extent by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to 
allow enforcement of the maximum permissible duration and scope. In any event, 
such declaration shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Section 6.9, 
and this Section 6.9 shall be enforced as modified, or if no modification is 
enforceable, as if such invalid clause had not been included. 
 
(e) Each Seller and each Seller Trustee acknowledges and agrees that the 
releases made herein constitute final and complete releases of the Released 
Parties with respect to all Released Claims. Each Seller and each Seller Trustee 
expressly acknowledges and agrees that this general release is intended to 
include in its effect, without limitation, all Released Claims which such Seller 
or Seller Trustee does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the 
time hereof, and this general release contemplates the extinguishment of any and 
all such Released Claims. In this regard, each Seller and each Seller Trustee 
expressly waives the provisions of Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, 
which state: 
 
                   A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE 
                   CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT 
                   THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST 
                   HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR. 
 
Furthermore, except as herein provided, each Seller and each Seller Trustee 
hereby expressly waives and relinquishes any rights and benefits he or she may 
have under other statutes or common law principles of similar effect. Each 
Seller and each Seller Trustee understands that the facts under which he or she 
gives this full and complete release and discharge of the Released Parties may 
hereafter prove to be different than now known or believed by him or her and 
each Seller and each Seller Trustee hereby accepts and assumes the risk thereof 
and agrees that his or her full and complete release and discharge of the 
Released Parties shall remain effective in all respects and not be subject to 
termination, rescission or modification by reason of any such difference in 
facts. 
 
Section 6.10......Hart-Scott-Rodino. Buyer and Sellers shall prepare and file 
the appropriate Notification and Report Forms under the HSR Act with the FTC and 
the Antitrust Division, and respond to its respective filing as promptly as 
practicable (subject to Buyer's termination rights) to all inquires from the FTC 
or the Antitrust Division for additional information or documentation. 
Section 6.11......NYSE Listing Application. Acquirer shall have filed an 
application prior to or on the Closing Date to list the Acquirer Shares that 
constitute the Stock Consideration on the New York Stock Exchange. 
 
Section 6.12......Additional Tax Matters. 
 
(a) Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared the federal and any required 
state, local or foreign Returns for the Companies with respect to each Company's 
"S Short Year" (as defined in Section 1362(e)(1)(A) of the Code) and shall file 
or cause to be filed such Returns on behalf of the Companies; provided, however, 
that at least sixty (60) days prior to the filing of any Returns for the S Short 
Year, Sellers' Representative shall be provided with a draft of each such 
Return, whereupon Sellers' Representative shall be given an opportunity to 
review and comment on any such Return. No such Returns shall be filed without 
written approval by Sellers' Representative, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. Each such Return shall be prepared using 
accounting methods and other practices that are consistent with those used by 
each such Company in its prior Returns, and the tax liability related to such 
Return shall be Sellers' responsibility. 
 
(b) Buyer and Sellers agree that, so long as any books, records, and files 
retained by any Seller relating to the Business of any Company, or any books, 
records and files delivered to the control of Buyer relating to the operations 
of the Companies prior to the Closing Date, remain in existence and available, 
each party (at its expense) shall have the right upon reasonable prior notice to 
inspect and to make copies of the same at any time during business hours for any 
proper purpose. No claim for refund or amended Return shall be filed by any 
Company for a period ending on or prior to the Closing Date without the prior 
written approval of Buyer and Sellers' Representative which approvals shall not 
be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Sellers shall be responsible for any 
penalties, interest or increase in Taxes of the Companies attributable to 
periods prior to the Closing Date and for any penalties, interest or Taxes with 
respect to their personal income tax returns for all periods, and the Companies 
shall be responsible for any penalties, interest or increase in Taxes 
attributable to any periods beginning on or after the Closing Date. Each party 
agrees it will cooperate with the others and the Companies and their respective 
representatives, in a prompt and timely manner, in connection with the 
preparation and filing of, and any administrative or judicial proceedings 
involving, any Tax or Return filed or required to be filed by or for a Company 
for periods prior to the Closing Date. 
 
(c) Sellers and the Companies shall terminate, effective immediately prior to 
the Closing Date, any tax allocation, sharing, indemnity or similar agreement or 
arrangement in effect to which any Company is a party and such termination shall 



provide that there shall be no further liability of any Company or Buyer under 
any such agreement or arrangement. 
 
Section 6.13......Employees. Sellers and the Companies shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to encourage such personnel of each Company as Buyer may 
designate to remain employees of such Company after the Closing Date. Sellers 
and the Companies further agree not to take any action, or permit any action to 
be taken, to encourage any of the personnel of such Company to leave their 
positions with such Company except as expressly contemplated in this Agreement. 
Sellers shall promptly notify Buyer of the departure of any key employee listed 
on Schedule 6.13. 
 
Section 6.14......Audited Financial Statements. Sellers acknowledge that the 
Exchange Act and the regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act, as well as 
the SEC's other regulations and requirements governing Buyer as a reporting 
company, require preparation of audited financial statements of the Companies, 
on a consolidated basis, as part of the Contemplated Transactions. Sellers shall 
immediately, following the execution of this Agreement, engage Moss Adams LLP or 
another public accounting firm acceptable to Buyer (the "Sellers' Auditor"), on 
terms and conditions satisfactory to Buyer, to conduct (at Buyer's expense) a 
full audit of the Companies' financial statements, on a consolidated basis, as 
of and for the year ended December 31, 2001, in accordance with GAAP. Sellers 
will use their best efforts to cause this audit to be completed on or before the 
Closing Date, and in no event later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, 
and an unqualified audit opinion shall be issued by Sellers' Auditor to each 
Company upon completion. Sellers shall fully cooperate with Buyer and Sellers' 
Auditor to ensure that this audit is timely completed, including without 
limitation, executing such engagement letters and representation letters as 
requested by Sellers' Auditor. Sellers' Auditor, in its engagement, shall 
consent to the use of the audit reports for any filings required of Buyer by the 
SEC, any other Governmental Authority, or Buyer's lenders. 
 
Section 6.15......Funding of Retention Bonus Plan. Prior to the Closing, Buyer 
and Sellers' Representative will agree upon the form and content of a retention 
bonus plan pursuant to which the Companies will make payment to their employees 
retention bonuses aggregating no more than [Redacted] ("Retention Bonus"). The 
Companies shall adopt this Retention Bonus plan prior to the Closing. If the 
Estimated Net Book Value is less than or equal to [Redacted], Sellers' Retention 
Bonus obligation shall equal [Redacted]. If Estimated Net Book Value is greater 
than [Redacted], Sellers' portion of the Retention Bonus obligation shall equal 
[Redacted] less that amount by which the Estimated Net Book Value exceeds 
[Redacted]. At Closing, Sellers shall cause the Companies to set up a cash 
reserve equal to Sellers' portion of the Retention Bonus and such cash will be 
in addition to the Working Capital required under this Agreement. Buyer shall 
cause the Companies to pay the Retention Bonus pursuant to the retention plan 
described in this Section 6.15. 
 
Section 6.16......Third Party Engineering Reports. As soon as practicable 
following the date of this Agreement, Sellers and the Companies shall allow an 
engineering firm or firms selected by Buyer to have prompt access to the Owned 
Real Property and the Leased Real Property in order to conduct, an engineering 
assessment on the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property (the 
"Engineering Audit"). Sellers and the Companies shall provide to Buyer and the 
engineering firm reasonable access to all of the Companies (and their 
Affiliates') existing records concerning matters that are subject to the 
Engineering Audit, and reasonable access to employees of the Companies (and 
their Affiliates) and the last known addresses of former employees of the 
Companies (and their Affiliates) who are most familiar with the matters subject 
to the Engineering Audit. 
 
(a) Subject to this subsection and the other subsections of this Section 6.16 
below, Buyer shall bear 100% of the costs, fees and expenses incurred in 
conducting the Engineering Audit. However, if the Engineering Audit discloses a 
Known Engineering Condition (as defined below), then Sellers shall formulate a 
plan of Engineering Repair (as defined below), in accordance with Applicable 
Laws and such plan shall be approved by Buyer. Subject to Seller's termination 
rights in Section 10.1(d), the costs and expenses of the Engineering Repair of 
the Known Engineering Condition shall be borne solely by Sellers. A "Known 
Engineering Condition" is an item of repair or maintenance identified by the 
Engineering Audit that is: (i) deferred maintenance, (ii) necessary or 
appropriate to cure issues related to non-compliance of Applicable Laws, or 
(iii) necessary or appropriate to cure a condition of ordinary wear and tear 
that is reasonably likely to cause a risk to public safety or the ability to 
operate in the foreseeable future. "Engineering Repair" means, with respect to a 
Known Engineering Condition, the completion of the repair, maintenance or other 
required action identified in the Engineering Audit to Buyer's reasonable 
satisfaction and the taking of all other actions necessary to be in compliance 
in all respects with Applicable Laws. 
 
(b) Unless this Agreement is terminated, Sellers will cause the Engineering 
Repair of the Known Engineering Condition to be undertaken as promptly as 
possible by an engineering firm or firms and/or construction firm or firms 
reasonably satisfactory to Buyer in accordance with the plan of Engineering 
Repair so approved; provided, however, in the event it is reasonably anticipated 
that a Known Engineering Condition will be repaired or corrected by virtue of a 
currently planned refurbishment or remodeling of a portion of the Owned Real 
Property or Leased Real Property, then Sellers, with the reasonable approval of 
Buyer, may elect to defer the Engineering Repair associated with such Known 
Engineering Condition until the time of such refurbishment or remodeling, 
provided further, that such Engineering Repair shall remain at the sole cost of 
Sellers. If the Engineering Repair is to continue pursuant to the plan after the 



Closing Date, Sellers shall cause the Engineering Repair to be completed in 
accordance with the time frames set forth in the plan of Engineering Repair and 
in a manner that minimizes, to the maximum extent possible, the interference or 
disruption of the Business. 
 
(c) If the Agreement is terminated under Section 10.1(d) for the failure of the 
conditions set forth in Section 8.4, Sellers shall reimburse Buyer for the all 
fees, costs and expenses of the Engineering Audit, including the engagement of 
the engineering firm or firms. 
 
Section 6.17......Employment Arrangements. The Companies shall, prior to the 
Closing Date, terminate any employment and bonus arrangements with those Persons 
identified on Schedule 7.6, and (b) pay all accrued but unpaid compensation, 
wages, benefits or bonuses to such Persons; provided, however, that such Persons 
shall be entitled under his respective Employment Agreement to those numbers of 
vacation days set forth on Schedule 6.17 that have not been used prior to the 
Closing Date which represent planned vacation for the calendar year 2002. 
 
Section 6.18......Environmental Remediation Efforts. Immediately following the 
execution of this Agreement, Sellers and the Companies shall allow an 
environmental consulting firm or firms selected by Buyer to have prompt access 
to the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property in order to conduct an 
environmental investigation of the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real 
Property in accordance with the standards and procedures selected by Buyer and 
the environmental consulting firm or firms and otherwise satisfactory to Buyer 
in scope, with such scope being sufficient to result in a Phase I environmental 
audit report and a Phase II environmental audit report, if desired by Buyer (the 
environmental investigation is collectively, the "Environmental Audit"). The 
Environmental Audit may include, without limitation, drilling and soil borings 
at locations specified by the environmental consulting firm, collecting and 
analyzing samples of soil, groundwater, surface water, sediment or other media 
at, on, under or around the Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property, 
and sampling for the presence of Hazardous Materials. Sellers and the Companies 
shall provide to Buyer and the environmental consulting firm reasonable access 
to all of the Companies' (and their Affiliates') existing records concerning 
matters that are subject to the Environmental Audit, and reasonable access to 
employees of the Companies (and their Affiliates) and the last known addresses 
of former employees of the Companies who are most familiar with the matters 
which are subject to the Environmental Audit. 
 
(a) Subject to this subsection and the other subsections of this Section 6.18 
below, Buyer shall bear 100% of the costs, fees and expenses incurred in 
conducting the Environmental Audit. However, if the Environmental Audit 
discloses: (i) any contamination, pollution, degradation or impairment to the 
Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property (including all improvements, 
buildings and Systems on such property) or other assets of the Companies, or the 
existence of any Hazardous Material on-site or off-site that could materially 
affect any Leased Real Property (including any improvements, buildings and 
Systems on such property) or the other assets of the Companies, or (ii) a 
condition that violates (or is reasonably likely to violate), or otherwise 
imposes liability under, any Environmental Law (items (i) and (ii) are 
collectively, a "Known Environmental Condition"), then Sellers shall formulate a 
plan of Remediation (as defined below), in accordance with applicable 
Environmental Laws and such plan shall be approved by Buyer. Subject to Seller's 
termination rights in Section 10.1(d), the costs and expenses of the Remediation 
of the Known Environmental Condition shall be borne solely by Sellers. 
"Remediation" means, with respect to a given Known Environmental Condition, (1) 
the removal and elimination of such Known Environmental Condition to Buyer's 
reasonable satisfaction, (2) the taking of all acts reasonably necessary to be 
in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws, and (3) the 
obtaining of a final, nonappealable order of the appropriate Governmental 
Authority having jurisdiction that no further removal, remediation or other 
action with respect to such Known Environmental Condition is required. 
 
(b) Unless this Agreement is terminated, Sellers will cause the Remediation of 
the Known Environmental Condition to be undertaken as promptly as possible by an 
environmental firm reasonably satisfactory to Buyer in accordance with the plan 
of Remediation so approved. If the Remediation is to continue pursuant to the 
plan after the Closing Date, Sellers shall cause the Remediation to be completed 
in accordance with the time frames set forth in the plan of Remediation and in a 
manner that minimizes, to the maximum extent possible, the interference or 
disruption of the Business. 
 
(c) If the Agreement is terminated under Section 10.1(d) for the failure of the 
conditions set forth in Section 8.4, Sellers shall reimburse Buyer for the all 
fees, costs and expenses of the Environmental Audit, including the engagement of 
the environmental consulting firm. 
 
Section 6.19......338(h)(10) Election. Buyer shall not make an election under 
Section 338(h)(10) of the Code with respect to the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 6.20......Non-Disturbance and Subordination Agreements. Sellers shall 
use reasonable commercial efforts to obtain non-disturbance and subordination 
agreements from landlords and mortgagees of the unimproved Leased Real Property 
listed on Schedule 4.15(g), which recognize Buyer as lessee in the event of a 
foreclosure on any such Leased Real Property in a form substantially similar to 
that of Exhibit H. 
 
Section 6.21......Assignment by Acquirer. If Acquirer assigns this Agreement 
under Section 11.4, Acquirer covenants and agrees that it will continue to be 
obligated under this Agreement; provided, however, that Acquirer after such 



assignment will have no obligations under the Purchase Documents to which it is 
not a party. 
 
ARTICLE VII....... 
                             CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO 
                           BUYER'S OBLIGATION TO CLOSE 
 
         The obligation of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction, on or prior to the Closing Date, 
of each of the following conditions, any or all of which Buyer may waive in 
writing. 
 
Section 7.1.......No Material Adverse Change. During the period from the date of 
this Agreement to the Closing Date, there shall not have been any adverse change 
in the results of operations or financial condition of any Company or the 
Business that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on 
the Business as a whole. 
 
Section 7.2.......Representations and Warranties. The representations and 
warranties of the Company and each Seller set forth in this Agreement and the 
Purchase Documents shall be true and correct on the date of this Agreement 
(giving effect to Sellers' Disclosure Letter, but without giving effect to any 
Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters) and also as of the Closing Date as if 
made on and as of the Closing Date (giving effect to Seller's Disclosure Letter 
and any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters). 
 
Section 7.3.......Performance of Agreements. Each Company and Seller shall have 
performed and complied in all material respects with all of their covenants and 
agreements set forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents which are 
required to be performed or complied with on or prior to the Closing Date. 
 
Section 7.4.......No Actions, Etc. No action, suit, proceeding or investigation 
by or before any Governmental Authority shall have been instituted or 
threatened, the effect of which would restrain, prohibit or invalidate the 
Contemplated Transactions or affect the rights of Buyer to (a) own or control 
the Shares following the Closing, (b) to operate the Business consistent with 
past practices, or (c) have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
Section 7.5.......Due Diligence. Buyer shall have completed its due diligence 
review of the Companies, the Dealerships and the Business, and the results of 
this review shall not have resulted in the discovery of a Material Due Diligence 
Adjustment. For purposes of this Section 7.5, "Material Due Diligence 
Adjustment" means a discovery during Buyer's due diligence that alone or in the 
aggregate with other discoveries or known facts, in Buyer's reasonable 
discretion: (i) would cause the consolidated EBITDA for the Companies for any 
historical or prospective fiscal year to be reduced to less than [Redacted], or 
(ii) would if realized affect (or could potentially affect), the tangible net 
book value of the Companies as of May 31, 2001 or the Closing Date by an amount 
that exceeds [Redacted] of the Target Net Book Value. 
 
Section 7.6.......Shareholder Agreement; Employment Agreements. Each Seller 
shall have executed the Shareholder Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit C. 
Each Person listed on Schedule 7.6 shall have executed an Employment Agreement 
in the form attached as Exhibit E. 
 
Section 7.7.......Noncompetition Agreements. Each Seller and each Seller Trustee 
shall have executed a Noncompetition Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit 
F, in which each Seller and each Seller Trustee agrees not to compete with 
Buyer. 
 
Section 7.8.......Estoppel Certificates, Subordination & Non-Disturbance 
Agreements. Buyer shall have received a landlord estoppel certificate from each 
owner-landlord and sub-landlord on the Leased Real Property confirming the 
material terms of the applicable lease or sublease that the applicable lease or 
sublease is in full force and effect, which landlord estoppel certificate shall 
be in substantially the form of Exhibit G. Buyer shall also have received 
non-disturbance and subordination agreements from any mortgagees or owners of 
unimproved Leased Real Property listed on Schedule 4.15(g) of Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter agreeing to recognize Buyer as lessee in the event of a 
foreclosure on any Leased Real Property and to make available insurance proceeds 
to Buyer, as lessee, for the restoration of premises subject to any lease 
agreements related to the Leased Real Property, which non-disturbance and 
subordination agreement shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit H. 
Consistent with Section 6.20, Sellers shall use reasonable commercial efforts to 
obtain such non-disturbance and subordination agreements from landlords and 
mortgagees of the unimproved Leased Real Property listed on Schedule 4.15(g). 
 
Section 7.9.......Leases. Buyer shall have received executed copies of those 
real estate leases attached to this Agreement as Exhibit I with respect to the 
Leased Real Property to be leased by Acquirer directly from the owner-affiliate 
of a Seller ("Affiliate Leases"). In addition, Buyer shall have received an 
assignment of real estate lease or a sublease in the form to be agreed upon as 
Schedule 7.9, accompanied by the owner-landlord's consent, with respect to the 
Leased Real Property set forth on Schedule 7.9. 
 
Section 7.10......Title Insurance Policies. Buyer shall have received, at 
Buyer's sole cost and expense, from a nationally recognized title insurance 
company satisfactory to the Buyer (the "Title Company"), a leasehold title 
insurance policy, issued as of the Closing Date to Buyer, with respect to each 
parcel of Leased Real Property, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer, 
together with endorsements reasonably requested by Buyer, in an amount 



determined by Buyer, and showing Buyer, through ownership of the respective 
Company tenant, to have a valid leasehold estate in such Leased Real Property, 
free and clear of all Liens. Sellers shall have also delivered to the Title 
Company any affidavits or indemnities required by the Title Company in 
connection with the delivery of such policies. 
 
Section 7.11......Manufacturers' Approval. Buyer shall have obtained the 
approval of the Manufacturers to the transfer of the franchises to Buyer without 
additional terms or conditions, including, without limitation, any Manufacturer 
term or condition requiring Buyer to make capital expenditures or facility 
improvements that are not otherwise consistent with those working capital 
requirements in place at each Dealership as of the date of this Agreement; and 
approval of the Manufacturers of a restructuring of the Company's floor plan 
financing arrangements for Buyer's benefit. 
 
Section 7.12......No Legal Obligation. The waiting period under the HSR Act, if 
applicable, shall have expired or been terminated. Buyer shall have obtained all 
required approvals of any Governmental Authority in connection with the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. No action, suit, proceeding, 
litigation or investigation shall have been commenced by any Governmental 
Authority that questions the validity of this Agreement or the Purchase 
Documents or any action taken or to be taken in connection herewith or the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. No injunction or other order 
issued by a court of competent jurisdiction restraining or prohibiting the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions shall be in effect. 
 
Section 7.13......Tax Certificate. Each Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a 
duly executed certificate in the form specified by Treasury Regulation Section 
1.1445-2(b)(2). 
 
Section 7.14......Environmental Matters. An engineering firm selected or 
approved by Buyer shall have completed such environmental studies of all real 
property occupied by the Companies as Buyer shall, in its sole discretion, deem 
necessary or appropriate, and, Buyer shall, in its reasonable discretion, be 
satisfied with the results of the studies. 
 
Section 7.15......Consents of Third Parties. Buyer shall have received, in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, all consents of third parties 
required to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 7.16......Release of Obligations Related to Non-Company Indebtedness. 
Buyer shall have received evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer that each 
Company has been released from any cross-default, cross-collateralization, 
cross-guarantee, or other obligation relating to non-Company indebtedness, and 
such release has not resulted in the imposition of any term, condition, 
obligation or arrangement which may have an adverse effect on any Company, any 
Dealership or the Business. 
 
Section 7.17......Increase in Stock Price. The Closing Stock Price shall not be 
greater than the Ceiling Stock Price. 
 
Section 7.18......Existing Financing. Buyer shall be satisfied, in its 
reasonable discretion, that the existing floor plan financing and other credit 
facilities of each Company may at Buyer's election survive the Closing, or as 
part of the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, be refinanced, in 
each case without having a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
Section 7.19......Audit. Buyer shall be satisfied, in its sole discretion, that 
the audit contemplated in Section 6.14 is on schedule to be completed in the 
time frame provided and that following completion of the audit, the auditors 
will issue an unqualified audit opinion. 
 
Section 7.20......Voting Agreements; Related Party Agreement. Each voting trust, 
proxy or other agreement or understanding listed on Schedule 4.4 of Sellers' 
Disclosure Letter and each Related Party Agreement that Buyer requests be 
terminated has been terminated on or before the Closing Date, and that this 
termination will not result in the imposition of any term, condition, obligation 
or arrangement that will adversely affect a Company, a Dealership, or the 
Business. 
 
Section 7.21......Other Schedules. Buyer shall be satisfied with all other 
Schedules to this Agreement not otherwise part of its or Sellers' Disclosure 
Letter or any of its or Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters. 
 
Section 7.22......Deliveries. All documents required to be delivered by Sellers 
or the Companies at or prior to the Closing, including, without limitation, 
those required by Section 3.2 and not otherwise referenced above, and any other 
documents that Buyer reasonably requests, shall have been delivered to Buyer at 
the Closing. 
 
ARTICLE VIII...... 
                             CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO 
                          SELLERS' OBLIGATION TO CLOSE 
 
         The obligation of each Seller to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction, on or prior to 
the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions, any or all of which the 
Sellers' Representative may waive in writing. 
 
Section 8.1.......Representations and Warranties. The representations and 
warranties of the Buyer set forth in this Agreement and the Purchase Documents 



shall be true and correct on the date of this Agreement (giving effect to 
Buyer's Disclosure Letter, but without giving effect to any Buyer's Supplemental 
Disclosure Letter) and as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the 
Closing Date (giving effect to any Buyer's Disclosure Letter and Buyer's 
Supplemental Disclosure Letters). 
 
Section 8.2.......Performance of Agreements. Buyer shall have performed and 
complied with all of its covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement 
and the Purchase Documents which are required to be performed or complied with 
on or prior to the Closing Date. 
 
Section 8.3.......No Actions, Etc. No action, suit, proceeding or investigation 
by or before any Governmental Authority shall have been instituted or 
threatened, the effect of which would restrain, prohibit or invalidate the 
Contemplated Transactions or affect the rights of Buyer to (a) own or control 
the Shares following the Closing, (b) to operate the Business, or (c) have an 
adverse effect on the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
Section 8.4.......Obligations of Sellers. If the obligations of Sellers with 
respect to those matters under Sections 6.16 and 6.18 and those matters set 
forth on Schedule 9.1(d) could reasonably be expected to cost in the aggregate 
more than [Redacted], Buyer (in the exercise of its sole discretion) must have 
agreed to assume responsibility for such excess amounts. 
 
Section 8.5.......Decrease in Stock Price. The Closing Stock Price shall not be 
less than the Floor Stock Price. 
 
Section 8.6.......Other Schedules. Seller shall be satisfied with all other 
Schedules to this Agreement not otherwise part of its or Buyer's Disclosure 
Letter, any Buyer's Supplemental Disclosure Letters, Sellers' Disclosure Letter, 
and any Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters. 
 
Section 8.7.......Deliveries. All documents required to be delivered by Buyer at 
or prior to the Closing, including, without limitation, those required by 
Section 3.3, shall have been delivered to Sellers at the Closing. 
 
ARTICLE IX........ 
                                 INDEMNIFICATION 
 
Section 9.1.......Sellers' Indemnification. Sellers jointly and severally agree 
(subject to the limitations in Section 9.6) to defend, indemnify, and hold 
Buyer, each Company, their Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, 
employees, agents, and their respective successors and assigns ("Seller 
Indemnitees") harmless against any and all Damages incurred or sustained by any 
Seller Indemnitees arising out of, or in connection with, any of the following: 
 
(a) the breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of Sellers 
contained in Article IV or the Purchase Documents, as if the representations or 
warranties were made on the date of this Agreement; 
 
(b) the breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of Sellers 
contained in Article IV or the Purchase Documents, or any certificate or 
document delivered by any Seller or Company at the Closing as if such 
representation or warranty were made on and as of the Closing Date; 
 
(c) the breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation of any Company or any 
Seller contained in this Agreement or the Purchase Documents that has not been 
waived in writing prior to Closing that is not cured within ten (10) days after 
notice of such breach; 
 
(d) the matter(s) set forth and identified on Schedule 9.1(d); 
 
(e) any failure of any Seller to convey to Buyer good and marketable title to 
the Shares, free and clear of all Liens or any other arrangements that limit the 
Buyer's dividend, liquidating, voting or transfer rights with respect to the 
Shares; or 
 
(f) all Taxes (including without limitation any Taxes imposed by Section 1374 of 
the Code) that have become due and payable during, or which have accrued with 
respect to any Company attributable to any period included in the Tax 
Indemnification Period that have not been paid prior to the Closing Date or 
reserved for on the Closing Date Balance Sheet. Any Taxes attributable to any 
Company payable as a result of an audit or adjustment of any Return shall be 
deemed to have accrued in the period to which such Taxes are attributable. 
 
         For purposes of determining Sellers' liability with respect to a 
covenant of indemnification in Sections 9.1(a) and (b), the representations and 
warranties will read as if any qualifier, modification or limitation within such 
representation or warranty related to "material", "materiality" or "Material 
Adverse Effect" is deleted and such qualifier, modification or limitation will 
have no force or effect in determining whether there is a breach of such 
representation or warranty. Further, Sellers liability with respect to Section 
9.1(a) shall be determined without consideration of, or giving effect to, any of 
Sellers' Supplemental Disclosure Letters. Sellers also acknowledge and agree 
that the covenants of indemnification in Sections 9.1(c)-(f) above shall not be 
limited or qualified by any Seller's representations and warranties in this 
Agreement or by any disclosures made by Sellers in any Schedule attached to this 
Agreement. The indemnification contemplated by this Section 9.1 shall in the 
first instance be satisfied in the manner provided in the Escrow Agreement and, 
the Seller Indemnitees shall first proceed against the amounts held in escrow up 
to the full amount thereof, provided that notice provided under the Escrow 



Agreement shall also constitute notice hereunder. Further, any amounts subject 
to a Purchase Price adjustment pursuant to Section 2.2 for which Buyer has 
received the benefit of such adjustment shall not be subject to a claim for 
indemnification under this Section 9.1. 
 
Section 9.2.......Buyer's Indemnification. Subject to the limitation in Section 
9.7, Buyer shall defend, indemnify, and hold Sellers and their respective 
agents, successors, representatives and assigns ("Buyer Indemnitees") harmless 
against any and all Damages incurred or sustained by any Buyer Indemnitees 
relating to, arising out of, or in connection with, (a) any breach of any 
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of Buyer contained in this 
Agreement or the Purchase Documents, as if the representations or warranties 
were made on the date of this Agreement (subject to the exceptions set forth in 
Buyer's Disclosure Letter, but without giving effect to any Buyer's Supplemental 
Disclosure Letter); (b) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or 
warranty of Buyer contained in this Agreement or the Purchase Documents, or any 
certificate or document delivered by Buyer at the Closing (giving effect to 
Buyer's Disclosure Letter and/or any Supplemental Disclosure Letters); and (c) 
any Damages relating to those certain guarantees of the Leased Real Property as 
set forth on Schedule 9.2. 
 
Section 9.3.......Third Party Claims; Litigation. 
 
                  (a) A Person seeking indemnification pursuant to Article IX 
         ("Indemnified Party") shall, promptly after receipt of notice of the 
         commencement or threat of any action or proceeding against such Person 
         in respect of which indemnification may be sought hereunder (a 
         "Claim"), notify the party from whom such indemnification is sought 
         ("Indemnifying Party") in writing of the commencement or threat of such 
         Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the right to indemnification 
         under this Agreement will not be affected by the failure of the 
         Indemnified Party to give any notice (or the delay by the Indemnified 
         Party to give any notice) unless, and then only to the extent that, the 
         rights and remedies of the Indemnifying Party have been materially 
         prejudiced because of the failure to give, or the delay in giving, the 
         notice. 
 
                  (b) In the event of the commencement of any such action or 
         proceeding as to which the Indemnified Party notifies the Indemnifying 
         Party, the Indemnifying Party will be entitled to participate therein 
         and to assume the defense thereof at Indemnifying Party's expense (with 
         counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, so long as it 
         promptly notifies the Indemnified Party of its election and 
         acknowledges the Indemnifying Party's obligations under Article IX; 
         provided, however, that the Indemnified Party may elect to retain 
         control of the defense, at the Indemnifying Party's expense (with 
         counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnifying Party) if: (i) the 
         Indemnifying Party's interest conflicts with the interests of the 
         Indemnified Party, (ii) the relief sought exceeds the limitation on 
         liability under Section 9.6(g), or (ii) the Indemnified Party has 
         determined in good faith that there is not a reasonable probability 
         that the Claim may adversely affect the Indemnified Party or any of its 
         Affiliates other than as a result of monetary damages (e.g., goodwill 
         or reputation with a manufacturer or other important relationship) for 
         which indemnification is provided under this Agreement. The Indemnified 
         Party may also defend a Claim at the Indemnifying Party's expense (with 
         counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnifying Party) if the 
         Indemnifying Party fails to assume the Claim's defense within twenty 
         (20) days after being notified of the Claim. Nothing herein shall be 
         construed to give any insurance carrier a right of subrogation for 
         claims paid except as such right would otherwise exist in the absence 
         of this Section 9.3. Further, nothing herein shall be construed to 
         create any rights enforceable by any person not a party to this 
         Agreement (other than a Seller Indemnitee or Buyer Indemnitee). 
 
                  (c) If the Indemnifying Party is assuming the control of the 
         defense pursuant to (b) above, the Indemnified Party shall have the 
         right to employ separate counsel (which counsel is reasonably 
         satisfactory to the Indemnifying Party) in such action or proceeding 
         and to participate in the defense or conduct thereof, but the fees and 
         expenses of such counsel shall not be at the expense of the 
         Indemnifying Party. 
 
                  (d) As to cases in which the Indemnifying Party has assumed 
         and is providing the defense for the Indemnified Party, the control of 
         such defense and the right to reach settlement in such action or 
         proceeding shall be vested in the Indemnifying Party, subject to the 
         following: 
 
                  (i) If the Indemnified Party objects to a settlement which has 
         otherwise been fully agreed to by the Indemnifying Party, the 
         Indemnified Party may nevertheless prohibit the Indemnifying Party from 
         making such settlement, in which case the Indemnifying Party shall pay 
         to the Indemnified Party the proposed cost to the Indemnifying Party of 
         such settlement (plus any other sum to satisfy the Indemnifying Party's 
         indemnification obligations to the Indemnified Party as provided by and 
         contemplated in this section (together, the "Settlement Cost"), in 
         cash, and the Indemnified Party shall thereafter be responsible for 
         such matter and the Indemnifying Party shall have no further 
         indemnification obligations with respect to such matter and shall be 
         indemnified by the Indemnified Party for any loss or liability in 



         excess of the Settlement Cost imposed on the Indemnifying Party by any 
         later settlement or adjudication. 
 
                  (ii) If the Indemnified Party objects to the continuation of 
         any proceeding or action by the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified 
         Party may direct the Indemnifying Party to settle such case, the cost 
         of which shall be paid by the Indemnified Party, and the 
         indemnification obligations of the Indemnifying Party with respect to 
         Settlement Costs will be subject to resolution under Section 10.3 
         (including whether the amount of the agreed settlement was reasonable 
         in light of the Claim). 
 
                  (iii) In no event may the Indemnifying Party settle a Claim or 
         consent to an entry of judgment without the Indemnified Party's consent 
         that does not include as an unconditional term the giving by the 
         claimant of a release of the Indemnified Party from all liability for 
         Damages in respect of the Claim. 
 
                  (e) If the Indemnifying Party has not assumed the defense (for 
         any reason) of any such Claim by a third party or litigation resulting 
         therefrom, the Indemnified Party may defend against such Claim in such 
         manner as it may deem appropriate and may settle such Claim on such 
         terms as it may deem appropriate; provided, however, that if the 
         Seller's Representative objects to a settlement which has otherwise 
         been fully agreed to by the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party 
         may nevertheless prohibit the Indemnified Party from making such 
         settlement, so long as: (i) the Indemnifying Party irrevocably 
         acknowledges its obligations under this Article IX with respect to such 
         Claim, and (ii) the Indemnifying Party furnishes evidence satisfactory 
         to the Indemnified Party of the financial ability to so indemnify. 
 
                   (f) The party controlling the defense of any claim shall 
update the other party on a regular basis regarding the status of the proceeding 
or litigation, costs incurred to date, the status of settlement or other 
negotiations and other matters reasonably requested by the party not in control 
of the defense. 
 
Section 9.4.......Payment of Indemnified Obligations. In the event that any 
party becomes liable to any other party hereunder for an indemnified obligation, 
the indemnified obligation shall be paid in full not later than the earlier of: 
(a) thirty (30) days after receipt of written demand of payment, or (b) if the 
Escrow Agreement is still in effect, thirty (30) days after the conclusion of 
the Notice of Resolution or an Award is provided under the Escrow Agreement. If 
not paid within said thirty (30) day period, the amount due shall thereafter 
bear interest at the "prime rate" of interest (base rate on corporate loans at 
the nation's thirty (30) largest banks), quoted in the "Money Rates" column of 
the Money & Investing Section of The Wall Street Journal as of the expiration of 
such thirty (30) day period, plus two percent (2%). 
 
Section 9.5.......Buyer's Right of Offset. In the event that a Seller fails to 
pay or otherwise discharge an indemnified obligation within the thirty (30) day 
time limit set forth in Article IX, and for any matter challenged pursuant to 
Section 10.3 after the final resolution of that dispute, Buyer shall have the 
right, subject to the Escrow Agreement, to offset the amount of any such 
indemnified obligation against the Escrow Amount (prorated between the Escrowed 
Acquirer Shares and the Escrowed Cash) or any other amounts which may be due to 
such Seller from Buyer; provided, however, Buyer shall not set-off any such 
amounts against any Sellers' salary, draw, bonus or other compensation. If the 
Escrow Amount is insufficient to discharge the indemnified obligations, Buyer 
may take any action or exercise any remedy available pursuant to applicable law 
or this Agreement to collect the indemnified obligations. The value of any 
Escrowed Acquirer Shares used to satisfy an indemnified obligation shall be 
determined by the greater of the Acquirer Stock Price or the closing price of 
the shares on the date of offset. 
 
Section 9.6.......Limitation on Indemnification by Sellers. The indemnification 
of the Seller Indemnitees provided for under Section 9.6 shall be limited in 
certain respects as follows: 
 
(a)    Sellers shall not be liable to Seller Indemnitees for 
       indemnification claims under paragraphs (a) or (b) of Section 
       9.1 and under paragraph (c) of Section 9.1 (but only to the 
       extent of a breach of covenants contained in Section 6.2) 
       until the aggregate amount of such indemnification claims 
       exceeds (and only with respect to such excess) [Redacted] in 
       the aggregate in the excess of any insurance proceeds actually 
       received (the "Indemnification Threshold"); provided, however, 
       that the following claims for indemnification with respect to 
       a breach of a representation or warranty shall not be subject 
       to the Indemnification Threshold: (i) of any Seller in 
       Sections 4.1 (Organization and Good Standing), 4.2 
       (Authority), 4.3 (No Conflict), 4.4 (Ownership of Capital 
       Stock), 4.8(d) (Working Capital Levels) and Section 4.17 
       (Environmental Matters) (except claims related to Section 4.17 
       will be subject to the Environmental Indemnification Threshold 
       set forth below), (ii) with respect to a Tax Warranty, or 
       (iii) as a result of fraud of any Company or Seller. 
 
(b)    Sellers shall not be liable to Seller Indemnitees for 
       indemnification claims under paragraphs (a) or (b) of Section 
       9.1 for a breach of a representation or warranty under Section 



       4.17 (Environmental Matters) until the aggregate amount of 
       such indemnification claims exceeds (and only with respect to 
       such excess) One Hundred Thousand Dollars [Redacted] in the 
       aggregate in excess of any insurance proceeds actually 
       received (the "Environmental Indemnification Threshold"). Any 
       amount applicable to the Environmental Indemnification 
       Threshold shall also be deemed amounts applicable to the 
       Indemnification Threshold and operate to reduce amounts 
       available under the Indemnification Threshold on a dollar for 
       dollar basis. 
 
(c)    Seller shall not be liable to Seller Indemnitees for 
       indemnification claims under Section 9.1(f) for federal or 
       state income taxes assessed by the applicable Governmental 
       Authority against the Company resulting from the matter listed 
       on Schedule 9.6(c) until the aggregate amount of such 
       indemnification claims exceeds (and only with respect to such 
       excess) [Redacted] (the "Tax Indemnification Threshold"). 
 
          (i)  The Tax Indemnification Threshold will be increased by one dollar 
               for each  dollar (if any) that the  Closing  Net Book Value is in 
               excess of [Redacted]. 
 
          (ii) Further, the Tax Indemnification  Threshold shall be increased by 
               an amount equal to  [Redacted]  of the amount paid by Acquirer or 
               its Affiliate for goodwill in any Tuck-In Acquisition. A "Tuck-In 
               --------  Acquisition"  is the  consummation of an acquisition by 
               Acquirer or its  Affiliate of a business  -----------  similar to 
               any  Dealership or the Business  within the State of Nevada,  the 
               State of Arizona, San Diego County,  California,  or a fifty (50) 
               mile radius  from the  borders of San Diego  County for which the 
               Majority  Shareholder was the procuring  cause, if the definitive 
               agreement  underlying that Tuck-In Acquisition is executed by all 
               parties  to such  agreement  on or before the date which is three 
               (3) years after the Closing Date. 
 
               (d) Except for the Majority Shareholder,  each Seller's liability 
               for  indemnification  obligations under Section 9.1(a),  (b), (c) 
               and (f)  not  arising  from  fraud  is  limited  to the  Seller's 
               Applicable  Percentage of the Escrowed  Amount.  Sellers shall be 
               jointly and severally liable for the indemnification  obligations 
               under Section  9.1(c) and for matters  related to fraud,  subject 
               only to any of the applicable limitations in this Section 9.6. 
 
(e)     Any claim for indemnification by the Seller Indemnitees under 
        paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) of Section 9.1 or with respect to a 
        covenant to be performed by a Seller on or before the Closing 
        Date must be made within four (4) years of the Closing Date, 
        except that (i) there will be no limits on the time for making 
        a claim for indemnification relating to the representations 
        and warranties contained in Section 4.1 (Organization and Good 
        Standing), Section 4.2 (Authority), Section 4.3 (No Conflict), 
        and Section 4.4 (Ownership of Capital Stock); (ii) a claim for 
        indemnification relating to the representations and warranties 
        in Section 4.17 (Environmental Matters) with respect to 
        matters pertaining to premises or property that is not a part 
        of the Owned Real Property or the Leased Real Property 
        (including without limitation matters relating to the storage, 
        release or disposal of any Hazardous Materials on property 
        other than the Leased Real Property), or representations and 
        warranties contained in Section 4.14 (Employee Benefit Plans), 
        and Section 4.20 (Taxes) may be made until sixty (60) days 
        after the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations 
        (including extensions) governing claims by the applicable 
        Governmental Authority or Person with respect to the subject 
        matter of such claim, and if there is no applicable statute of 
        limitations, indefinitely; (iii) a claim for indemnification 
        for fraud of any Company or any Seller shall be made prior to 
        the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations for 
        fraud claims; and (iv) a claim for indemnification under 
        Section 4.8(d) must be made within six (6) months of the 
        Closing Date. 
 
(f)     Notwithstanding the foregoing provision of this Article IX, 
        Sellers will have no obligations under paragraphs (a) or (b) 
        of Section 9.1 with respect to an indemnification claim if the 
        Damages represented by that claim are less than $2,500. When 
        the aggregate amount of Damages for claims so excluded by 
        virtue of this paragraph (f) exceed in the aggregate $50,000, 
        any amounts which otherwise would be excluded under this 
        paragraph shall not be counted towards and shall reduce the 
        Indemnification Threshold or the Environmental Indemnification 
        Threshold. 
 
(g)     Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no 
        Seller shall be required to indemnify a Seller Indemnitee for 
        any Damages incurred or paid by such Seller Indemnitee in 
        connection with the condition of the improvements, buildings 
        or the Systems located upon the Owned Real Property or the 
        Leased Real Property; provided, however, that Sellers shall 
        continue to be obligated (subject to the terms of Article IX) 



        for indemnification claims for Damages in connection with (i) 
        such condition that relates to a claim by a Person other than 
        a Seller Indemnitee or a Governmental Authority, and (ii) the 
        obligations set forth in Section 6.16. 
 
(h)     Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no 
        Seller shall be required to indemnify a Seller Indemnitee for 
        any Damages with respect to the Owned Real Property or the 
        Leased Real Property incurred or paid by such Seller 
        Indemnitee in connection with a Known Environmental Condition; 
        provided, however, that Sellers shall continue to be obligated 
        (subject to the terms of Article IX) for indemnification 
        claims for Damages in connection with (i) a Known 
        Environmental Condition that relates to a claim by a Person 
        other than a Seller Indemnitee or a Governmental Authority, 
        and (ii) the obligations set forth in Section 6.18. 
 
(i)     Except for any claim for indemnification related to Sections 
        6.16, 6.18 or 9.1(f), any Tax Warranty, or fraud to which the 
        provisions of this paragraph (g) shall not apply or limit in 
        any way, the aggregate amount payable by the Majority 
        Shareholder pursuant to Section 9.1 shall not exceed 
        [Redacted]. 
 
Section 9.7.......Limitation on Indemnification of Buyer Indemnitees. Buyer 
shall not be liable to Buyer Indemnitees for indemnification claims under 
Section 9.2 until the aggregate amount of such indemnification claims exceeds 
(and only with respect to such excess) the Indemnification Threshold. Any claim 
for indemnification by the Buyer Indemnitees under Section 9.2 or with respect 
to a covenant to be performed by Buyer on or before the Closing Date must be 
made within three (3) years of the Closing Date, except that (i) there will be 
no limits on the time for making a claim for indemnification relating to the 
representations and warranties contained in Section 5.1 (Organization and Good 
Standing) and Section 5.2 (Due Authorization), and (ii) any claim for 
indemnification relating to Section 5.4 (Acquirer SEC Reports) or fraud shall be 
made prior to the expiration of the then applicable statute of limitations. 
 
Section 9.8.......Net Indemnity Payments. Any amounts payable under Sections 
9.1, 9.2 or 9.8 shall be net of any insurance proceeds actually received by the 
Indemnified Party (less the costs, expenses and fees incurred in obtaining such 
proceeds). Each of the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party shall, 
promptly after receiving notice of a Claim, concurrently with and as a condition 
to seeking indemnification under this Agreement, also make a claim under any 
insurance policy maintained by the party or its Affiliate that might provide 
coverage for the Claim. To the extent that insurance coverage is available to 
the Indemnified Party to cover any Claim, the Indemnified Party shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts (which efforts do not require the Indemnified 
Party to institute litigation, except as specifically provided below) and 
proceed on a good faith and timely basis to seek to recover such amounts as may 
be available for a period of 90 days and shall only be entitled to seek 
indemnification against the Indemnifying Party if the insurance recovery is not 
paid within 90 days after the insurance claim is first made or coverage is 
denied or is insufficient to satisfy the Claim. To the extent that an 
Indemnifying Party indemnifies Indemnified Party for any Claim, the Indemnified 
Party shall to the extent applicable, (i) pay to the Indemnifying Party the 
amount received from the insurance company or any other third party (less the 
costs, expenses and fees incurred in obtaining such proceeds), up to the amount 
paid to the Indemnified Party by the Indemnifying Party; and assign to the 
Indemnifying Party, to the extent possible, its claims against the insurance 
company or other third party. If any such insurance or third party claim is not 
assignable to the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party shall commence 
litigation on behalf of the Indemnifying Party, provided that (i) the 
Indemnifying Party advances all costs, expenses and fees associated with the 
litigation of the claim and (ii) the Indemnified Party is satisfied that there 
is a reasonable basis for the claim to be successful, as reasonably determined 
by the Indemnified Party's legal counsel. Any amounts payable under Sections 9.1 
or 9.2 shall be treated by Buyer and Sellers as an adjustment to the Purchase 
Price. 
 
Section 9.9.......Tax Controversies. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in Section 9.3 of this Agreement, Buyer shall have full responsibility 
for and discretion in handling any Tax controversy concerning the Companies, 
including, without limitation, an audit, a protest to the Appeals Division of 
the IRS, and litigation in Tax Court or any other court of competent 
jurisdiction involving the Companies. Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to keep 
the Sellers' Representative advised as to the status of Tax audits and 
litigation involving any Taxes which could give rise to a liability of the 
Sellers to Buyer under this Agreement (a "Tax Liability Issue"), and Sellers' 
Representative shall have the right to participate, at his expense, in any such 
audits and litigation that could give rise to a liability of any Seller. 
 
 
         However, with respect to Tax Liability Issues involving that matter set 
forth on Schedule 9.6(c), Buyer and Sellers' Representative will undertake a 
joint response to the proceeding, audit or litigation (if any), and each party 
shall cooperate in any defense or prosecution of the same, and no party will 
agree to any settlement or compromise of such proceeding, audit or litigation 
(if any) without the written approval of the other (which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed). To the extent a party desires to engage third 
party professionals to assist in any such defense or prosecution, the costs 
incurred in that engagement will be borne by the engaging party. Neither party 



will work to disadvantage the other party in any proceeding, audit or litigation 
related to a Tax Liability Issue involving the matter set forth on Schedule 
9.6(c). 
 
 
         In addition, and notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this 
Section 9.9, to the extent that a Tax Liability Issue (as determined by Buyer in 
its reasonable discretion): (i) relates solely to a pre-closing period, and (ii) 
is a matter that has no potential, precedential policy or other adverse effect 
on any post-Closing Tax matter, Sellers shall have full responsibility for and 
discretion in handling any Tax controversy concerning such Tax Liability Issue; 
provided, however, Sellers shall use reasonable efforts to keep Buyer advised as 
to the status of such issue, and Buyer shall have the right to participate, at 
its expense, in the resolution of such Tax Liability Issue. 
 
ARTICLE X......... 
                       TERMINATION; EFFECT OF TERMINATION; 
                         ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
Section 10.1......Grounds for Termination. This Agreement may not be terminated 
at any time prior to the Closing Date, except termination may occur: 
 
(a) by written notice if the consent of any Manufacturer required by Section 
7.11 is not received within one hundred fifty (150) days after the date of this 
Agreement, provided, that the terminating party has in good faith used 
reasonable efforts to obtain the consent, 
 
(b) by either Buyer or Sellers' Representative, if the Closing shall not have 
occurred prior to February 28, 2003 for any reason, provided that the 
terminating party is not in breach of any representation, warranty or covenant 
of this Agreement (and that there is no event that with the lapse of time or 
notice would constitute such a breach), 
 
(c) by the non-breaching party upon the material breach of a representation or 
warranty set forth in this Agreement, the Purchase Documents or both, which 
breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice of such 
breach by the breaching party, 
 
(d) by Sellers' Representative, if any condition precedent in Article VIII is 
not waived or satisfied as of the Closing Date or at any time if satisfaction of 
a condition precedent is precluded, in each case without fault of a Seller or a 
Company, 
 
(e) by Buyer if any condition precedent in Article VII is not waived or 
satisfied as of the Closing Date or at any time if satisfaction of a condition 
precedent is precluded, in each case without fault of Buyer, 
 
(f) by Buyer or Seller's Representative pursuant to Sections 1.4, 6.7, 6.8 or 
6.18, 
 
(g) by written notice prior to September 30, 2002, if Acquirer does not receive, 
within fifteen (15) days after the execution of this Agreement, the approval of 
both Acquirer's board of directors (or applicable committee) and the investment 
banking firms that managed Acquirer's initial public offering of the 
Contemplated Transactions (unless the board or applicable committee has given 
its approval and Acquirer has waived the approval of the investment banking 
firms), or 
 
(h) at any time by an agreement in writing signed by Buyer and the Sellers' 
Representative. 
 
Section 10.2......Effect of Termination. Each party's rights to terminate this 
Agreement under Section 10.1 supplement its other rights under this Agreement 
and under applicable law; exercise of the termination right does not constitute 
the party's election of a remedy. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to 
Section 10.1, such termination shall be without liability of any party, or any 
shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, employee, agent, consultant or 
representative of such party, to any other parties to this Agreement and other 
than Sections 6.5, 6.18 and 11.2 which shall survive termination, all further 
obligations of the parties will terminate; provided, however, that any such 
termination will not affect the liability of a party for Damages as a result of 
that party's breach of this Agreement. 
 
Section 10.3......Alternative Dispute Resolution. In the event of any 
controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any breach thereof, 
the parties shall first use their diligent and good faith efforts to resolve the 
dispute by exchanging relevant information and negotiating in good faith. If 
such dispute resolution efforts are unsuccessful, the parties to this Agreement 
agree to participate in non-binding mediation. The Sellers' Representative or 
Buyer may, by written notice to the other parties, require that the parties 
participate in non-binding mediation to attempt to resolve such dispute. Such 
mediation shall be conducted in San Diego, California and administered by a 
mediator mutually acceptable to Buyer and Sellers' Representative, but absent 
their mutual agreement, by a mediator selected by the San Diego, California 
office of the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial Mediation 
Rules. Each party shall bear its own costs of mediation and shall share equally 
the costs of the mediator. If the mediation is unsuccessful after (30) days, the 
dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in San Diego, California in 
accordance with the rules of the Uniform Arbitration Act. Such arbitration shall 
be initiated by any party by notifying the other parties in writing and 
requesting a panel of three (3) arbitrators from the American Arbitration 



Association. The party requesting the arbitration shall promptly notify the 
arbitrators in writing of their selection, who shall then hold a hearings(s) 
within sixty (60) days of the arbitrators receipt of the notice. Reasonable 
discovery, including depositions, shall be permitted. Discovery issues shall be 
decided by the arbitrators. Post-hearing briefs shall be permitted. The 
arbitrators shall render a decision within twenty (20) days after the conclusion 
of the hearing(s). Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be 
entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. All arbitration fees for such 
arbitrators will be divided equally between the parties. During any dispute 
under this Agreement, the parties shall continue to fulfill their respective 
obligations under this Agreement, unless the subject matter of the dispute is of 
such a nature that this is by no means possible until the dispute has been fully 
settled. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge and agree that 
neither party shall be bound by the terms of this Section 10.3 if such party 
seeks any relief against any other party pursuant to Sections 2.2(d) or 6.5. 
 
ARTICLE XI........ 
                                  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 11.1......Survival. Buyer, each Company, and each Seller acknowledges 
and agrees that those sections of this Agreement which by their terms must 
survive the Closing and the completion of the Contemplated Transactions shall 
survive the Closing and consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. All 
representations, warranties, covenants and obligations in this Agreement, the 
Schedules and any other certificate or document delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement shall survive the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, 
subject to the limitations set forth in Article IX. The right to 
indemnification, reimbursement or other remedy based upon such representations, 
warranties, covenants and obligations shall not be affected by any investigation 
including any environmental investigation or assessment conducted with respect 
to, or any knowledge acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time, 
whether before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the 
Closing Date, with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with 
any such representation, warranty, covenant or obligation. The waiver of any 
condition based on the accuracy of any representation or warranty, or on the 
performance of or compliance with any covenant or obligation, will not affect 
the right to indemnification, payment of Damages, or the remedy based on those 
representations, warranties, covenants, and obligations. 
 
Section 11.2......Costs and Expenses. Subject to Section 6.18 and the provisions 
provided below, Buyer, each Company and Sellers shall each bear its own costs 
and expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred or to be incurred in 
connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement and the 
Purchase Documents, and in carrying out the Contemplated Transactions. Buyer 
shall be responsible for the filing fees incurred in connection with any filings 
required by the HSR Act. In addition, upon consummation of the Contemplated 
Transactions (and only if these transactions are consummated) Buyer shall (a) 
pay all sales, use, stamp, transfer, service, recording, real estate and like 
Taxes, and fees imposed by a Governmental Authority, which may be payable in 
connection with the Contemplated Transactions, and (b) pay one-half of the 
reasonable attorneys' fees of the law firm Luce, Forward, Hamilton & Scripps 
LLP, incurred by the Majority Shareholder in connection such firm's 
representation of Sellers in the review, negotiation, execution and consummation 
of this Agreement and responses to Buyer's due diligence requests; provided, 
however, that in no event will Buyer be required to pay for attorneys' fees 
related to representation that would (or reasonably should) have been taken by 
Sellers or the Companies regardless of whether the Contemplated Transactions 
were being pursued, and provided, further, that Buyer's obligation to pay such 
attorneys' fees shall be contingent on Sellers' Representative providing to 
Buyer reasonably detailed invoices for such representation and evidence 
reasonably satisfactory to Buyer that Sellers have made payment of their 
respective portion of such fees. 
 
Section 11.3......Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement and the Purchase 
Documents contain the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the 
Contemplated Transactions and supersede any and all prior agreements, 
arrangements and understandings among the parties relating to the subject matter 
hereof, including the letter of interest dated June 28, 2002, from Asbury 
Automotive Group, Inc. to Bob Baker Enterprises, Inc. No representation, 
warranty, inducement, agreement, promise or understanding which alters, 
modifies, limits or adds to the terms or conditions of this Agreement or the 
Purchase Documents shall have any force or effect unless the same is in writing 
and executed by Buyer, the Companies and Sellers' Representative. This Agreement 
may only be amended by a writing signed by Buyer and the Companies and Sellers' 
Representative. 
 
Section 11.4......Assignment; Joinder. 
 
(a) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon and 
enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted 
assigns. Sellers shall not assign their rights or obligations under this 
Agreement in whole or in part without the prior written consent of Buyer, which 
consent shall be in the Buyer's sole discretion. Buyer may, without the consent 
of Sellers, assign their respective rights and obligations under this Agreement 
in whole or in part to any one or more of their respective Affiliates or any 
entity that acquires a substantial part of either of their assets or any 
successor by merger, consolidation or corporate restructuring; provided, 
however, that if Buyer is some Person other than Acquirer, Acquirer shall 
continue to be obligated under this Agreement as set forth in Section 6.21. 
 
(b) Robert H. Baker and Sherrill J. Baker (with respect to The Robert H. Baker & 



Sherrill Baker Trust), William H. Kornik and Sue A. Mark-Kornik (with respect to 
the Kornik Family Trust), and Daniel G. Giordano and Kathleen A. Giordano (with 
respect to the Daniel G. Giordano and Kathleen A. Giordano Family Trust) join 
into and agree to become bound by this Agreement for purposes of personally 
guaranteeing, in each of their individual capacities, the obligations and 
performance of his or her respective trust under this Agreement and the Purchase 
Documents, and providing the release contemplated in Section 6.9. For purposes 
of this Agreement, "Trust Liability" means all liabilities, obligations, 
covenants and indebtedness under this Agreement and the Purchase Documents of a 
Seller that is a trust, now or later owing to a party to this Agreement or the 
Purchase Documents, however and whenever incurred or evidenced, whether due or 
to become due. Each Seller Trustee hereby unconditionally and irrevocably 
guarantees full, complete, and punctual payment and performance of all current 
and future Trust Liability of his or her respective trust when and as such Trust 
Liability becomes due and payable. The obligation of each Seller Trustee: (i) is 
a present, absolute, continuing, and unconditional guaranty of payment and 
performance (and not of collection) and is not conditioned or contingent on any 
attempt by any other party to collect from any other Person; (ii) is not subject 
to any setoff, defense, deduction, or counterclaim based on any claim that 
Seller Trustee may have against another party; and (iii) will not be affected, 
released, diminished, or discharged in any manner by any change or indulgence 
(including a gratuitous indulgence not effected by legal modification) made or 
granted by any other party with respect to such Trust Liability. 
 
Section 11.5......Notices. All notices, requests, demands, waivers, consents, 
approvals, payments or other communications which are required or permitted 
hereunder shall be in writing and be deemed delivered (a) upon receipt, if by 
hand delivery, (b) upon transmission, if sent by facsimile during normal 
business hours in the time zone in which the transmission is received, with 
confirmation of receipt, (c) the next day, if sent by a reputable overnight mail 
courier service such as FedEx, or (d) on the fifth (5th) day following deposit 
in the United States mail, certified, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 
addressed as follows: 
 
   If to Buyer:              Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. 
                             Three Landmark Square, Suite 500 
                             Stamford, CT  06901 
   Attention:                CEO 
   Facsimile:                (203) 356-4450 
                                           - 
 
   With copies to:           Asbury Automotive Group, Inc. 
                             Three Landmark Square, Suite 500 
                             Stamford, CT  06901 
   Attention:                Corporate Counsel and Director of Corporate 
                                Development 
   Facsimile:                (203) 356-4450 
 
   And:                      Hill, Ward & Henderson, P.A. 
                             101 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 3700 
                             Tampa, FL  33602 
   Attention:                R. James Robbins, Jr., Esquire 
   Facsimile:                (813) 221-2900 
 
   If to the Sellers' 
   Representative:           Robert H. Baker 
                             591 Camino de La Reina 
                             Suite 1100 
                             San Diego, California 92108 
   Facsimile:                (619) 299-1049 
 
   With copies:              Robert H. Baker 
                             P.O. Box 2129 
                             Rancho Santa Fe, California 92067 
 
   With copies to:           Luce, Forward, Hamilton & Scripps LLP 
                             11988 El Camino Real, Suite 200 
                             San Diego, CA  92130 
   Attention:                Robert G. Copeland, Esquire 
   Facsimile:                (858) 523-4311 
 
Any party may change its address for receiving notice by giving notice of such 
new address in the manner provided herein. 
 
Section 11.6 Indulgences, etc. Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of 
either party to exercise any right, remedy, power or privilege under this 
Agreement or any of the Purchase Documents shall operate as a waiver thereof, 
nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or 
privilege, nor shall any waiver of any right, remedy, power or privilege with 
respect to any occurrence be construed as a waiver of such right, remedy, power 
or privilege with respect to any other occurrence. 
 
Section 11.7 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts (whether facsimile or original), each of which shall be 
deemed to be an original as against any party whose signature appears thereon, 
and all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
Section 11.8 Provisions Several. The provisions of this Agreement are 
independent of and several from each other, and no provision shall be affected 
or rendered invalid or unenforceable by virtue of the fact that for any reason 
any other or others of them may be invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part. 



 
Section 11.9 Headings. The paragraph headings in this Agreement are for 
convenience only, they form no part of this Agreement and shall not affect its 
interpretation. 
 
Section 11.10 Gender, etc. Words used herein regardless of the number and gender 
specifically used shall be deemed and construed to include any other number, 
singular or plural, and any other gender, masculine, feminine or neuter, as the 
context requires. 
 
Section 11.11 Governing Law. All questions relating to the validity, 
construction and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard 
to the choice-of-law rules of this or any other jurisdiction and without the aid 
of any rule or custom requiring construction against the draftsman. 
 
Section 11.12 Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in 
this Agreement shall have the meaning set forth below: 
 
     "Acquirer"  has the  meaning  set forth in the first  paragraph.  "Acquirer 
Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2. "Acquirer Stock Price" has the 
meaning set forth in Section 1.2(b).  "Actual Net Book Value  Shortfall" has the 
meaning set forth in Section 2.2(e).  "Actual Working Capital Shortfall" has the 
meaning set forth in Section 2.2(e).  "Adjustment  Certificate"  has the meaning 
set forth in Section 2.2(b). "Affiliate" of a Person or entity means a Person or 
entity  that,  directly  or  indirectly,  through  one or  more  intermediaries, 
controls,  is controlled by or is under control with the first Person or entity. 
For a Seller that is a trust,  "Affiliate" shall also mean the respective Seller 
Trustees of that  trust.  "Control"  (including  the terms  "controlled  by" and 
"under common control with") means the  possession,  directly or indirectly,  of 
the power to direct or cause the  direction of the  management  or policies of a 
Person or  entity,  whether  through  the  ownership  of voting  securities,  by 
contract,  as trustee or  executor,  or  otherwise.  "Affiliate  Leases" has the 
meaning set forth in Section 7.9.  "Agreement"  has the meaning set forth in the 
first paragraph.  "Applicable Laws" means all federal,  state,  local or foreign 
statutes,  codes,  laws,  rules,  regulations,   ordinances  or  orders  of  any 
Governmental  Authority  (including,  without  limitation,  all applicable laws, 
building codes,  common law, zoning codes,  Environmental  Laws, employee safety 
laws and other statutes, judgments,  injunctions,  orders, decisions, decrees or 
consents of or agreements  with any  Governmental  Authority)  applicable to the 
Sellers,  the Company or the Business.  "Applicable  Percentage"  means (a) each 
Seller's percentage share of the Escrow Amount, and (b) each Seller's percentage 
share of the  indemnification  obligations of Sellers  payable by offset against 
the  Escrow  Amount,  all as set  forth  on  Schedule  11.12.  "Business"  means 
collectively  all of the franchise  automobile or truck  dealerships,  including 
without  limitation,  the  Dealerships,  used  automobile or truck  dealerships, 
vehicle  maintenance and repair services,  replacement part and accessory sales, 
extended warranty sales, vehicle financing, receivables management, collections, 
insurance,   automobile  dealer  management  and  services  (including,  without 
limitation,   advisory,   training,   recruiting,   payroll,   computer  systems 
maintenance  and  management  services) and such other  business and  activities 
(collectively,  "Operations")  as are  conducted by the  Companies now or at any 
time through the Closing Date. With respect to any one Company, "Business" means 
the Operations  conducted by such Company now or at anytime  through the Closing 
Date.  "Buyer"  has the meaning set forth in Section  1.1.  "Buyer's  Disclosure 
Letter" means the  disclosure  letter  delivered by Buyer within the time period 
contemplated  in Section 6.7 that  accompanies  this  Agreement and provides the 
Schedules  contemplated  in Article V. "Buyer  Indemnitees"  has the meaning set 
forth in Section 9.2. "Buyer's Supplemental  Disclosure Letter" is any update or 
supplement  to Buyer's  Disclosure  Letter that is provided  pursuant to Section 
6.8.  "Ceiling  Stock  Price"  means the Acquirer  Stock  Price,  multiplied  by 
[Redacted] ------------------- "Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3. 
"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.  "Closing Balance Sheet" has 
the  meaning  set forth in Section  2.2(b).  "Closing  Date" has the meaning set 
forth in Section  3.1.  "Closing  Net Book  Value" has the  meaning set forth in 
Section 2.2(b).  "Closing  Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a). 
"Closing  Stock  Price" means the closing per share price of  Acquirer's  common 
stock as of the business day  immediately  preceding the Closing Date.  "Closing 
Working  Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).  "Code" means the 
United  States  Internal  Revenue  Code  of  1986,  as  amended.   "Company"  or 
"Companies" shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph. "Contracts" 
means all floor plan and other financing agreements, franchise agreements, sales 
and service and other  agreements with the  Manufacturers  and other  contracts, 
documents,  instruments,  licenses,  leases, commitments and agreements to which 
any  Company  is a party or by which any  Company  or any  Dealership  is bound. 
"Contemplated  Transactions" means all of the transactions  contemplated by this 
Agreement,  including without limitation the sale of the Shares, the performance 
by each party of its respective  covenants and obligations under this Agreement, 
the  execution,  delivery and  performance  of the Purchase  Documents,  and the 
consummation  of the  transactions  contemplated by those  documents.  "Damages" 
means any claim, liability,  deficiency,  obligation,  loss, damage, assessment, 
judgment,  cost or expense of any kind or character,  including  incidental  and 
consequential  damages,  costs of  investigation  and  defense,  and  reasonable 
attorneys' fees, whenever incurred. "Dealerships" means collectively, all of the 
franchise automobile or truck dealerships listed on Schedule 4.4 operated by the 
Companies,  and a "Dealership" is any one of these dealerships.  "Demo" means an 
undamaged  demonstrator vehicle that has not been previously titled, is either a 
2002 or 2003 model year  vehicle,  and has been utilized for more than 500 miles 
but less than 5,000 miles as of the Closing  Date.  "Easements"  has the meaning 
set forth in Section  4.15(d).  "EBITDA"  means earnings  before  non-floor plan 
interest  expense and income,  income taxes and  depreciation  and  amortization 



expense,  net of the  addbacks  (set  forth on  Schedule  11.12 of the  Sellers' 
Disclosure  Letter) of the Company or the  Companies  for the period  which such 
earnings are being  calculated.  "Employee  Benefit  Plan" or "Employee  Benefit 
Plans"  have the  meanings  set forth in Section  4.14(a).  "Employees"  has the 
meaning set forth in Section 4.13. "Engineering Audit" has the meaning set forth 
in Section  6.16.  "Environmental  Audit" has the  meaning  set forth in Section 
6.18.  "Environmental Laws" means all present Applicable Laws that relate to the 
protection of the environment, natural resources, or to any emission, discharge, 
generation,   processing,   storage,  holding,  abatement,  existence,  Release, 
threatened Release, or transportation of Hazardous Materials, including, without 
limitation,  all requirements  pertaining to reporting,  licensing,  permitting, 
investigation  or  remediation of emissions,  discharges,  Release or threatened 
Release of Hazardous  Materials into the air,  surface water,  ground water,  or 
land,  or relating to the  manufacture,  processing,  distribution,  use,  sale, 
treatment,  receipt,  storage,  disposal,  transport  or handling  of  Hazardous 
Materials.   "Environmental  Laws"  shall  include,   without  limitation,   the 
Comprehensive  Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 
U.S.C.  Section 9601, et seq.; the Superfund  Amendments and Reauthorization Act 
of 1986,  Title III, 42 U.S.C.  Section  11001,  et seq.;  the Clean Air Act, 42 
U.S.C.  Section 7401 et seq.;  the Safe  Drinking  Water Act, 42 U.S.C.  Section 
300(f), et seq.; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, 42 U.S.C.  Section 6901, et seq.; 
the Hazardous Materials  Transportation Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. Section 1801, 
et seq.;  the  Resource  Conservation  and Recovery  Act, as amended,  42 U.S.C. 
Section 6901, et seq; the Federal Water  Pollution  Control Act, as amended,  33 
U.S.C.  Section  1251,  et seq.;  the Toxic  Substances  Control Act of 1976, 15 
U.S.C.  Section  2601,  et seq.  "ERISA"  means the Employee  Retirement  Income 
Security Act of 1974, as amended. "ERISA Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in 
Section 4.14(a). "Escrow Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c). 
"Escrow Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).  "Escrowed Acquirer 
Shares"  has the meaning set forth in Section  1.2(c).  "Escrowed  Cash" has the 
meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c). "Estimated Cash Deficiency" has the meaning 
set forth in Section  2.2(a)(i).  "Estimated Net Book Value" has the meaning set 
forth in Section  2.2(a).  "Estimated Net Book Value  Shortfall" has the meaning 
set forth in Section  2.2(a)(iii).  "Estimated  Working Capital" has the meaning 
set forth in Section  2.2(a).  "Estimated  Working  Capital  Shortfall"  has the 
meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)(ii). "Exchange Act" means the Securities and 
Exchange  Act of 1934,  as amended.  "FIFO" has the meaning set forth in Section 
2.2(c)(ii).  "Floor Stock Price" means the Acquirer  Stock Price  multiplied  by 
[Redacted]. "FTC" means the Federal Trade Commission. "Financial Statements" has 
the meaning set forth in Section 4.8(b).  "GAAP" means U.S.  Generally  Accepted 
Accounting Principles.  ---- "Governmental  Authority" means any federal, state, 
local or foreign entity exercising executive, legislative,  judicial, regulatory 
or administrative  functions,  including,  without limitation,  any governmental 
authority,  agency,  department,  board,  commission or  instrumentality  of the 
United  States,  any State of the United  States,  or any political  subdivision 
thereof,  any tribunal or arbitration  body of competent  jurisdiction,  and any 
self-regulatory organization. 
 
     "HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino  Anti-Trust Improvements Act of 1976, 
as amended. 
 
     "Hazardous Materials" means any substance that (a) is or contains asbestos, 
urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyl ("PCB's"), petroleum 
or petroleum-derived  substances or wastes, radon gas or related materials,  (b) 
requires investigation,  removal or remediation under any Environmental Laws, or 
is  defined  as  or  included  in  the  definition  of  "hazardous  substances," 
"hazardous  wastes,"  "hazardous   materials",   "extremely  hazardous  wastes", 
"restricted   hazardous  wastes",   "toxic   substances",   "toxic  pollutants", 
"contaminants"  or  "pollutants",   or  words  of  similar  import,   under  any 
Environmental  Laws,  including,  without  limitation,  petroleum  products  and 
materials,  or  (c)  is  toxic,  explosive,  corrosive,  flammable,  infectious, 
radioactive, carcinogenic, mutagenic, or otherwise hazardous and is regulated by 
Environmental Laws. 
 
     "Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3. 
 
     "Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3. 
 
     "Independent Accountant" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d). 
 
     "IRS" means the Internal Revenue Service. 
 
     "Intellectual Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.18. 
 
     "Known Environmental Condition" has the meaning set forth in Section 
6.18. 
 
     "Leased Personal Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.16(a). 
 
     "Leased Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a). 
 
     "Liens" means debts, claims, security interests, pledges, rights of 
others, liens, encumbrances, pledges, assessments, restrictions and charges of 
every nature. 
 
     "LIFO  Recapture  Liabilities"  means the LIFO  recapture  Tax liability or 
obligation of the Companies determined under Section 1363(d) of the Code and any 
comparable  provision  under  state,  local or foreign Tax law in the  aggregate 
amount  of  $3,188,848,  payable  in four  (4)  annual  installments,  plus  any 
applicable  penalties and interest,  that the Companies are required to pay as a 
result of including the LIFO recapture amount (as defined in Section  1363(d)(3) 



of the Code) in gross income for the taxable year in which each Company  elected 
to be treated as an "S"  corporation  for federal  income tax purposes and under 
the income Tax laws of each state in which each Company does business. 
 
     "Lower Threshold" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)(ii). 
 
     "Majority  Shareholder"  means  Robert H. Baker and  Sherrill J. Baker,  as 
co-trustees of The Robert H. Baker and Sherrill J. Baker Trust. 
 
     "Manufacturers" means General Motors Corporation (Chevrolet Division), Ford 
Motor Company,  -------------  DaimlerChrysler  Corporation,  Subaru of America, 
Inc.,  Volkswagen of America,  Inc.,  Mitsubishi Motors Sales of America,  Inc., 
Toyota Motor Sales,  U.S.A.,  Inc. and Toyota Motor Sales,  U.S.A.,  Inc. (Lexus 
Division). 
 
     "Material Adverse Effect" means (i) any change or effect that is materially 
adverse  to  any of  the  Shares,  or to the  business,  assets,  operations  or 
financial condition of any Company or the Business, respectively, other than any 
effect relating to (A) the United States or global economy or securities markets 
in general,  (B) the announcement or market rumors  surrounding the announcement 
of this  Agreement  or the  transactions  contemplated  hereby,  (C)  changes in 
applicable law or regulations  or in GAAP or regulatory  accounting  principles, 
(D)  general  changes  in the  automotive  business,  or (E)  any  act of war or 
terrorist attack,  provided,  that with respect to each of clauses (A), (C), (D) 
and (E) that such effect is not more  adverse with respect to any of the Shares, 
any Company, or the Business than the effect on comparable businesses generally, 
and (ii) any effect beyond the control of the parties that  materially  impairs, 
materially delays or prevents  consummation of the transactions  contemplated in 
this Agreement. 
 
     "Material  Due Diligence  Adjustment"  has the meaning set forth in Section 
7.5. "New Vehicle" means the following:  (A) a vehicle owned by a Company on the 
Closing Date that has not been previously  titled,  and is either a 2002 or 2003 
model year vehicle,  or (B) a Demo.  "New Vehicle" shall not include any damaged 
vehicle  described  in clause  (A) or (B) of the  preceding  sentence.  "Non-OEM 
Parts" has the meaning set forth in the  definition  of "Parts and  Accessories" 
below.  "Operations"  has the meaning set forth in the  definition of "Business" 
above.  "Owned Real  Property"  has the  meaning  set forth in Section  4.15(a). 
"Owned Personal  Property" shall have the meaning set forth in Section  4.16(a). 
"Parts and  Accessories"  means all parts and accessories  owned by a Company at 
the Closing that are undamaged  parts which are either (A) listed in the current 
price book for parts used in the vehicles sold by such Company,  and eligible to 
be  returned  to the  factory or  distributor  from  which they were  originally 
purchased  or (B)  other  parts,  supplies  or  accessories  used or sold in the 
ordinary  course of business of such (the  "Non-OEM  Parts").  "Permits" has the 
meaning set forth in Section  4.10.  "Person"  means any natural  person,  firm, 
partnership,  association,  corporation,  company,  limited  liability  company, 
trust, business trust,  Governmental  Authority or other entity (whether foreign 
or  domestic).   "Purchase   Documents"  means  all  agreements,   documents  or 
instruments  to be executed or delivered  in  connection  with the  Contemplated 
Transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement,   other  than  this  Agreement. 
"Purchase  Price" has the  meaning  set forth in  Section  1.2.  "Related  Party 
Agreements"  has the meaning set forth in Section  4.25(c).  "Release" means any 
releasing,  disposing,  discharging,  injecting,  spilling,  leaking,  leaching, 
pumping, dumping, emitting,  escaping,  emptying, seeping, dispersal,  leeching, 
migration,  transporting,  placing and the like, including,  without limitation, 
the moving of any  materials  through,  into or upon,  any land,  soil,  surface 
water,  ground  water  or air,  or  otherwise  entering  into  the  environment. 
"Released  Claims"  has the  meaning  set  forth in  Section  6.9(a).  "Released 
Parties"  has the meaning  set forth in Section  6.9(a).  "Remediation"  has the 
meaning set forth in Section 6.18.  "Representatives"  has the meaning set forth 
in Section  6.1.  "Retention  Bonus" has the meaning set forth in Section  6.15. 
"Retention Threshold" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.15. "Returns" means 
any return,  report,  declaration,  form, claim for refund,  information return, 
statement, or other documentation  (including in all instances any additional or 
supporting  material and any amendments or supplements) filed or maintained,  or 
required to be filed or  maintained,  with respect to or in connection  with the 
calculation,  determination,  assessment,  or  collection  of  any  Taxes.  "SEC 
Reports" means those filings of reports,  schedules, forms, statements and other 
documents  made by Buyer with the SEC since  March 13,  2002.  "Securities  Act" 
means the  Securities  Act of 1933,  as amended.  "Seller" or "Sellers"  has the 
meaning set forth in the first paragraph. "Sellers' Auditor" has the meaning set 
forth in Section 6.14.  "Sellers' Disclosure Letter" means the disclosure letter 
delivered  by Sellers'  Representative  within the time period  contemplated  in 
Section 6.7 that  accompanies  this  Agreement and provides the Exhibits and the 
Schedules  contemplated in Section 1.2(b), Section 11.12 and Article IV. "Seller 
Indemnitees" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1. "Sellers' Representative" 
means Robert H. Baker,  and any successor  appointed in accordance  with Section 
2.3.  "Sellers'  Supplemental  Disclosure Letter" is any update or supplement to 
the Sellers'  Disclosure Letter that is provided pursuant to Section 6.1 or 6.8. 
"Seller Trustees" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.  "Settlement 
Costs" has the meaning set forth in Section  9.3.  "Shares"  has the meaning set 
forth in the Background section of this Agreement. "Stock Consideration" has the 
meaning  set forth in Section  1.2(b).  "Systems"  has the  meaning set forth in 
Section  4.15(c).  "Target  Calculations"  has the  meaning set forth in Section 
2.2(c).  "Target Net Book Value" means [Redacted].  "Target Working Capital" has 
the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)(ii).  "Tax" or "Taxes" means (i) any and 
all taxes, fees, levies, duties, tariffs, imposts, and other charges of any kind 
(whether or not imposed on any Company),  imposed by any Governmental  Authority 
or taxing authority,  including without  limitation,  taxes or other charges on, 
measured by, or with respect to income,  franchise,  windfall or other  profits, 



gross receipts, property, sales, use, capital stock, payroll, employment, social 
security,  workers' compensation,  unemployment compensation or net worth; taxes 
or other  charges in the  nature of  excise,  withholding,  ad  valorem,  stamp, 
transfer,  value-added or gains taxes;  license,  registration and documentation 
fees; and custom's duties,  tariffs and similar charges;  (ii) any liability for 
the payment of any amounts of the type  described  in (i) as a result of being a 
member of an affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary group for any taxable 
period; (iii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described 
in (i) as a result of being a person  required  by law to  withhold  or  collect 
taxes imposed on another  person;  (iv) any liability for the payment of amounts 
of the type  described  in (i),  (ii) or (iii) as a result of being a transferee 
of, or a successor  in  interest  to, any Person or as a result of an express or 
implied  obligation  to  indemnify  any  Person;  and (v) any and all  interest, 
penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed in connection with or 
with  respect  to any  amounts  described  in (i),  (ii),  (iii) or  (iv).  "Tax 
Indemnification  Period" means the period  (including  all prior taxable  years) 
ending on the day before the Closing  Date.  For any taxable year of any Company 
that does not end on,  and would  otherwise  extend  beyond,  the day before the 
Closing Date, there shall be a deemed short taxable year ending on and including 
the day before the Closing Date and a second deemed short taxable year beginning 
on and  including  the Closing Date.  The  allocation  of income and  deductions 
between the deemed short  taxable years shall be based on a closing of the books 
as of the end of the  day  before  the  Closing  Date.  "Tax  Warranty"  means a 
representation or warranty in Section 4.14, 4.20 or 4.26(o). "Title Company" has 
the meaning set forth in Section  7.10.  "Trust  Liability"  has the meaning set 
forth in  Section  11.4.  "Tuck-In  Acquisition"  has the  meaning  set forth in 
Section  9.6(c).  "Used  Vehicles" means all vehicles owned by any Company which 
are  not  New  Vehicles.  "Working  Capital"  means  for  the  Companies,  on  a 
consolidated  basis,  current assets minus current  liabilities  determined on a 
GAAP basis (and those practices set forth on Schedule  2.2(c)).  For purposes of 
determining  Working  Capital any assets  relating to a Related Party  Agreement 
shall be  excluded.  "Year-End  Balance  Sheets"  has the  meaning  set forth in 
Section  4.8(a).  "Year-End  Income  Statements"  has the  meaning  set forth in 
Section 4.8(a). 
                      [SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE NEXT PAGE] 
 
 



 
 
 
The parties have executed and delivered this Agreement on the date first above 
written. 
 
ACQUIRER: 
 
ASBURY AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC. 
 
By: 
   -------------------------------------------------- 
Name: 
     ------------------------------------------------ 
Title: 
      ----------------------------------------------- 
 
 
 
COMPANIES: 
 
                                                             
BOB BAKER ENTERPRISES, INC.                                   UNIVERSITY FORD, INC. 
 
By:                                                           By: 
   --------------------------------------------------            -------------------------------------------------- 
Name:                                                         Name: 
     ------------------------------------------------              ------------------------------------------------ 
Title:                                                        Title: 
      -----------------------------------------------               ----------------------------------------------- 
 
 
ALL AMERICAN CHEVROLET, INC.                EL CAJON LUXURY CARS, INC. 
 
By:                                                           By: 
   --------------------------------------------------            -------------------------------------------------- 
Name:                                                         Name: 
     ------------------------------------------------              ------------------------------------------------ 
Title:                                                        Title: 
      -----------------------------------------------               ----------------------------------------------- 
 
 
BOB BAKER AUTOMOTIVE, INC.          BOB BAKER IMPORTS, INC. 
 
By:                                                           By: 
   --------------------------------------------------            -------------------------------------------------- 
Name:                                                         Name: 
     ------------------------------------------------              ------------------------------------------------ 
Title:                                                        Title: 
      -----------------------------------------------               ----------------------------------------------- 
 
 
BOB BAKER VOLKSWAGEN, INC. 
 
By: 
   -------------------------------------------------- 
Name: 
     ------------------------------------------------ 
Title: 
      ----------------------------------------------- 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
SELLERS: 
 
 
- ----------------------------------          ---------------------------------- 
Robert H. Baker                             Loren Campbell 
 
   and 
                                            ---------------------------------- 
                                            David Ezratty 
- ------------------------------------- 
Sherrill J. Baker, as Trustees of 
The Robert H. Baker and 
Sherrill J. Baker Trust 
dated September 27, 1991 (as amended) 
                                           ---------------------------------- 
                                           William H. Kornik 
- ---------------------------------- 
Michael V. Baker                           and 
 
                                          ---------------------------------- 
                                           Sue A. Mark-Kornik, as Trustees of 
- ------------------------------------       the Kornik Family Trust dated 
Christopher Baker                          December 6, 1996 (as amended) 
 
 ----------------------------------       ---------------------------------- 
Elizabeth Baker Treloar                   Daniel G. Giordano 
 
                                          and 
- ---------------------------------- 
Mary Baker Ross 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                          Kathleen A. Giordano, as Trustees of 
                                          the Daniel G. Giordano and Kathleen A. 
                                          Giordano Family Trust 
- ----------------------------------        dated March 30, 1998 (as amended) 
Thomas Solomon 
 
 
- ---------------------------------- 
Theresa Baker Hertel 
 
 
SELLERS' REPRESENTATIVE: 
 
 
- ---------------------------------- 
Robert H. Baker, individually 
 
 



 
 
 
                                     JOINDER 
 
 
 
     The Agreement is joined into by the  following  Seller  Trustees,  in their 
individual  capacity,  for the purposes set forth in the Agreement as it relates 
to each of their respective trust. 
 
 
 
 
- ----------------------------------          ---------------------------------- 
Robert H. Baker                             Daniel G. Giordano 
 
- ----------------------------------          ---------------------------------- 
Sherrill J. Baker                           Kathleen A. Giordano 
 
                                            ---------------------------------- 
                                            William H. Kornik 
 
                                            ---------------------------------- 
                                            Sue A. Mark-Kornik 
 
 




